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CORPORATE PROFILE

Intertape Polymer Group Inc. (IPG) is an acknowledged leader in the packaging industry.  Leveraging its advanced
manufacturing technolgies, extensive research and development capabilities and a comprehensive strategic acquisition
program, the company believes it is assembled the broadest and deepest range of products in the industry.

IPG is widely rcognized for its development and manufacture of specialized polyolefin, plastic and paper-based
packaging products, as well as complementary packaging systems for industrial and retail use.  Additionally, IPG is a
woven and flexible intermediate bulk container (FIBC) manfacturer.  Its performance products, icnluding tapes and
cloths, are designed for demanding aerospace, automotive and industrial applications and are sold to  a broad range of
industrial/specialty distributors, retail stores and large end-users in diverse industries.

Established in 1981 with headquarters in Montreal, Quebec and Saraota/Bradenton, Florida, IPG employs
approximately 2,100 employees with operations in 17 locations, including 13 manufacturing facilities in North
America and one in Europe.

Intertape Polymer Group Inc. Is a publicly traded company with its common shares listed on the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE) and the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSE) under the stock symbol �ITP�.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements and information included in this Management�s Discussion & Analysis constitute forward-looking
information within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities legislation and the United States Federal Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

Forward-looking statements may relate to the Company�s future outlook and anticipated events, the Company�s
business, its operations, financial condition or results.  Particularly, statements about the Company�s objectives and
strategies to achieve those objectives are forward looking statements.  While these statements are based on certain
factors and assumptions which management considers to be reasonable based on information currently available to it,
they may prove to be incorrect.  Forward-looking information involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties and
other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied in such forward-looking
statements.  The risks include, but are not limited to, the factors contained in the Company�s filings with the Canadian
securities regulators and the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (�SEC�).  While the Company may elect to, it is
under no obligation (and expressly disclaims any such obligation) and does not undertake to update or alter this
information at any particular time.  This Management�s Discussion & Analysis contains certain non-GAAP financial
measures as defined under SEC rules, including adjusted net earnings, free cash flow, EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA,
and operating profit.  The Company believes such non-GAAP financial measures improve the transparency of the
Company�s disclosures, provide a meaningful presentation of the Company�s results from its core business operations,
by excluding the impact of items not related to the Company�s ongoing core business operations, and improve the
period-to-period comparability of the Company�s results from its core business operations.  As required by SEC rules,
the Company has provided reconciliations of those measures to the most directly comparable GAAP measures.
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MESSAGE TO SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Fellow Shareholder :

The first nine months of 2008 constituted a period of remarkable renewal at Intertape. Initiatives undertaken by the
Board and management included business model revisions, capital structure improvements, new product
introductions, and aggressive cost reduction measures.  This multi-faceted program generated significant material
benefits.

In the first three quarters of the year we achieved a $14.7 million ($0.25 per share, both basic and diluted)
improvement in net earnings.  As an indication of the turnaround, during the first quarter which
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is generally our weakest, the Engineered Coated Products (�ECP�) Division almost doubled its EBITDA from the
previous year.  

The positive trend continued strongly through the second quarter, and in the third quarter we saw even more notable
improvement, particularly in the ECP Division, in terms of its sales, gross profits, and gross margins.

This solid performance came largely as a result of our realignment of our sales staff to focus  on higher margin
products and our ability to obtain better selling prices.  Adding to the accomplishment, our success came in the face of
two substantial countervailing factors, namely the slowing of the U.S. economy and the sharply increased cost of
resin-based raw materials.  During the first nine months of the year, the unprecedented rise in commodity prices as
well as higher prices for oil and natural gas significantly increased the Company�s cost of goods and energy and
transportation expenditures by several million dollars.

Another important result of our nine months of steady progress in 2008 was the complete elimination of the
uncertainty that had been caused by the proposed sale of the Company in 2007.  That page in Intertape�s history, which
had troubled our clients and employees � and which had distracted the attention of management � was fully turned.

New Credit Facility

The strengthening of Intertape�s balance sheet by way of the renegotiation of our bank loans in March of 2008 proved
particularly opportune.  The arrangement we achieved would have almost certainly been impossible to obtain later in
the year, once the financial crisis undermined the credit markets. The new facility reduced our interest costs in 2008
by over $8 million.

The successful refinancing of our Credit Facility indicated the progress we had made in improving the financial
stability of Intertape.  It reflected our strong cash flows and the confidence of our lenders in the Company�s ongoing
operations.

New Products

The year was auspicious for Intertape in regard to our introduction of several new products.  Despite the Company�s
wide-ranging cost cutting measures, additional funding was allocated to product development.  This important
commitment was made with a strong endorsement from the Board and provides an important competitive edge for
Intertape.    The new roll-outs developed by our own R&D team meet two essential criteria: rapid commercialization
and high margin return. Product additions encompassed all of our sectors, many in new markets, including the
transportation and oil and gas industries, as well as the large �white appliance� manufacturing sector.
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In August of 2008 we began manufacturing a newly developed synthetic roof underlayment membrane, Nova-Seal II.
 In September we introduced an innovative brand filament tape with the highest level of performance currently
available anywhere for its level of tensile strength.  

Also in September we launched our in-house solvent coater at the Company�s facility in Colorado.  The coater supports
the low-cost manufacture of products such as natural rubber carton sealing tape, which Intertape had been purchasing
from third party suppliers.  The coater additionally boosts our ability to rapidly and cost-effectively market our new
products.  Intertape remains the continent�s only manufacturer of all four carton sealing tape adhesive technologies,
providing a single source for world-class box closure solutions.

Importantly for our marketing thrust, we acquired exclusive North American rights to a patented fully-automated
wrapping solution, targeting industries such as wood products, where goods have traditionally been wrapped manually
due to varied size requirements. This state-of-the-art packaging
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alternative broadened our offering to the lumber industry, where we already hold a leading position.  The system�s
proprietary nature further enhanced our competitive edge.  

In November, Intertape announced plans to launch new tapes and films for the wind and solar energy markets.
  Studies indicate that the U.S. market alone for wind turbine components will reach over $60 billion by 2013.  We
have the means to bring important innovation to this rapidly evolving market.  Windmill blade manufacturing is
complex, and Intertape is unique in developing specialty tapes designed specifically for the composites industry.

In December of 2008, our iCushion™ Protective Packaging line introduced the inventive form fit protective packaging
material Flashpac™, the first of several line extensions.  This custom-fit protection is geared for a wide range of
products.

These are but a few of the new products developed in the past year and combined with others, ITP will be able to
participate in new markets totaling $1.5 to $2 billion in 2009 and onwards.

Low-Environmental Impact Line (LILI)

Among Intertape�s innovations in 2008 was our environmental stewardship program, which is committed to
eliminating waste and reducing the impact of our manufacturing process on the environment. The Company�s focus
extends to the environmental footprint of all our production and marketing. LILI increasingly involves the
development of products that will allow Intertape�s customers to also reduce their impact on the environment. The goal
is sustainability, and it is coming within reach.

Fourth Quarter Downturn

After three quarters of mounting confidence, deep cost-cutting, powerful product introductions and positive sales
momentum, Intertape had resumed its traditional track of innovation and growth.  

Then came the fourth quarter of the year.  A number of unprecedented events struck the financial system and our
Company.  The global economy went into a tailspin.  Intertape shared the experience of countless other manufacturers
adversely impacted by the recession and the severe credit crunch.

The equivalent of a �perfect storm� engulfed us during this period.  Demand dropped dramatically, and we saw a rapid
60% decrease in the prices for our resin-based products.  Then came an inventory destocking throughout the supply
chain of our specific industry. The combination of these factors in the final quarter badly hurt Intertape�s full-year 2008
results.    

Edgar Filing: INTERTAPE POLYMER GROUP INC - Form 6-K

12



In response, we took actions to stabilize our financial base.  Our extensive additional cost cutting measures, often
painful and unfortunate, included a review of all third party contracts and fees.  A number of services were brought
in-house.  Existing fee arrangements were modified.  Significant cost reductions resulted.  Our focus on cash
conservation and lean operations enabled us to weather the recessionary hurricane.

Subsequent to Year End

This year�s first quarter indicated a beginning of recovery for Intertape.  Sales of our new products began to gain
traction.  At the same time, we took considerable further costs out of our operations.  We reduced staffing and third
party expenses at an annualized amount of over $10.0 million compared to the third quarter of 2008.  Our EBITDA
rebounded to $6.7 million.  

Significant improvements in the first quarter of 2009 compared to the fourth quarter of 2008 involved the absence of
the $16.6 million in gross margin compression and the $66.7 million goodwill impairment charge that had been
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2008.
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Also during the first quarter, in a challenging economic environment, the Company was able to reduce its debt by
$15.5 million, and made progress toward achieving productivity improvements of $23.0 million on an annualized
basis.

Outlook

At the time of writing, demand continues to be weak in the uncertain economy and the outlook is unpredictable in
regard to when a turnaround will take firm hold.  Nonetheless, we are encouraged with the prospects for 2009. We are
seeing some traction in our new products, and we believe that inventory destocking in the supply chain of customers
of our Tapes & Films Division has for the most part ended. Cash management is key in the current financial
environment and Intertape is completely focused on this area.

When the construction industry again reaches normal levels of activity, we expect a revival of customary product
sales, along with increased sales of our new products.  

On behalf of management and the Board of Directors, we express gratitude to our employees for their contributions to
the Company during this difficult period.  We also thank our shareholders for their support and patience.  As we
concentrate on improving shareholder value at Intertape in the months ahead, we will report regularly on our progress.

/s/Eric Baker

/s/Melbourne F. Yull

Eric Baker

Melbourne F. Yull

Chairman

Executive Director
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March 30, 2009

This Management�s Discussion and Analysis (�MD&A�) supplements the consolidated financial statements and related
notes for the year ended December 31, 2008. Except where otherwise indicated, all financial information reflected
herein is prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (�GAAP�) and is expressed in
US dollars.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(In thousands of US dollars except per share data, selected ratios, stock and trading volume information.)

(Unaudited)

2008 2007 2006
Operations $ $ $
Consolidated sales 737,155 767,272 812,285
Net loss Cdn GAAP (92,799) (8,393) (166,693)
Net loss US GAAP (93,698) (8,393) (166,693)
Cash flows from operations before changes in non-cash
working capital items 25,131 43,205 9,366

2008 2007 2006
Per Common Share
Net loss Cdn GAAP � basic (1.57) (0.19) (4.07)
Net loss US GAAP � basic (1.59) (0.19) (4.07)
Net loss Cdn GAAP � diluted (1.57) (0.19) (4.07)
Net loss US GAAP � diluted (1.59) (0.19) (4.07)
Cash flows from operations before changes in non-cash
working capital items 0.43 0.95 0.23
Book value Cdn GAAP 3.96 6.11 6.68
Book value US GAAP 3.70 5.99 6.48

2008 2007 2006
Financial Position
Working capital 133,144 145,577 121,485
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Total assets Cdn GAAP 575,166 702,799 692,386
Total assets US GAAP 578,598 704,764 692,127
Total long-term debt Cdn GAAP 255,241 243,359 330,477
Total long-term debt US GAAP 269,080 250,180 330,477
Shareholders� equity Cdn GAAP 233,317 360,010 273,718
Shareholders� equity US GAAP 218,195  352,992 265,558
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2008 2007 2006
Selected Ratios
Working capital 2.69 2.58 2.22
Debt/capital employed Cdn GAAP 0.52 0.40 0.55
Debt/capital employed US GAAP 0.54 0.41 0.55
Return on equity Cdn GAAP na na na
Return on equity US GAAP na na na

2008 2007 2006
Stock Information
Weighted average shares outstanding (Cdn GAAP) -
basic + 58,956 45,287 40,981
Weighted average shares outstanding (US GAAP) -
 basic + 58,956 45,287 40,981
Weighted average shares outstanding (Cdn GAAP) -
diluted + 58,956 45,287 40,981
Weighted average shares outstanding (US GAAP) -
diluted + 58,956 45,287 40,981
Shares outstanding as at December 31 + 58,956 58,956 40,987

2008 2007 2006
The Toronto Stock Exchange (CA$)
Market price as at December 31 1.09 3.07 6.19
High: 52 weeks 3.59 6.40 10.44
Low: 52 weeks 0.67 2.49 4.63
Volume: 52 weeks+ 8,665 8,219 17,252

2008 2007 2006
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New York Stock Exchange
Market price as at December 31 0.73 3.14 5.28
High: 52 weeks 3.47 5.34 9.20
Low: 52 weeks 0.68 2.36 4.01
Volume: 52 weeks+ 15,870 18,737 21,860
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High Low Close ADV*
The Toronto Stock Exchange(CA$)
Q1 3.53 2.11 2.44 35,997
Q2 3.35 2.16 3.35 33,136
Q3 3.48 2.36 2.90 29,124
Q4 2.97 0.80 1.09 40,621

High Low Close ADV*
New York Stock Exchange
Q1 3.59 2.30 2.37 44,148
Q2 3.32 2.15 3.28 74,072
Q3 3.41 2.22 2.73 63,427
Q4 2.81 0.68 0.73 68,400
* Average daily volume

+In thousands
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Management�s Discussion and Analysis

CONSOLIDATED QUARTERLY STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

(In thousands of US dollars, except as otherwise noted)

(Unaudited)

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

$ $ $ $ $ $
Sales 184,501 186,835 212,108 197,534 187,109 217,687
Cost of sales 156,324 158,956 177,931 171,184 158,279 182,401
Gross Profit 28,177 27,879 34,177 26,350 28,830 35,286
Selling, general and administrative
expenses 17,629 18,321 23,250 17,196 16,676 21,525
Stock-based compensation
expense 421 454 525 329 533 590
Research and development 1,441 1,025 1,680 1,528 1,161 1,662
Financial expenses:
Interest 5,984 6,705 6,738 4,339 6,453 6,737
Other (i) (648) 3 170 (681) (98) (208)
Refinancing expense 6,031
Manufacturing facility closures,
restructuring, strategic alternatives
and other charges 2,369 17,502 4,415 32,423
Impairment of goodwill

30,858 28,877 49,865 22,711 29,140 62729
Earnings (loss) before income
taxes (2,681) (998) (15,688) 3,639 (310) (27,443)
Income taxes (recovery) (818) (428) (5,699) (999) 7,768 (9,260)
Net earnings (loss) (1,863) (570) (9,989) 4,638 (8,078) (18,183)
Earnings (loss) per share
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Cdn GAAP - Basic - US $ (0.03) (0.01) (0.24) 0.08 (0.20) (0.44)
Cdn GAAP - Diluted - US $ (0.03) (0.01) (0.24) 0.08 (0.20) (0.44)
US GAAP - Basic - US $ (0.03) (0.01) (0.24) 0.08 (0.20) (0.44)
US GAAP - Diluted - US $ (0.03) (0.01) (0.24) 0.08 (0.20) (0.44)
Weighted average number of
common shares outstanding
Cdn GAAP - Basic 58,956,348 40,986,940 40,964,630 58,956,348 40,986,940 40,985,440
Cdn GAAP - Diluted 58,956,348 40,986,940 40,964,630 58,956,348 40,986,940 40,985,440
US GAAP - Basic 58,956,348 40,986,940 40,964,630 58,956,348 40,986,940 40,985,440
US GAAP - Diluted 58,956,348 40,986,940 40,964,630 58,956,348 40,986,940 40,985,440
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Management�s Discussion and Analysis

CONSOLIDATED QUARTERLY STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

(In thousands of US dollars, except as otherwise noted)

(Unaudited)

3rd Quarter 4th  Quarter
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

$ $ $ $ $ $
Sales 201,978 201,875 195,120 153,142 191,453 187,370
Cost of Sales 172,772 170,686 169,199 158,620 163,010 164,292
Gross Profit 29,206 30,189 25,921 (5,478) 28,443 23,078
Selling, general and administrative
expenses 17,490 17,508 21,399 15,874 18,664 18,729
Stock-based compensations
expense 348 504 453 170 289 454
Research and Development 1,334 1,002 1,523 1,307 947 1,406
Financial expenses:
Interest 4,230 8,561 6,764 3,812 5,706 6,417
Other (i) 806 (316) 232 1,948 205 (234)
Manufacturing facility closures,
restructuring, strategic alternatives
and other charges 1,330 16,037 10,095
Impairment of goodwill 120,000 66,726

24,208 28,589 166,408 89,837 25,811 36,867
Earnings (loss) before income taxes 4,998 2,600 (140,487) (95,315) 2,632 (13,789)
Income taxes (recovery) 779 1,628 (17,154) 4,478 3,349 1,399
Net earnings (loss) 4,219 972 (123,333) (99,793) (717) (15,188)
Earnings (loss) per share
Cdn GAAP � Basic � S$ 0.07 0.02 (3.01) (1.69) (0.01) (0.37)
Cdn GAAP � Diluted-US$ 0.07 0.02 (3.01) (1.69) (0.01) (0.37)
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US GAAP � Basic- US$ 0.07 0.02 (3.01) (1.69) (0.01) (0.37)
US GAAP � Diluted-US$ 0.07 0.02 (3.01) (1.69) (0.01) (0.37)
Weighted average number of
common shares outstanding
Cdn GAAP � Basic 58,956,348 40,986,940 40,986,057 58,956,348 58,185,756 40,986,057
Cdn GAAP � Diluted 58,956,348 40,986,940 40,986,057 58,956,348 58,185,756 40,986,057
US GAAP � Basic 58,956,348 40,986,940 40,986,057 58,956,348 58,185,756 40,986,057
US GAAP - Diluted 58,956,348 40,986,940 40,986,057 58,956,348 58,185,756 40,986,057

(i) As explained below in the �Changes in Accounting Policies section of management�s Discussion and Analysis,
prompt pay discounts to suppliers have been reclassified from a reduction in other financial expenses to a reduction in
cost of sales.  The reclassification does not change the reported net earnings (loss) of the Company.
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Management�s Discussion and Analysis

ADJUSTED CONSOLIDATED EARNINGS

Adjustments for impairment of goodwill, impairment of property, plant and equipment, gross profit margin
compression, refinancing expense and manufacturing facility closures, restructuring, strategic alternatives and other
charges.

Years Ended December 31,

(In millions of US dollars, except per share amounts)

(Unaudited)

As Reported 2008 2007 2006
$ $ $

Sales 737.2 767.3 812.3
Cost of sales 659.0 651.0 693.8
Gross profit 78.2 116.3 118.5
Selling, general and administrative expenses 68.2 71.2 84.9
Stock-based compensation expense 1.3 1.8 2.0
Research and development 5.6 4.1 6.3
Financial expenses 25.8 27.2 26.6
Manufacturing facility closures, restructuring, strategic
alternatives and other charges 8.1 76.1
Impairment of goodwill 66.7 120.0

167.6 112.4 315.9
Earnings (loss) before income taxes (89.4) 3.9 (197.4)
Income taxes (recovery) 3.4 12.3 (30.7)
Net loss (92.8) (8.4) (166.7)

Loss per share � As Reported 2008 2007 2006
Basic (1.57) (0.19) (4.07)
Diluted (1.57) (0.19) (4.07)
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Adjustments 2008 2007 2006
Impairment of goodwill 66.7 120.0
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 0.4
Gross profit margin compression 16.6
Refinancing expense 6.0
Adjustments for Manufacturing Facility Closures,
Restructuring, Strategic Alternatives and Other
Charges 8.1 76.1
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ADJUSTED CONSOLIDATED EARNINGS

Adjustments for impairment of goodwill, impairment of property, plant and equipment, gross profit margin
compression, refinancing expense and manufacturing facility closures, restructuring, strategic alternatives and other
charges.

Years Ended December 31,

(In millions of US dollars, except per share amounts)

(Unaudited)

As Adjusted 2008 2007 2006
$ $ $

Sales 737.2 767.3 812.3
Cost of sales 642.0 651.0 693.8
Gross profit 95.2 116.3 118.5
Selling, general and administrative expenses 68.2 71.2 84.9
Stock-based compensation expense 1.3 1.8 2.0
Research and development 5.6 4.1 6.3
Financial expenses 19.8 27.2 26.6

94.9 104.3 119.8
Earnings (loss) before income taxes 0.3 12.0 (1.3)
Income taxes  3.4 14.2 5.6
Net earnings (loss) (3.1) (2.2) (6.9)
Earnings (loss) per Share - As Adjusted
Basic (0.05) (0.05) (0.17)
Diluted (0.05) (0.05) (0.17)

Note: These tables reconcile consolidated earnings (loss) as reported in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements to adjusted consolidated earnings (loss) after the elimination of impairment of goodwill, impairment of
property, plant and equipment, unprecedented gross margin compression, refinancing expense and manufacturing
facility closures, strategic alternatives and other charges. The Company has included these non-GAAP financial
measures because it believes the measures permit more meaningful comparisons of its performance between the
periods presented.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

Business Overview

Intertape Polymer Group Inc. (�IPG� or the �Company�) was founded in 1981 and is a recognized leader in the specialty
packaging industry in North America. The Company has two operating divisions, Tapes and Films (�T&F Division�)
and Engineered Coated Products (�ECP Division�).  The T&F Division develops, manufactures and sells a variety of
specialized polyolefin films, paper and film pressure sensitive tapes and complementary packaging systems for use in
industrial and retail applications. The T&F Division designs its specialty products for aerospace, automotive and
industrial applications. The T&F Division products are sold to a broad range of industrial and specialty distributors,
consumer outlets and large end-users in diverse markets. T&F Division products include carton sealing tapes,
including Intertape® pressure-sensitive and water-activated tapes; industrial and performance specialty tapes,
including masking, duct, electrical and reinforced filament tapes; ExIFilm® shrink film; and Stretchflex® stretch
wrap. The ECP Division manufactures engineered coated fabrics and flexible intermediate bulk containers (�FIBCs�).
ECP Division products are sold through a variety of industrial and specialty distributors with a focus on sales to the
construction and agricultural markets as well as the flexible packaging market.

What began as a global financial crisis in mid-September 2008 has broadened into a deep economic downturn that is
affecting many industries and businesses throughout the world including the Company and its industry.  The
Company�s fourth quarter 2008 financial results were adversely impacted by a significant decline in customer demand
and a rapid decline in the price of resin-based raw materials and other selected raw materials. As a consequence of the
collective impact of these developments, the Company recorded a $66.7 million impairment of its goodwill as of the
end of the year.  For the full year of 2008, the Company is reporting a loss of $92.8 million ($1.57 per share, both
basic and diluted) compared to net loss of $8.4 million ($0.19 per share, both basic and diluted) for 2007.  .

The Company�s financial results through the first nine months of 2008 reflected the benefits of business model
revisions, capital structure improvements, new product introductions and cost reduction measures undertaken in the
past several years. Despite the fact that the United States economy entered into recession in the fourth quarter of 2007,
profits for the first nine months of 2008 totalled $7.0 million ($0.12 per share, both basic and diluted), compared to a
loss of $7.7 million ($0.19 per share, both basic and diluted) for the first nine months of 2007.  These results were also
accomplished during a period of sharp and rapid increases in the cost of resin-based raw materials. The Company was
successful in recovering a portion of these higher raw material costs through selling price increases during this period.
In addition to the profit improvement, the Company was able to refinance its Senior Secured Credit Facility (the
�Facility�) in the first quarter of 2008, replacing it with a five-year asset-based loan (�ABL�).

The Company is reporting a $99.8 million loss ($1.69 per share, both basic and diluted) for the fourth quarter of 2008
including approximately $89.0 million of non-cash charges, compared to a loss of $0.7 million ($0.01 per share, both
basic and diluted) for the fourth quarter of 2007.  Adjusted EBITDA for the fourth quarter of 2008 was $3.1 million
compared to $18.1 million in the fourth quarter of 2007. A reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA between 2007 and
2008 is as follows:

Adjusted EBITDA Reconciliation
2007 TO 2008
(In millions of US dollars)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended

December 31,

Year Ended

December 31,
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Adjusted EBITDA for 2007  $        18.1  $        74.8

Decrease in gross profits:
Decline in sales volumes  $         (17.3)  $       (21.3)
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Gross profit margin compression $         (16.6) $       (33.9) $       (16.8) $       (38.1)

Addback gross profit margin compression in fourth
quarter

 $        16.6  $        16.6

Other items, principally lower SG&A expenses  $          2.3  $          2.2

Adjusted EBITDA for 2008  $          3.1  $        55.5

Sales declined 20.0% for the fourth quarter of 2008 compared to the fourth quarter of 2007, including a 22.4% decline
in sales volume (units).  The unit volume decline accelerated during the quarter as the holiday season approached,
resulting in the Company extending its year-end holiday shutdown into early January at many of its manufacturing
facilities.  The sales volume decline was a combination of both weaker end-user demand as well as inventory
destocking by both end-users and the Company�s distributor customer base.  The volume decline adversely impacted
the Company�s profitability in two significant respects.  The decline in sales volume resulted in lower gross profit
dollars being generated from the sale of products.  The decline in sales volume also required the Company to scale
back its production operations including the extended holiday shutdown.  The reduction in production levels resulted
in unabsorbed manufacturing overhead costs being charged directly to expense.  The lower sales volumes for the
fourth quarter of 2008 compared to the fourth quarter of 2007 depressed gross profits by approximately $17.3 million
on a year over year basis, including $11.0 million in higher unabsorbed fixed manufacturing overhead costs on a year
over year basis.

The Company is subject to normal fluctuations in its gross profit margins between periods due to the timing of raw
material cost changes and the related changes in Company selling prices.  However, the Company experienced
significant gross margin compression during the fourth quarter as rapidly falling raw material costs (resin-based raw
materials declined approximately 60.0% between October 2008 and December 2008); coupled with steady weakening
in end-user demand, put pressure on selling prices.  Because of the steep decline in end-user demand and the
destocking of inventories by the Company�s distributor customer base, the Company was unable to sell all of its higher
cost inventories into the market before the selling price declines.  As a consequence, the Company adjusted its
year-end inventory values down to net realizable value for select product lines and also recorded the expected loss on
the outstanding raw material purchase commitments that go into the production of these products.  The gross profit
decline during the fourth quarter of 2008 related to the above-described gross margin compression totalled
approximately $16.6 million when compared to the fourth quarter of 2007. Included in the gross margin compression
was a $7.7 million non-cash charge to write down inventories to net realizable value.  The Company has added this
gross margin compression back when computing adjusted EBITDA due to the unprecedented nature of the events
giving rise to the compression.  The fourth quarter 2008 gross margin compression is not indicative of the gross profit
margin fluctuations the Company normally experiences.

The Company has taken several measures in response to the challenges presented by this deep economic downturn.  In
November 2008, the Company reduced staff and eliminated many third party service providers.  These cost reduction
efforts are expected to save the Company an estimated $7.0 million a year in operating expenses.  In mid-January
2009, the Company announced a temporary compensation reduction for salaried employees totalling approximately
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$3.5 million annually.  In addition, the Company expects to continue to reduce costs throughout 2009 by
approximately $23.0 million as part of its ongoing productivity improvement programs.  Not all of the 2009
improvements are expected to contribute to an increase in the Company�s earnings.  Some of these cost savings are
necessary to offset the increased economic costs of the Company�s manufacturing operations, as well as to remain
competitive in the marketplace. The Company introduced several new products in 2008 and began pursuing new
markets as well and expects new product sales and new market penetrations to contribute significantly to the
Company�s profits in 2009. During early 2009, the Company has restructured some of its sales and marketing
organization to dedicate increased resources to these product and market initiatives. The Company has also placed
significant focus on cash management, including planned reductions to its property, plant and equipment purchases.
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Liquidity

On March 27, 2008 the Company successfully refinanced the Senior Secured Credit Facility, (�Facility�) with a $200.0
million asset based loan, (�ABL�) entered into with a syndicate of financial institutions.  The amount of borrowings
available to the Company under the ABL is determined by its applicable borrowing base from time to time.  The
borrowing base is determined by calculating a percentage of eligible trade accounts receivable, inventories and
machinery and equipment.  The ABL is priced at libor plus a loan margin determined from a pricing grid. The loan
margin declines as unused availability increases.  The pricing grid ranges from 1.50% to 2.25%. Unencumbered real
estate is subject to a negative pledge in favour of the ABL lenders.  However, the Company retains the ability to
secure financing on all or a portion of its owned real estate and have the negative pledge of the ABL lenders
subordinated to up to $35.0 million of real estate mortgage financing.  At December 31, 2008, the Company had
secured real estate mortgage financing of $1.8 million, leaving the Company the ability to obtain an additional $33.2
million of real estate mortgage financing. The Company reported a refinancing expense in the first quarter of 2008 for
approximately $6.0 million and included the accelerated amortization of the debt issue expenses on the existing debt.
 The Company also settled two interest rate swaps that the Company entered into in June and July 2005 hedging
interest rates for its Facility at a cost of $2.9 million which was also included in the refinancing expense.  

With the March 2008 refinancing of the Facility, the Company has no significant debt maturities until March 2013,
when the ABL matures.  The Company�s $125.0 million Senior Subordinated Notes mature in August 2014.

The Company relies upon the funds generated from operations and funds available to it under its ABL to meet
working capital requirements and anticipated obligations under its ABL and the Senior Subordinated Notes and to
finance capital expenditures for the foreseeable future. As at December 31, 2008, the Company had cash and unused
availability under its ABL totalling $50.7 million.  

The ABL has a financial covenant, a fixed charge ratio, the target for which is 1.0 to 1.0. The ratio compares EBITDA
(as defined in the ABL) less capital expenditures and pension plan payments in excess of pension plan expense to the
sum of debt service and the amortization of the value of equipment in the borrowing base. The financial covenant
becomes effective only when unused availability drops below $25.0 million.  While the Company did not meet the
ratio at December 31, 2008, it was not in effect as cash and unused availability was in excess of $50 million.  To date
in the first quarter of 2009, the Company has maintained availability in excess of $25.0 million despite having capital
expenditures and a semi-annual interest payment on the Senior Subordinated Notes totalling approximately $11.0
million. In addition, the Company has paid down its outstanding borrowings under the ABL by approximately $12.0
million in the first two months of 2009. It is the Company�s intention to remain above the $25.0 million threshold of
unused availability during 2009.

Outlook

The Company anticipates earning positive EBITDA in the first quarter of 2009.  The most significant improvements
expected in the first quarter of 2009 compared to the fourth quarter of 2008 are the absence of the $16.6 million in
gross margin compression and the $66.7 million goodwill impairment that were recorded in the fourth quarter of 2008.
 Higher sales volumes within the T & F Division and the benefits of the expense reduction initiatives discussed above
are also expected to contribute to a substantial sequential quarterly improvement in the EBITDA of the Company.

By the end of the first quarter of 2009, the Company will have satisfied the majority of its significant outstanding
commitments for capital projects. The Company expects to satisfy the balance in the second quarter of 2009.  Once
these outstanding commitments have been satisfied, the Company intends to limit its capital spending to only
maintenance items until the Company experiences a substantial and enduring improvement in its operating results.
The Company estimates that its maintenance capital expenditures approximate $8.0 million a year.

Results of Operations
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The following discussion and analysis of operating results includes adjusted financial results for the three years ended
December 31, 2008. A reconciliation from the operating results found in the consolidated financial statements to the
adjusted operating results discussed herein, a non-GAAP financial measure, can be found in the tables appearing on
pages 13 and 14 hereof.

Edgar Filing: INTERTAPE POLYMER GROUP INC - Form 6-K

34



Included in this MD&A are references to events and circumstances which have influenced the Company�s quarterly
operating results presented in the table of Consolidated Quarterly Statements of Earnings appearing on pages 5 and 6
hereof.  As explained in the �Changes in Accounting Policies� section of this MD&A, prompt pay discounts to suppliers
have been reclassified from a reduction in other financial expenses to a reduction in cost of sales.  The reclassification
does not change the reported net earnings (loss) of the Company.

The net loss for 2008 was $92.8 million compared to a net loss of $8.4 million for 2007.  The net loss for 2008
includes a $66.7 million impairment of goodwill and a $6.0 million refinancing expense related to the refinancing of
the Company�s Facility with the ABL. The net loss for 2007 was $8.4 million compared to a net loss for 2006 of
$166.7 million.  The net loss for 2007 includes $8.1 million of manufacturing facility closures, restructuring, strategic
alternatives and other charges, compared to similar charges in 2006 of $76.1 million. In 2008, the Company reported a
loss before income taxes of $89.4 million, $16.7 million exclusive of impairment of goodwill and refinancing
expense.  The Company�s net loss for 2007 is primarily as a result of $12.3 million of income tax expense, including
$11.4 million of non-cash deferred income tax charges.  In 2007, the Company reported $3.9 million of earnings
before income taxes, $12.0 million exclusive of manufacturing facility closures, restructuring, strategic alternatives
and other charges.  In 2006, the Company reported a loss before income taxes of $197.4 million, $1.3 million
exclusive of impairment of goodwill and manufacturing facility closures, restructuring, strategic alternatives and other
charges

Sales

The Company�s sales for 2008 were $737.2 million, a 3.9% decrease compared to $767.3 million for 2007. IPG�s
consolidated annual sales for 2007 were $767.3 million, a decrease of 5.5% compared to $812.3 million for 2006.

Sales for the fourth quarter of 2008 totalled $153.1 million, a 20.0% decrease compared to $191.5 million for the
fourth quarter of 2007.  Sales volumes (units) decreased 22.4% during the fourth quarter of 2008 compared to the
fourth quarter of 2007.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Gross profit totalled $78.3 million in 2008, a decrease of 32.7% from 2007. The gross profit decline through the first
nine months of 2008 was $4.2 million compared to 2007 due to slightly lower sales volumes during that period.  Most
of the 2008 decline in gross profits occurred in the fourth quarter of 2008. Gross margin represented 10.6% of sales in
2008, 15.2% in 2007 and 14.6% in 2006.  Gross profit totalled $116.3 million in 2007, a decrease of 1.8% from 2006.
While margins improved slightly in 2007 compared to 2006, there was a substantial change in the business in the
second half of 2006, as described below, that resulted in gross margins for the second half of 2006 of 12.8% and
annualized gross profits of $98.0 million.  The improvement in 2007 in both gross profits and gross margins compared
to the second half of 2006 levels was primarily the result of the cost reductions implemented by the Company in late
2006 and early 2007. While sales volumes declined 5.5% for 2007, manufacturing expenses for 2007 declined 8.9%.

Gross profits for the fourth quarter of 2008 were a negative $5.5 million compared to gross profits of $28.4 million in
the fourth quarter of 2007. The significant decline in gross profits for the fourth quarter includes approximately $17.3
million attributable to lower sales volumes and $16.6 due to gross margin compression. Gross profits for the fourth
quarter of 2007 totalled $28.4 million at a gross margin of 14.9%.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses (�SG&A�) for the year ended December 31, 2008 totalled $68.2 million, a
decrease of $3.0 million from the $71.2 million incurred for the year ended December 31, 2007. The 2007 SG&A
expenses were down $13.7 million from $84.9 million in 2006. As a percentage of sales, SG&A expenses were 9.3%,
9.3% and 10.4% for 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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The 2008 reduction in SG&A was primarily the result of lower professional fees paid to third parties. The Company
benefited in 2007 from significant staffing reductions.  
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Included in SG&A expenses are the costs the Company incurs as a consequence of being a public company.  These
costs totalled $1.3 million, $2.4 million and $3.6 million for the three years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and
2006.  The high level of public company costs for 2006 compared to 2007 and 2008 is due to high initial cost in 2006
of complying with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, which included the documentation and
certification of internal control over financial reporting by management.

SG&A expenses were $15.9 million (10.4% of sales) for the fourth quarter, compared to $18.7 million (9.8% of sales)
a year ago. The fourth quarter 2008 reduction in SG&A was primarily the result of lower professional fees paid to
third parties.

Stock-Based Compensation

For 2008, 2007 and 2006, the Company recorded approximately $1.3 million, $1.8 million and $2.0 million,
respectively, in stock-based compensation expense related to options granted to employees.

Operating Profit

This discussion presents the Company�s operating profit for 2008, 2007 and 2006. �Operating profit� does not have a
standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP in Canada or the United States but is included herein as the Company�s
management uses �operating profit� to measure and evaluate the profit contributions of the Company�s product offerings
as well as the contribution by channel of distribution.

Because �operating profit� is a non-GAAP financial measure, other companies may present similar titled items
determined with differing adjustments.  Presented below is a table reconciling this non-GAAP financial measure with
gross profit being the most comparable GAAP measurement.  The reader is encouraged to review this reconciliation.
Operating profit is defined by the Company as gross profit less SG&A and stock-based compensation expense.

OPERATING PROFIT RECONCILIATION

(In millions of US dollars)

(Unaudited)

Three months ended
December 31,

Year

ended December 31,
2008 2007 2008 2007 2006

$ $ $ $ $
Gross Profit

(5.5) 28.4 78.3 116.3 118.5
Less: SG&A expenses                15.9 18.7 68.2 71.2 84.9
Less: Stock-based compensation

0.2 0.3 1.3 1.8 2.0
Operating Profit (21.6) 9.4 8.8 43.3 31.6
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Operating profit for 2008 amounted to $8.8 million compared to $43.3 million for 2007 and $31.6 million for 2006.
 The 2008 decline in operating profits compared to 2007 is due to the lower gross profits. Operating profits increased
in 2007 compared to 2006 by $11.7 million due to a $13.7 million reduction in SG&A expenses, offset in part by
lower gross profit in the ECP Division.

The Company�s operating profit for the fourth quarter of 2008 was a loss of $21.6 million compared to $8.8 million for
the fourth quarter of 2007.

Manufacturing Facility Closures, Restructuring, Strategic Alternatives and Other Charges

During 2008, the Company did not incur any such charges.  
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During 2007, the Company recorded manufacturing facility closures, restructuring, strategic alternatives and other
charges totalling $8.1 million including approximately $1.3 million in severance costs associated with the cost
reduction initiatives announced by the Company in 2006 and $6.8 million in costs supporting the strategic alternatives
process.

During 2006, the Company recorded manufacturing facility closures, restructuring, strategic alternatives and other
charges of $76.1 million of which $36.7 million related to plant closures including, (i) $30.2 million for the closure of
the Brighton, Colorado facility, (ii)$9.9 million related to the retirement of Mr. Melbourne F. Yull, (iii) $9.8 million
related to cost reductions initiatives, (iv) $8.0 million related to the impairment of certain manufacturing equipment,
(v) $3.9 million related to a Canadian income trust project that was cancelled, (vi) $2.9 million in legal costs related to
certain patent and trademark disputes, (vii) $2.4 million related to real estate remediation and disposals,  (viii) $1.9
million for a loan amendment fee and (ix) $0.6 million related to the strategic alternatives process

Impairment of Goodwill

In accordance with the requirements of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (�CICA�), which are
substantively equivalent to the applicable US standards, the Company normally performs an annual goodwill
impairment test as at December 31.

The Company conducted its annual impairment test at December 31, 2008 and concluded that the goodwill
attributable to both reporting units was fully impaired due to the recent adverse changes in the economic environment
and the expectation that many of these factors will not improve in the near-term. The goodwill impairment charge at
December 31, 2008 totalled $66.7 million, including $56.5 million related to the T&F Division and $10.2 million
related to the ECP Division.  No goodwill impairment charge was required by IPG for 2007. The Company conducted
a goodwill impairment test at the interim date of September 30, 2006 due to the underlying changes in its business,
resulting in a $120.0 million goodwill impairment charge. The Company subsequently performed its annual
impairment test at December 31, 2006 and concluded that no additional impairment charge was necessary.

In 2007, as a result of the business structure changes made by the Company, for purposes of the impairment test,
based on the specific requirements of the accounting pronouncements, the Company determined that it had two
reporting units, the T&F Division and the ECP Division. Previously, the Company had a single reporting unit.  The
Company allocated the recorded goodwill between the two reporting units based on their relative fair values at
December 31, 2007. The Company calculated the fair value of these reporting units using the discounted cash flow
method, and compared it with other methods including multiples of sales and earnings before interest, income taxes,
depreciation and amortization, and with historical transactions where appropriate.

Research and Development

Research and development (�R&D�) remains an important function within the Company. Taken as a percentage of sales,
R&D was 0.8% for 2008, 0.5% for 2007 and 0.8% for 2006.  The Company continues to focus its R&D efforts on new
products, new technology developments, new processes and formulations for existing products.  

EBITDA

A reconciliation of the Company�s EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure, to GAAP net earnings is set out in the
EBITDA reconciliation table below.  EBITDA should not be construed as earnings before income taxes, net earnings
or cash from operating activities as determined by GAAP.  The Company defines EBITDA as net earnings (loss)
before (i) income taxes (recovery); (ii) financial expenses, net of amortization; (iii) refinancing expense, net of
amortization; (iv) amortization of other intangibles and capitalized software costs; and (v) depreciation.  Adjusted
EBITDA is defined as EBITDA before manufacturing facility closures, restructuring, strategic alternatives and other
charges, impairment of property, plant and equipment, impairment of goodwill charges and unprecedented gross profit
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margin compression. The terms �EBITDA� and �Adjusted EBITDA� do not have any standardized meanings prescribed
by GAAP in Canada or the United States and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by
other issuers. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not measurements of financial performance under GAAP and
should not be considered as alternatives to cash flows from operating activities or as alternatives
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to net earnings as indicators of IPG�s operating performance or any other measures of performance derived in
accordance with GAAP. The Company has included these non-GAAP financial measures because it believes that it
permits investors to make a more meaningful comparison of IPG�s performance between periods presented. In
addition, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are used by Management and the Company�s lenders in evaluating the
Company�s performance.

EBITDA RECONCILIATION TO NET EARNINGS

(In millions of US dollars)  

(Unaudited)

Three months ended
December 31,

Year

ended December 31,
2008 2007 2008 2007 2006

$ $ $ $ $
Net Loss � As Reported (99.8) (0.7) (92.8) (8.4) (166.7)
Add back:
Financial expenses, net of amortization 5.6 5.1 18.7 23.9 25.3
Refinancing expense, net of
amortization 2.9
Income taxes (recovery) 4.4 3.4 3.4 12.3  (30.7)
Depreciation & amortization 9.2 10.3 39.6 38.9 36.6
EBITDA   (80.6) 18.1 (28.2) 66.7 (135.5)
Impairment of property, plant and
equipment 0.4 0.4
Gross profit margin compression 16.6 16.6
Manufacturing facility closures,
restructuring, strategic alternatives and
other charges 8.1 76.1
Impairment of goodwill 66.7 66.7 120.0
Adjusted EBITDA 3.1 18.1 55.5 74.8 60.6

EBITDA was ($28.2) million for 2008, $66.7 million for 2007, and ($135.5) million for 2006.  Adjusted EBITDA was
$55.5 million, $74.8 million, and $60.6 million for the years 2008, 2007 and 2006 respectively.  The Company�s
EBITDA for the fourth quarter of 2008 was ($80.6) million compared to $18.1 million for the fourth quarter of 2007.
The Adjusted EBITDA was $3.1 million in the fourth quarter of 2008 as compared to $18.1 million in the fourth
quarter of 2007. The lower adjusted EBITDA for 2008 and in the fourth quarter of 2008 compared to 2007 and to the
fourth quarter of 2007 is the result of lower gross profits.

Financial Expenses
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Financial expenses decreased 5.1% to $25.8 million from $27.2 million for 2007.  Financial expenses increased 2.3%
to $27.2 million for 2007 as compared to $26.6 million for 2006.

The decrease in interest expense of $9.1 million or 33.2% was the direct result of the refinancing of the Facility and
the repayment of the Term Loan B at the end of March, with the contracting of the ABL.  As a result the ABL has
lower margins compared to the term Loan B.  In addition, lower libor rates impacted both the hedged and unhedged
portions of the ABL.  The increase in other financial expenses was mainly due to foreign exchange losses in 2008
totalling $0.8 million compared to foreign exchange gains in 2007 totalling $1.0 million.

Included in the first quarter of 2008 is a $6.0 million refinancing expense related to the refinancing of the Facility.
 The refinancing expense includes a $2.9 million loss on the settlement of two interest rate swap agreements.  This
loss was reclassified from other comprehensive income (loss) as a result of the discontinuance of the cash flow hedge
since the debt being hedged was refinanced and the hedging relationship was thereby terminated.  Also included in
refinancing expense is $3.1 million of accelerated amortization of debt issue expense incurred in connection with
securing the Facility in 2004.
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The increase in financial expense in 2007 was as a result of higher interest rates on the Term Loan B due to increased
loan margins imposed by the November 8, 2006 and August 8, 2007 loan amendments and higher libor rates
impacting the unhedged portion of the Term Loan B. The impact of the higher interest rates was substantially
mitigated by the Term Loan B debt repayments made by the Company during 2007, including the $15.6 million
excess cash flow payment in March 2007 and the application of the proceeds of the rights offering during the period
September through November 2007 reducing the principal balance by $60.9 million.

Financial expenses for the fourth quarter of 2008 totalled $5.8 million, a 9.4% increase from financial expenses in the
fourth quarter of 2007. The increase was due to foreign exchange losses in the fourth quarter of 2008 totalling $1.4
million.  

Income Taxes

In the past three years, the Company�s statutory income tax rate has been influenced primarily by a lower rate on
foreign-based income, manufacturing and processing deductions, transactions that resulted in permanent differences
and changes in the valuation allowance.  

As at December 31, 2008, the Company had approximately $39.6 million in Canadian operating loss carry-forwards
for tax purposes expiring from 2009 through 2028, and $221.6 million in US federal and state operating losses for tax
purposes expiring from 2010 through 2028. In assessing the valuation of future income tax assets, management
considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the future income tax assets will not be realized.
 Management considers the scheduled reversal of future income tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax
planning strategies in making this assessment. The Company expects the future income tax assets to be realized, net of
the valuation allowance at December 31, 2008 as a result of the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences.
During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company�s management revised its assessment of the recoverability of
the Company�s future income tax assets. Accordingly, the Company�s  future income tax expense for 2008 includes a
$17.2 million increase to the future income tax assets' valuation allowance. Included in deferred income tax expense
for 2007 is a $2.6 million of increases to the valuation allowance.

In December 2007, the Canadian Federal government reduced future Federal income tax rates. As a result of the tax
rate reductions, the Company recorded $4.3 million of deferred income tax expense in the fourth quarter of 2007 to
reflect the decreased value of the Company�s deferred tax assets.

Net Earnings � Canadian and US GAAP

For 2008, the Company posted a net loss of $92.8 million as compared to a net loss of $8.4 million in 2007 and $166.7
million in 2006.  

The Company reported a net loss of $99.8 million for the fourth quarter of 2008 as compared to a net loss of $0.7
million for the fourth quarter of 2007.  The increase in net loss for the fourth quarter of 2008 compared to the fourth
quarter of 2007 was due to the decrease in gross profits and the impairment of goodwill.

Adjusted net earnings, a non-GAAP financial measure (see table on page 8) amounted to a net loss of $3.1 million for
2008, a net loss of $2.2 million for 2007, and a net loss of $6.9 million for 2006. The Company is including adjusted
net earnings here because it believes that adjusted net earnings provides a better comparison of results for the periods
presented since it does not take into account impairment of goodwill, impairment of property, plant and equipment,
unprecedented gross margin compression, refinancing expense and manufacturing facility closure, restructuring,
strategic alternatives and other costs in each period.
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Adjusted net earnings does not have any standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP in Canada or the United States
and is therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers. A reconciliation of adjusted
net earnings to net earnings, being the most comparable measurement under GAAP, is set forth on page 8. The reader
is encouraged to review this reconciliation.
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Net earnings reported in accordance with Canadian GAAP conforms in all material respects to amounts that would
have to be reported had the financial statements been prepared under US GAAP, with the exception that US GAAP
does not permit recognition of foreign exchange gains or losses as a result of a partial reduction in foreign
self-sustaining operations.  Consequently, in accordance with US GAAP, net earnings in 2008 would be a net loss of
approximately $93.7 million, a net loss of $8.4 million in 2007 and a net loss of $166.7 million in 2006.  For further
details, see Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the case of IPG, net earnings are equal to earnings from continuing operations, as the Company had no discontinued
operations, extraordinary items, or changes in accounting principles that resulted in a charge against earnings for these
periods.

Earnings Per Share � Canadian and US GAAP

Basic and diluted net earnings per share reported in accordance with Canadian GAAP conform in all material respects
to amounts that would have been reported had the financial statements been prepared under US GAAP, with the
exception that US GAAP does not permit recognition of foreign exchange gains or losses as a result of a partial
reduction in foreign self-sustaining operations.. Consequently, in accordance with US GAAP, basic and diluted loss
per share would be $1.59 in 2008 compared to basic and diluted loss per share of $0.19 in 2007 and $4.07 in 2006.

The Company reported a loss per share of $1.57 both basic and diluted for 2008 as compared to a loss per share of
$0.19 both basic and diluted for 2007. The 2007 loss per share compares to a loss per share of $4.07 both basic and
diluted for 2006. The weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the purpose of the basic and
diluted EPS calculation was 59.0 million for 2008 (59.0 million diluted), 45.3 million (45.3 million diluted) for 2007
and 41.2 million (41.2 million diluted) for 2006.

The adjusted EPS (see table on page 8) for 2008 was a loss per share of $0.05 both basic and diluted compared to a
loss per share of $0.05 both basic and diluted for 2007 and to a loss per share of $0.17 both basic and diluted for 2006.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income is comprised of net earnings and other comprehensive income.  For the years ended December
31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, comprehensive income was a loss of $127.7 million, income of $21.8 million and a loss of
$164.4 million, respectively.  Comprehensive income for the fourth quarter of 2008 and the fourth quarter of 2007 was
a loss of $124.9 million and income of $3.2 million, respectively.  The unfavourable change in accumulated currency
translation adjustments is attributable to the weakening of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar in 2008.  The
decline in the fair market value of the interest rate swap agreements for the three months and year ended December
31, 2008 reflects the actual and expected decline in short-term interest rates during the year.

Results of Operations-Tapes and Films Division

Summarized below is a reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA for the Tapes and Films Division between 2007 and 2008
as follows:

Adjusted EBIDTA Reconciliation
2007 to 2008
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(In millions of US dollars)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended

December 31, Year ended December 31,

Adjusted EBITDA for 2007  $        16.9  $        69.3
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Decrease in gross profits:
Decline in sales volumes  $         (13.5)  $      (14.1)

Gross profit margin compression $         (13.9) $       (27.4) $       (17.6) $       (31.7)

Addback gross profit margin compression in fourth
quarter

 $        13.9  $        13.9

Other items, principally lower SG&A expenses  $          1.5  $          0.5

Adjusted EBITDA for 2008  $ 4.9           $        52.0

Sales for the T&F Division for 2008 were $592.2 million, a decrease of 2.2% compared to $605.7 million for 2007.
 Sales for 2007 were $605.7 million, a decrease of 3.3% compared to $626.5 million for 2006. The T & F Division
had a sales volume (unit) decrease of 7.9% for 2008 and 2.7% for 2007. The sales volume decline in both 2008 and
2007 was not limited to particular product lines or channels of distribution.   Approximately half of the 2008 sales
volume decline occurred in the fourth quarter.

In response to rising raw material costs, the T&F Division instituted substantial selling price increases during the first
nine months of 2008.  During the fourth quarter of 2008, selling prices declined as raw material costs decreased.
 Average selling prices for the T&F Division declined less than 1.0% in 2007, with selling prices increasing in the
fourth quarter as noted below.

Sales for the T&F Division for the fourth quarter of 2008 totalled $122.6 million, an 18.8% decrease from sales in the
fourth quarter of 2007 of $151.0 million.  Sales volumes (units) decreased 21.9% during the fourth quarter of 2008
compared to the prior year.  The decrease in sales volume was across substantially all product lines and reflected the
deep economic downturn that impacted the global economy as a whole and the packaging industry in particular.

Gross profit for the T&F Division totalled $67.4 million in 2008, a decrease of 32.0% from 2007 gross profit of $99.1
million. Gross profit totalled $99.1 million in 2007, an increase of 7.5% from $92.2 million in 2006. Gross margin
represented 11.4% of sales in 2008, 16.4% in 2007 and 14.7% in 2006.  Gross profit declined for the first nine months
of 2008 compared to the same period in 2007 by $4.3 million due to the decline in sales volumes and the compression
of gross margins.  Gross margins for the first nine months of 2008 were 15.0% compared to 16.4% for the first nine
months of 2007.  The decline in gross margins during the first nine months of 2008 reflected the inability at various
points in time to fully recover cost increases through selling price increases.  Additionally, the T&F Division has not
always been able to earn additional margin on the higher costs. Most of the decline in gross profit for 2008 occurred in
the fourth quarter due to substantially lower sales volumes and gross margin compression. For 2007, gross profit and
gross margins both improved over 2006 performance but particularly when compared to the levels in the second half
of 2006. The improved results were attributable to the cost reductions implemented by the Division in late 2006 and
early 2007.  

T&F Division gross profit for the fourth quarter of 2008 totalled ($2.8) million at a gross margin of (2.3)% compared
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to $24.5 million at a gross margin of 16.2% for the fourth quarter of 2007.  The gross profit decline during the fourth
quarter of 2008 was due to a substantial decline in sales volumes (units) as discussed above and gross margin
compression.  The sales volume decline resulted in lost profits on less sales as well as an increase in the amount of
unabsorbed manufacturing overhead costs expensed directly to operations.  The impact of the decline in sales volumes
was a decrease in gross profit of $13.5 million compared to the fourth quarter of 2007.  The balance of the gross profit
decline in the fourth quarter of 2008 compared to the fourth quarter of 2007 was attributable to gross margin
compression.  The rapid decline in the cost of raw materials during the fourth quarter of 2008 began to depress selling
prices in December 2008 carrying into early 2009.  The lower selling prices resulted in selected T&F Division
products, which had been manufactured with higher cost raw materials, being sold at a loss.  Additionally, at
December 31, 2008, the T&F Division reduced the carrying value of its on-hand inventories by $1.5 million to reflect
net realizable value.  The T&F Division also recorded a $1.9 million non-cash charge at December 31, 2008,
representing the expected loss arising from outstanding raw material purchase commitments that are at above market
price levels and that the Division does not expect to be able to recover through selling price increase in 2009.
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T & F DIVISION EBITDA RECONCILIATION
TO NET EARNINGS
(in millions of US dollars)
(Unaudited)

Three months ended
December 31,

Year

ended December 31,
2008 2007 2008 2007 2006

$ $ $ $ $
Divisional earnings before impairment of goodwill
and income taxes (16.5) 8.9 8.7 39.2 20.1
Depreciation and amortization 7.5 8.0 29.4 30.1 30.4
EBITDA   (9.0) 16.9 38.1 69.3 50.5
Addback gross profit margin compression in fourth
quarter 13.9 13.9
Adjusted EBITDA 4.9 16.9 52.0 69.3 50.5

EBITDA for the T&F Division for 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $38.1 million, $69.3 million and $50.5 million,
respectively.  The improvement in EBITDA in 2007 compared to 2006 is due to the improved gross profits for the
Division and reductions in SG&A expenses.  The T&F Division�s EBITDA for the fourth quarter of 2008 was ($9.0)
million compared to $16.9 million for the fourth quarter of 2007. The decline in EBITDA in the fourth quarter of 2008
compared to the fourth quarter of 2007 is the result of a decrease in gross profits.  The adjusted EBITDA for 2008 was
$52.0 million and for the fourth quarter of 2008 was $4.9 million.  Adjusted EBITDA for 2008 removes the impact on
the fourth quarter of 2008 gross margin compression described above as well as in the �Business Overview� section.  

Results of Operations-ECP Division

Summarized below is a reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA for the ECP Division between 2007 and 2008 as follows:

Adjusted EBIDTA Reconciliation
2007 TO 2008
(In millions of US dollars)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended

December 31, Year ended December 31,

Adjusted EBITDA for 2007  $2.2          $        9.7

Decrease in gross profits:
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Decline in sales volumes  $         (3.9)  $       (7.2)

Gross profit margin compression $         (2.7) $       (6.6)    $         0.8 $       (6.4)

Addback gross profit margin compression in fourth
quarter

 $        2.7  $        2.7

Other items, principally lower SG&A expenses  $        0.5  $        0.3

Adjusted EBITDA for 2008  $        (1.2)  $        6.3
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Sales for the ECP Division for 2008 were $145.0 million, a decrease of 10.2% compared to $161.6 million for 2007.
Division sales for 2007 were $161.6 million, a decrease of 13.0% compared to $185.8 million for 2006. The sales
volume (units) decrease for 2008 compared to 2007 was 15.8%. The largest market for ECP products is North
American residential construction, which experienced a slowdown starting in the summer of 2006 and has continued
throughout 2007 and 2008. The Company�s decision to close its Piedras Negras, Mexico FIBCs manufacturing
operation in March 2006, resulted in lost sales from certain accounts that required North American sourcing.  For
2007 and 2008, the decline in sales was mitigated by the introduction of several new residential construction market
products that allowed the Company to participate in segments of the residential construction market that it previously
had either not participated in or participated only on a small scale.

In response to rising raw material costs, the ECP Division instituted substantial selling price increases during the first
nine months of 2008.  Selling prices declined in the fourth quarter of 2008 on a sequential basis as raw material costs
decreased. Average selling prices for the ECP Division increased slightly in excess of 1.0% during 2007.

Sales for the ECP Division for the fourth quarter of 2008 totalled $30.5 million, a 24.7% decrease compared to $40.5
million for the fourth quarter of 2007.  Sales volumes (units) decreased 24.3% for the fourth quarter of 2008 compared
to the fourth quarter of 2007.  Selling prices were relatively unchanged in the fourth quarter of 2008 compared to the
fourth quarter of 2007 but, as noted above, did decrease on a sequential basis. The weakening of the Canadian dollar
relative to the US dollar during the fourth quarter of 2008 also contributed to the fourth quarter decline in sales. The
sales volume decrease for the fourth quarter was across most of the ECP Division�s products and was reflective of the
deep global economic downturn that occurred in the fourth quarter.

Gross profit for the ECP Division totalled $10.9 million in 2008, a decrease of 37.0% from 2007. Gross profit totalled
$17.2 million in 2007, a decrease of 34.4% from $26.3 million in 2006. Gross margin represented 7.5% of sales in
2008, 10.7% in 2007 and 14.1% in 2006.  The gross profit and gross margin improved slightly in the first nine months
of 2008 compared to the first nine months of 2007 due to increased selling prices and improved product mix.  The
gross profit and gross margin decline for 2008 occurred in the fourth quarter. The decline in 2007 in both gross profit
and gross margin compared to all of 2006 is due to the strong performance of the ECP Division in the first half of
2006, before the impact of the slowdown in residential construction and the continued deterioration of that market in
2007.  

ECP Division gross profits for the fourth quarter of 2008 totalled ($2.7) million at a gross margin of (8.7)% compared
to $4.0 million at a gross margin of 9.7% for the fourth quarter of 2007.  The gross profit decline during the fourth
quarter of 2008 was due to a substantial decline in sales volumes (units) as discussed above and gross margin
compression.  The sales volume decline resulted in lost profits on less sales as well as an increase in the amount of
unabsorbed manufacturing overhead costs expensed directly to operations.  The impact of the decline in sales volumes
was a decrease in gross profit of $3.9 million compared to the fourth quarter of 2007.  The balance of the gross profit
decline in the fourth quarter of 2008 compared to the fourth quarter of 2007 was attributable to gross margin
compression.  The rapid decline in the cost of raw materials during the fourth quarter of 2008 began to depress selling
prices in December 2008 carrying into early 2009.  The lower selling prices resulted in ECP Division products, which
had been manufactured with higher cost raw materials, being sold at a loss.  Additionally, at December 31, 2008, the
ECP Division reduced the carrying value of its on-hand inventories by $3.9 million to reflect net realizable value.  The
ECP Division also recorded a $0.4 million non-cash charge at December 31, 2008, representing the expected loss
arising from outstanding raw material purchase commitments that are at or above market price levels and that the
Division does not expect to be able to recover through selling prices in 2009.

ECP DIVISION RECONCILIATION TO NET
EARNINGS
(in millions of US dollars)
(Unaudited)
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Three months ended
December 31,

Year

ended December 31,
2008 2007 2008 2007 2006

$ $ $ $ $
Divisional earnings before impairment of goodwill
and income taxes (5.9) 0.7 (2.8) 4.2 12.2
Depreciation and amortization 2.0 1.5 6.4 5.5 4.9
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EBITDA   (3.9) 2.2 3.6 9.7 171
Addback gross profit margin compression in fourth
quarter 2.7 2.7
Adjusted EBITDA (1.2) 2.2 6.3 9.7 17.1

EBITDA for the ECP Division for 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $3.6 million, $9.7 million and $17.1 million,
respectively.  The decline in EBITDA for 2008 compared to 2007 occurred in the fourth quarter. The ECP Division�s
EBITDA for the fourth quarter of 2008 was ($3.9) million compared to $2.2 million for the fourth quarter of 2007.
The decline was attributable to the lower gross profits discussed above. The decline in EBITDA for 2007 compared to
2006 is due to the lower gross profits for the Division mitigated by a reduction in SG&A expenses.   The adjusted
EBITDA for 2008 was $6.3 million and for the fourth quarter of 2008 was ($1.2) million.  Adjusted EBITDA for 2008
removes the impact on the fourth quarter of 2008 gross margin compression described above as well as in the
�Business Overview� section.  

Results of Operations-Corporate

The Company does not allocate the manufacturing facilities closure, restructuring, strategic alternatives or other
charges to the two Divisions.  These expenses are retained at the corporate level as are stock-based compensation
financial expenses and the cost of being a public company. The Company also did not allocate the costs of the
corporate aircraft lease that was terminated in October 2006. The unallocated corporate expenses for the three years
ended December 31, 2008 totalled $2.6 million, $4.2 million and $7.1 million, respectively.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company maintains no off-balance sheet arrangements except for the interest rate swap agreements, forward
foreign exchange contracts and letters of credit issued and outstanding discussed in the sections entitled �Currency Risk�
and �Bank Indebtedness and Credit Facilities� and in Notes 13 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

Related Party Transactions

During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company entered into three advisory services agreements, two with
companies controlled by two current members of the Board of Directors and one with a company controlled by a
former senior officer of the Company.  The advisory services include business planning and corporate finance
activities and qualify as related party transactions in the normal course of operations, which are measured at the
exchange amount.  

The agreements are effective through December 31, 2009, but each can be unilaterally terminated by the companies
controlled by the Board members and the former senior officer, respectively, with a 30-day written notice. The
agreements provided for monthly compensation beginning January 2008 in the amounts of $75,000 and
CAD$100,000 per month for a minimum of at least three months. Beginning April 1, 2008, the Company�s financial
commitment relating to the services of two of the three companies is $50,000 and CAD$100,000 per month and will
remain in effect through December 31, 2009. Effective November 2008, the two companies controlled by the two
current members of the Board of Directors each agreed to a 10% reduction in their monthly compensation. The
annualized savings arising from this reduction, coupled with the recent strengthening of the US dollar relative to the
Canadian dollar totals approximately $350,000 annually.
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In connection with these agreements, the Company recorded a charge amounting to approximately $2.1 million (nil in
2007) in its consolidated earnings for the year ended December 31, 2008 included under the caption selling, general
and administrative expenses.

In addition to the monthly advisory services described above, the agreements provided for a fee to be paid to each of
the companies in connection with the Company�s concluded 2007 shareholder rights offering. The aggregate fee paid
to the companies in connection with the rights offering was $1,050,000 during the year ended December 31, 2007.

Finally, the advisory services agreements provide for an aggregate performance fee payable on July 1, 2010 based on
the difference between the average price of the Company�s common shares for the ten trading days prior to July 1,
2010 on the TSX
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(the �Average Price�) and the Canadian offering price included in the Company�s 2007 rights offering of CAD$3.61
multiplied by an aggregate of 2.2 million, provided that the Average Price exceeds CAD$4.76. The advisory services
agreements provide for a reduction in the performance fees in the event of an early termination of the agreements. As
at December 31, 2008, the Company�s common share price on the TSX was CAD$1.09.

Effective December 31, 2008, the Company terminated the advisory service agreement with the company controlled
by its former senior officer.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flow

In 2008, the Company generated cash flows from operating activities of $20.8 million compared to cash flows from
operating activities of $37.8 million in 2007. In 2006, the Company generated cash flows from operating activities of
$53.6 million.  The Company generated cash flows from operating activities in the fourth quarter of 2008 of $12.2
million compared to $16.1 million for the fourth quarter of 2007.

Cash from operations before changes in non-cash working capital items decreased in 2008 by $18.1 million to $25.1
million from $43.2 million in 2007. Cash from operations before changes in non-cash working capital items increased
in 2007 to $43.2 million from $9.4 million in 2006. The decrease in 2008 occurred in the fourth quarter and was
attributable to the impact of the deep global economic downturn.  Through the first nine months of 2008, cash from
operations before changes in non-cash working capital increased by $6.5 million compared to the first nine months of
2007. The increase was due to the absence in 2008 of cash charges for facility closures, restructuring, strategic
alternatives and other charges. The increase in 2007 was due to improved profitability and $12.8 million less in cash
charges for facility closures, restructuring, strategic alternatives and other charges paid in 2006.  Cash used in
operations before changes in non-cash working capital for the fourth quarter of 2008 was $11.3 million compared to
cash provided by operations before changes in non-cash working capital of $13.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2007.
 The decrease was due to the decline in profitability previously discussed.

In 2008, non-cash working capital items used $4.3 million in net cash flow. The components of non-cash working
capital items changed significantly during the fourth quarter. Through the first nine months of 2008, non-cash working
capital used $27.9 million in net cash flow.  The most significant uses of cash were to increase inventories by $16.0
million and trade accounts receivables by $18.3 million.  The increase in inventories, which was mitigated in part by a
$7.6 million increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities, was the result of the rapid escalation in the cost of
resin-based raw materials during the first nine months of 2008.  The increase in trade accounts receivables was due to
higher sales in September 2008 compared to December 2007 as well as strong year-end cash collections at December
31, 2007. Non-cash working capital provided $23.5 million in net cash flow in the fourth quarter of 2008.  During the
fourth quarter, trade accounts receivable provided $30.3 million of cash, inventories provided $9.8 million of cash and
accounts payable and accrued liabilities used $15.3 million of cash. These significant movements are reflective of the
changes to the Company�s business during the quarter as sales and raw material costs declined. There are changes in
non-cash working capital items between the balance sheet dates that are not reflected in the cash flows.  These
changes are the impact of foreign currency translation adjustments between balance sheet dates and do not have an
impact on changes in working capital presented in the consolidated cash flows statements.

In 2007, non-cash working capital items used $5.4 million in net cash flow.  A total of $18.7 million of cash was used
in the building of inventories, including $9.0 million in the fourth quarter.  During the fourth quarter, the Company
pre-bought raw material inventories in advance of announced raw material cost increases.  The Company increased
finished goods inventory levels during the fourth quarter to prepare for planned first quarter production equipment
upgrades that would temporarily shut down selected production lines as well as build inventories in anticipation of a
customer demand spike late in quarter that did not materialize.  Trade accounts receivable provided $9.5 million in net
cash flow for the 2007, primarily due to improved customer agings.

Edgar Filing: INTERTAPE POLYMER GROUP INC - Form 6-K

55



Cash flows used in investing activities was $21.8 million for 2008 as compared to $18.7 million for 2007 and $29.6
million for 2006.  These investing activities include an increase in property, plant and equipment of $21.0 million for
2008, $18.5 million for 2007 and $27.1 million for 2006.  Other assets increased $0.8 million during 2008, $1.3
million during 2007 and $5.4 million in
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2006. Cash flows used in investing activities was $3.7 million for the fourth quarter of 2008 compared to $5.1 million
for the fourth quarter of 2007, a decrease of $1.4 million.  

Cash flows provided by financing activities totalled $2.4 million in 2008 due to an increase in long-term debt. Cash
flows used in financing activities amounted to $22.1 million in 2007 compared to $17.0 million in 2006.  The
Company raised $60.9 million net of expense from the September 2007 rights offering.  These funds were used to
reduce long-term debt in the third and fourth quarters of 2007 by $60.9 million.  The Company also made a $15.6
million principal payment in March 2007 in satisfaction of its 2006 �excess cash flow payment� obligation under its
Senior Secured Credit Facility.

Free cash flow, a non-GAAP measurement that is defined by the Company as cash flows from operating activities less
property, plant and equipment expenditures was ($0.2) million in 2008, compared to $19.3 million in 2007. The
decline in free cash flow in 2008 was primarily the result of the decline in profitability for the year, coupled with an
increase in capital expenditures for the year.  Free cash flow was $19.3 million in 2007, a decline of $7.2 million from
$26.5 million in 2006. The decline was due to non-cash working capital consuming $5.4 million in cash for 2007,
after generating $44.2 million in cash for 2006. The Company is including free cash flow because it is used by
Management and investors in evaluating the Company�s performance and liquidity.  Free cash flow does not have any
standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP in Canada or the United States and is therefore unlikely to be comparable
to similar measures presented by other issuers. A reconciliation of free cash flow to cash flow from operating
activities, the most directly comparable GAAP measure, is set forth below. The reader is encouraged to review this
reconciliation.

FREE CASH FLOW RECONCILIATION

(In millions of US dollars)

2008 2007 2006
$ $ $

Cash Flows From Operating
Activities 20.8 37.8 53.6
Less: Capital Expenditures 21.0 18.5 27.1
Free Cash Flow (0.2) 19.3 26.5

Working Capital

As at December 31, 2008, working capital stood at $133.1 million, as compared to $145.6 million as at December 31,
2007. The decrease of $12.5 million was primarily due to decreased trade accounts receivables and inventories.

Quick assets, which are the Company�s total current assets excluding prepaid expenses and future income taxes,
decreased by $22.9 million during 2008 to a level of $199.9 million, and increased by $18.9 million during 2007 to a
level of $222.8 million. The 2008 decrease was primarily due to the decline in trade accounts receivables and
inventories. The increase during 2007 was due to the increase in inventories.

The Company�s cash liquidity is influenced by several factors, the most significant of which are the Company�s
profitability and its level of inventory investment. Historically, the Company has periodically increased its inventory
levels when business conditions suggest that it is in the Company�s interest to do so, such as the buying opportunities
the Company took advantage of in the fourth quarter of 2007 to mitigate the impact of rising raw material costs. The
Company expects to continue this practice when circumstances suggest that it is appropriate and when the Company
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believes it has adequate cash and credit availability to support such strategies. No inventory pre-buy occurred at
December 31, 2008.

Days outstanding in trade receivables were 37.3 days at the end of 2008 as compared to 43.5 days at the end of 2007.
Inventory turnover (cost of sales divided by inventories) improved to 7.2 times in 2008 compared to 6.6 times in 2007.

Currency Risk
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As disclosed in Note 21 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements, the Company employs significant net
assets in its foreign Canadian self-sustaining operations and to a lesser degree in its foreign European self-sustaining
operations. Accordingly, changes in the exchange rates between the respective functional currencies of these
operations and the Company�s US dollar reporting currency will result in significant fluctuations in the net assets of
these operations in US dollar terms. The effect of these fluctuations is reported in the Company�s consolidated other
comprehensive income (loss).

Additionally, the Company is subject to foreign exchange rates risks through transactions conducted by its Canadian,
US and European operations, which are conducted in currencies other than the functional currencies of the entities
earning the revenues or incurring the expenses.  Changes in the exchange rates may result in decreases or increases in
foreign exchange gains or losses recorded in the Company�s consolidated earnings (loss) for the period.  Until recently,
the Company has not used derivative financial instruments to reduce its exposure to foreign currency risk, as
historically these risks have not been significant.  In November and December 2008, and in accordance with the
Company�s foreign exchange rates risk policy, the Company executed a series of thirty-six (36) monthly forward
foreign exchange rates contracts (the �Contracts�) to purchase an aggregate CDN$40.0 million beginning in February
2009, at fixed exchange rates ranging from CDN$1.1826 to CDN$1.2808 to the US dollar.  The Contracts will
mitigate foreign exchange rates risk associated with a portion of anticipated monthly inventory purchases of the
Company�s US self-sustaining foreign operations that are to be settled in Canadian dollars (the �Purchases�). The
Company designated these Contracts as a cash flow hedge, effectively mitigating the cash flow risk associated with
the settlement of the Purchases.

Finally, and in accordance with the Company�s foreign exchange rates risk management policy, the Company is
currently reviewing the extent of using similar forward foreign exchange rate contracts to cover additional inventory
purchases, undertaken by the Company�s U.S. operations, for a maximum amount $CAD55.0 million. As part of this
ongoing review process, the Company obtains quotes from its primary lender and performs sensitivity analysis and
risk modeling for possible fluctuations to the underlying foreign exchange rates. 

Capital Expenditures

Total property, plant and equipment expenditures were $21.0 million, $18.5 million and $27.1 million for the years
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.  As discussed under �Outlook�, the Company expects to spend approximately $6.0
million in property, plant and equipment expenditures in the first and second quarters of 2009, in satisfaction of
outstanding capital project commitments, and then adjust its capital spending thereafter to invest only in maintenance
capital expenditures until the Company experiences a substantial and enduring improvement in its operating results.
 The Company estimates that annual maintenance capital expenditures are approximately $8.0 million.

Based on current volume and anticipated market demand, the Company believes it has sufficient capacity available to
accommodate increases in volumes in most products without additional capital expenditure.  In addition, Management
believes the Company is positioned to take advantage of opportunities that may arise to grow its market share in
existing products, expand its product offerings and expand its markets.

Long-Term Debt and Financial Derivatives

As discussed under the section �Liquidity�, on March 27, 2008 the Company successfully refinanced its Facility with a
$200.0 million ABL entered into with a syndicate of financial institutions.  The amount of borrowings available to the
Company under the ABL is determined by its applicable borrowing base from time to time. The borrowing base is
determined by calculating a percentage of eligible trade accounts receivable, inventories and machinery and
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equipment. As at December 31, 2008, the Company had borrowed $118.3 million under its ABL, including $4.3
million in letters of credit. As at December 31, 2007, $2.1 million had been borrowed under the revolving line of
credit portion of the Facility, all of which consisted of letters of credit. When combined with on-hand cash and cash
equivalents, the Company had total cash and credit availability of $50.7 million as at December 31, 2008 and $73.4
million as at December 31, 2007.  The decrease in total cash and credit availability between December 31, 2008 and
December 31, 2007 was primarily due to the decline in availability under the ABL at December 31, 2008 as a result of
decrease in the balance of eligible trade accounts receivable.  
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In 2007 and 2006, the Company reduced its indebtedness associated with its long-term debt instruments by $80.7
million and $2.9 million, respectively. The payments in 2007 included a $15.6 million principal payment from 2006
�excess cash flow� as defined under the Company�s Facility.  Also included in the 2007 payments was a $60.9 million
reduction in the Facility representing the net proceeds received in the September 17, 2007 shareholder rights offering.
 The balance of principal payments for 2007 and 2006 were in accordance with the Company�s debt amortization
schedules.

At December 31, 2008, the current instalments on long-term debt were $1.0 million.

Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations

The Company�s principal contractual obligations and commercial commitments relate to its outstanding debt and its
operating lease obligations. The following table summarizes these obligations as of December 31, 2008:

Payments Due by Period
Contractual Obligations

 (in millions of US dollars) Total
Less than

1 year
1-3

years
4-5

years
After 5
years

$ $ $ $ $
Long-Term Debt 248.5 0.1 3.2 118.0 127.2
Capital (Finance) Lease Obligations 9.6 1.0 1.4 1.1 6.1
Operating Lease Obligations 9.2 2.3 3.2 2.7 1.0
Purchase Obligations 13.0 13.0
Other Long-Term Liabilities Reflected on Balance Sheet
under GAAP of the primary financial statements
Total 280.3 16.4 7.8 121.8 134.3

Capital Stock

As at March 27, 2009 there were 58,956,348 common shares of the Company outstanding.

In 2006 employees exercised stock options worth $0.1 million. No options were exercised in 2007 or 2008.

On August 26, 2008, the Company announced the entering into effect of a new normal course issuer bid (�NCIB�) in
Canada, pursuant to which the Company could, over a 12-month period, repurchase at prevailing market prices, up to
a maximum of 2,947,817 of its common shares.  The NCIB commenced on August 28, 2008 and remains in effect
until August 27, 2009.  During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company�s common shares repurchased for
cancellation under the NCIB were insignificant. The Company believes that the purchase of its own common shares
may, in appropriate circumstances, be a responsible investment of available funds on hand.

Distribution Rights Purchase Agreement

In September 2008, the Company acquired the exclusive North American rights to a patent pending automatic
wrapping system.  The system is designed to automate the process of wrapping packages of up to 65 feet in length.
The technology targets industries such as wood products, which are traditionally manually wrapped. Along with the
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distribution rights, the Company acquired wrapping machines and existing customer contracts for a total consideration
of $5.5 million.
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As part of acquiring the distribution rights, the Company also made future performance commitments.  Additional
considerations or penalties are to be paid based on these commitments.  However, within the first two years of the
purchase agreement, the automatic wrapping system must achieve certain market acceptance parameters or the
Company has the right to renegotiate the future performance commitments with the vendor and if such renegotiation is
not concluded on terms satisfactory to the Company, then the future performance commitments will not be binding on
the Company. As at December 31, 2008, the Company i) was not in a position to determine, beyond a reasonable
doubt, the outcome of its commitment and ii) concluded that the vendor retains future performance obligations under
the provisions of the agreement.  Accordingly, the Company will account for these contingencies upon their
resolution.  

Pension and Post-Retirement Benefit Plans

IPG�s pension benefit plans currently have an unfunded deficit of $20.9 million at the end of 2008 as compared to
$10.4 million at the end of 2007. For 2008 and 2007, the Company contributed $5.8 million and $7.1 million,
respectively to its funded pension plans and to beneficiaries for its unfunded other benefit plans. The Company may
need to divert certain of its resources in the future in order to resolve this funding deficit but expects to meet its
pension benefit plan funding obligations in 2009 through cash flows from operations.

Dividend on Common Shares

No dividends were declared on the Company�s stock in 2008, 2007 or 2006.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires Management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the recorded amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the recorded amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. On an on-going basis Management reviews its estimates, including those relating to the allowance
for doubtful accounts, reserve for slow moving and unmarketable inventories, future and current income taxes and
impairment of long-lived assets and goodwill based on currently available information. Actual results may differ from
those estimates.

The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on reserves for specific accounts which Management believes may not
be fully recoverable combined with an overall reserve reflective of the Company�s historical bad debt experience and
current economic conditions.

Establishing and updating the reserve for slow moving and unmarketable inventories starts with an evaluation of the
inventory on hand as compared to historical and expected future sales of the products. For items identified as
slow-moving or unmarketable; the cost of products is compared with their estimated net realizable values and a
valuation reserve is established when the cost exceeds the estimated net realizable value.

The Company assesses the recoverability of its fixed assets using projected future undiscounted cash flows and
comparing those cash flows to the net book value of the fixed assets when changes in events and circumstances
indicate a possible impairment of certain assets or group of assets.  

In accordance with the requirements of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (�CICA�), which are
substantively equivalent to the applicable US standards, the Company performs an annual goodwill impairment test as
at December 31. For purposes of the impairment test, based on the specific requirements of the accounting
pronouncements, the Company determined that it was two reporting units, Tapes and Films and Engineered Coated
Products. The Company calculates the fair value of these reporting units using the discounted cash flow method. As
occurred in 2006, the Company performs goodwill impairment tests at interim dates when changes in the underlying
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business of the Company suggest that a possible impairment has occurred.
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In assessing the realizability of future income tax assets, Management considers whether it is more likely than not that
some portion or all of the future income tax assets will not be realized. Management considers the scheduled reversal
of future income tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment.

Changes in Accounting Policies

On January 1, 2008, in accordance with the applicable transitional provisions, the Company adopted the new
recommendations of the CICA Handbook Sections 3031 �Inventories�, 1535, �Capital Disclosures�, 3862, �Financial
Instruments � Disclosures�, and 3863, �Financial Instruments � Presentation�.

Inventories

Section 3031 provides more extensive guidance on the determination of cost and its subsequent recognition as an
expense, including any write-down to net realizable value. It also provides guidance on the cost formulas that are used
to assign costs to inventories.  Certain costs, such as storage costs and general and administrative expenses that do not
contribute to bringing the inventories to their present location and condition, are excluded from the cost of inventories
and expensed during the period in which they are incurred. In addition, the new section requires inventories to be
measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value; disallows the use of a last-in first-out inventory costing
methodology and requires that, when circumstances which previously caused inventories to be written down below
cost no longer exist, the amount of the write-down is to be reversed. The new standard also requires various additional
disclosures, in particular, the amount of inventories recognized as an expense during the period and the amount of any
reversal of write-downs that is recognized as a reduction of expenses.

In accordance with the transitional provision of this section, the Company has chosen that any adjustment of the
previous carrying amount of inventories will be recognized as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings (deficit) at the beginning of the fiscal year of initial application. The consolidated financial statements of
prior fiscal years were not restated.

The adoption of this new standard resulted in the following changes as at January 1, 2008: a $0.3 million increase in
deficit, a $0.4 million decrease to inventories and a $0.1 million increase of future income tax assets. In addition, the
adoption of this new standard resulted in an increase in cost of sales of $0.4 million, an increase in net loss of $0.3
million and inconsequential impact on both basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31,
2008.

Capital Management and Financial Instruments Disclosures and Presentation

Section 1535 establishes standards for disclosing information about an entity�s capital and how it is managed. This
additional disclosure includes quantitative and qualitative information regarding objectives, policies and processes for
managing capital, as well as the entity�s compliance with externally imposed capital requirements.

Section 3862 describes the required disclosures related to the significance of financial instruments on the entity�s
financial position and performance and the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which the
entity is exposed and how the entity manages those risks. Section 3863 establishes standards for presentation of
financial instruments and non-financial derivatives. These sections replaced Section 3861, �Financial Instruments �
Disclosure and Presentation�.

The results of the implementation of these new standards are included in Note 21 and had no impact on the Company�s
consolidated financial results and position.

Prompt Payment Discounts received from Vendors
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During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company applied the recommendations of the CICA Emerging Issues
Committee (�EIC�) No. 144 �Accounting by a customer (including reseller) for certain considerations received from a
vendor� with respect to prompt payment discounts received from its vendors. Historically, the Company did not apply
this EIC with respect to prompt payment discounts since the related amounts were determined to be not significant to
the consolidated financial statements. However, in light of rapidly increasing raw material prices during 2008 and the
resulting increase in the value of prompt payment discounts offered by its vendors, such amounts have become
significant in the determination of the Company�s financial results for the year. This EIC requires that consideration
given to a customer by a vendor in the form of prompt payment discounts, be classified as a reduction of cost of sales
in the customer�s statement of earnings. Accordingly, the Company
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retroactively reclassified approximately $1.9 million and $0.9 million of prompt payment discounts historically
included in financial expenses as a reduction of cost of sales for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. These reclassifications do not change the Company�s reported net loss for these years.  For the year ended
December 31, 2008, included in the Company�s consolidated earnings is $1.7 million of prompt payment discounts
presented under the caption of cost of sales.

Impact of Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Implemented

Canadian GAAP

Goodwill and intangible assets

In February 2008, the CICA published new Section 3064, �Goodwill and Intangible Assets�. This section which
replaces �Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets�, Section 3062, and �Research and Development Costs�, Section 3450,
establishes standards for the recognition, measurement and disclosure of goodwill and intangible assets. In addition,
Section 1000, �Financial Statement Concepts� was amended to clarify the criteria for recognition of an asset. Finally,
once a company adopts this new section it may no longer apply the guidance in EIC Abstract 27, �Revenues and
Expenditures during the Pre-Operating Period�.

This section applies to interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after October 1,
2008 and the Company will implement it as of January 1, 2009. The Company does not anticipate that the application
of this new standard will have a material impact on its financial results upon adoption.

International financial reporting standards (�IFRS�)

In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board (�AcSB�) announced that, as at January 1, 2011,
publicly-accountable enterprises are expected to adopt IFRS. Accordingly, the Company expects to adopt these new
standards during its fiscal year beginning on January 1, 2011. The AcSB also stated that, during the transition period,
enterprises will be required to provide comparative IFRS information for the previous fiscal year. The IFRS issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (�IASB�) require additional financial statement disclosures and, while the
conceptual framework is similar to GAAP, enterprises will have to take account of differences in accounting
principles.

The Company has begun the IFRS implementation process, which consists of four phases: 1- preliminary assessment
and planning, 2- detailed evaluation of the process, 3- defining the solution process and, 4 � implementation process.
 The Company has completed phase 1, and is currently working on phase 2 of the changeover by evaluating the
impact of the conversion, training key personnel, as well as identifying the changes to the Company�s accounting
policies, systems, processes and controls.   

Credit risk and the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

On January 20, 2009, the EIC of the CICA approved abstract No. 173 �Credit risk and the fair value of financial assets
and financial liabilities� (�EIC-173�), which clarifies that an entity�s own credit risk and the credit risk of its counterparty
should be taken into account in determining the fair value of financial assets and liabilities. EIC-173 is to be applied
retrospectively without restatement of prior periods to all financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in
interim and annual financial statements for periods ending on or after the date of issuance of this abstract. The
Company will implement the provisions of EIC-173 in its fair value determination of financial assets and liabilities as
at March 31, 2009. The Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting this new standard on its consolidated
financial statements.

US GAAP

Edgar Filing: INTERTAPE POLYMER GROUP INC - Form 6-K

67



Business Combinations

In December 2007, FASB issued Financial Accounting Standard No. 141(R), "Business Combinations"
("SFAS 141(R)�). The standard establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in
its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree, how goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase option is recognized and measured in a business
combination, and outlines disclosure requirements to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature
and financial effects of a business combination. SFAS 141(R)
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outlines that the acquisition date fair value is the measurement objective for all assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
SFAS 141(R) requires that all acquisition related and restructuring costs be charged to earnings and requires
contingent consideration to be recognized at its fair value on the date of acquisition. Certain contingent consideration
arrangements will result in fair value changes being recognized in earnings until settled. This statement eliminates
adjustments to goodwill for changes in deferred tax assets and uncertain tax positions after the acquisition accounting
measurement period (limited to one year from the date of acquisition). Finally, business combinations related costs
will be charged to earnings as incurred. SFAS 141(R) is effective prospectively for acquisitions that occur on or after
January 1, 2009. The Company expects the adoption of SFAS 141(R) to affect its consolidated financial statements
and any underlying business combinations subsequent to January 1, 2009.

Useful Life of Intangible Assets

In April 2008, FASB issued FSP No. 142-3, �Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets�, which amends the
factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of
a recognized intangible asset under FASB Statement No. 142. The purpose of this guidance is to improve the
consistency between the useful life of a recognized intangible asset and the period of expected cash flows used to
measure the fair value of the asset. Accordingly, entities are required to disclose information for a recognized
intangible asset that enables users of the financial statements to assess the extent to which the expected future cash
flows associated with the asset are affected by the entities intent and/or ability to renew or extend the arrangement.
For the Company, FSP No. 142-3 is effective January 1, 2009. The Company does not expect the adoption of FSP No.
142-3 to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

In May 2008, Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 162, "The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles" ("SFAS 162") was issued, which identifies the sources of accounting principles and the
framework for selecting the principles to be used in the preparation of financial statements of nongovernmental
entities that are presented in conformity with U.S. GAAP. FASB does not expect this standard to change current
practice. SFAS 162 will become effective 60 days following the Security and Exchange Commission�s approval of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board amendments to AU Section 411, "The Meaning of Present Fairly in
Conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles". The Company does not expect the adoption of
SFAS 162 to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

Fair Value Measurement

In September 2006, in an effort to increase consistency and comparability in fair value measurements, the FASB
issued Statement No.157, "Fair Value Measurement", which defines fair value, establishes guidelines for measuring
fair value and expands disclosures regarding fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 does not require any new
instruments to be recognized at fair value. SFAS No. 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years
beginning after November 15, 2007.

In February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position FAS 157-2 �Effective date of FASB statement No. 157�, to
provide a one-year deferral of the effective date of SFAS 157 for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities,
except those that are recognized or disclosed in financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis. For
non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities subject to the deferral, the effective date of SFAS 157 is postponed to
fiscal year beginning after November 15, 2008 and to interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company does not
expect the adoption of SFAS No. 157 will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

Disclosure Controls and Internal Control over Financing Reporting
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The Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer of the Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of
the Company�s disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2008. They concluded based on such evaluation that, as at December 31, 2008, the Company had a material weakness
related to the recording of freight invoices and the related accrual and expense. A material weakness is a deficiency, or
a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility
that a material misstatement of the Company�s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected
on a timely basis. Because of this material weakness, the Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer have
concluded that the Company�s system of internal control over financial reporting was not effective.  Notwithstanding
the above mentioned weakness, the Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the
consolidated financial statements included in this report fairly present the
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Company�s consolidated financial position and the consolidated results of the operations, as at and for the year ended
December 31, 2008.

The Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer have also reviewed whether any change in the Company�s internal
control over financial reporting occurred during 2008 that materially affected, or was reasonably likely to materially
affect, the Company�s internal control over financial reporting and concluded that there was none aside from the
deficiency described above.  The deficiency was corrected during the first quarter of 2009 through the institution of a
series of account reconciliation procedures.

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems
determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and
presentation. Because of its inherent limitation, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Disclosure Required by the NYSE

A summary of the significant ways that the corporate governance practices of the Company differs from that of a US
Company is available on the Company�s website:  www.intertapepolymer.com  under �Investor Relations�.

Additional Information

Additional information relating to IPG, including its Annual Information Form, is filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com
in Canada and on EDGAR at www.sec.gov in the US.

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements and information included in this Management�s Discussion & Analysis constitute forward-looking
information within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities legislation and the United States Federal Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

Forward-looking statements may relate to the Company�s future outlook and anticipated events, the Company�s
business, its operations, financial condition or results.  Particularly, statements about the Company�s objectives and
strategies to achieve those objectives are forward looking statements.  While these statements are based on certain
factors and assumptions which management considers to be reasonable based on information currently available to it,
they may prove to be incorrect.  Forward-looking information involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties and
other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied in such forward-looking
statements.  The risks include, but are not limited to, the factors contained in the Company�s filings with the Canadian
securities regulators and the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.  While the Company may elect to, it is under
no obligation (and expressly disclaims any such obligation) and does not undertake to update or alter this information
at any particular time.  This Management�s Discussion & Analysis contains certain non-GAAP financial measures as
defined under SEC rules, including adjusted net earnings, free cash flow, EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA, and operating
profit.  The Company believes such non-GAAP financial measures improve the transparency of the Company�s
disclosures, provide a meaningful presentation of the Company�s results from its core business operations, by
excluding the impact of items not related to the Company�s ongoing core business operations, and improve the
period-to-period comparability of the Company�s results from its core business operations.  As required by SEC rules,
the Company has provided reconciliations of those measures to the most directly comparable GAAP measures.
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Management�s Responsibility for Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements of Intertape Polymer Group Inc. and other financial information are the
responsibility of the Company�s management and have been examined and approved by its Board of Directors. These
consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles and include some amounts that are based on management�s best estimates and judgments. The
selection of accounting principles and methods is management�s responsibility.

Management is responsible for the design, establishment and maintenance of appropriate internal controls and
procedures over financial reporting, to ensure that financial statements for external purposes are fairly presented in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Pursuant to these internal controls and procedures,
processes have been designed to ensure that the Company�s transactions are properly authorized, the Company�s assets
are safeguarded against unauthorized or improper use, and the Company�s transactions are properly recorded and
reported to permit the preparation of the Company�s consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles.

Management recognizes its responsibility for conducting the Company�s affairs in a manner to comply with the
requirements of applicable laws and established financial standards and principles, and for maintaining proper
standards of conduct in its activities.

The Board of Directors assigns its responsibility for the consolidated financial statements and other financial
information to the Audit Committee, all of whom are non-management and unrelated directors.
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The Audit Committee�s role is to examine the consolidated financial statements and annual report and recommend that
the Board of Directors approve them, examine internal control over financial reporting and information protection
systems and all other matters relating to the Company�s accounting and finances. In order to do so, the Audit
Committee meets periodically with the external auditors to review their audit plan and discuss the results of their
examination. The Audit Committee is also responsible for recommending the appointment of the external auditors or
the renewal of their engagement.

The Company�s external independent auditors, Raymond Chabot Grant Thornton LLP were appointed by the
shareholders at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders on June 4, 2008, to conduct the integrated audit of the Company�s
consolidated financial statements and the Company�s internal control over financial reporting. Their reports indicating
the scope of their audits and their opinion on the consolidated financial statements and the Company�s internal control
over financial reporting follow.

/s/ Melbourne F. Yull

Melbourne F. Yull
Executive Director

/s/ Victor DiTommaso

Victor DiTommaso
Chief Financial Officer

Sarasota/Bradenton, Florida and Montreal, Canada
March 30, 2009
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Management�s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the
Company. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of the Company�s financial reporting as well as the preparation of financial statements for external reporting
purposes in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, including a reconciliation to
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of
the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the Company�s assets that could have a material effect on the Company�s consolidated financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements
and even when determined to be effective can only provide reasonable assurance with respect to financial statements
preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of completeness with
policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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Management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company�s internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2008 based on the criteria established in Internal Control � Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. During this process, management identified a
material weakness in internal control over financial reporting related to the recording of freight invoices and the
related accrual and expense. In response to the material weakness identified, the Company has already implemented a
remediation plan.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Company�s
consolidated financial statements will not be prevented and detected on a timely basis. Due to the material weakness
identified, management has concluded that as of December 31, 2008, the Company�s internal control over financial
reporting was not effective. Notwithstanding the material weakness identified, management has concluded that the
Company�s consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2008, present fairly the
Company�s consolidated financial position and results of operations.

The Company�s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008 has been audited by Raymond
Chabot Grant Thornton LLP, the Company�s independent auditors, as stated in their report included later in this
document.

/s/ Melbourne F. Yull

Melbourne F. Yull
Executive Director

/s/ Victor DiTommaso

Victor DiTommaso
Chief Financial Officer

Sarasota/Bradenton, Florida and Montreal, Canada
March 30, 2009
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Raymond Chabot Grant
Thornton LLP

www.rcgt.com

Independent Auditors� Report

To the Shareholders of
Intertape Polymer Group Inc.

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Intertape Polymer Group Inc. as at December 31, 2008 and 2007
and the consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income (loss), shareholders� equity and cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2008. These financial statements are the responsibility
of the Company�s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.

With respect to the financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, we conducted our audits in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). With respect to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2006, we
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2008 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles.
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Chartered Accountants

Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd
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We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), Intertape Polymer Group Inc.�s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on
criteria established in Internal Control � Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (COSO) and our report dated March 30, 2009 expressed an adverse opinion thereon.

/S/ RAYMOND CHABOT GRANT THORNTON LLP

Montreal, March 30, 2009

____________________________

1 Chartered accountant auditor permit no. 20518
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Raymond Chabot Grant
Thornton LLP

www.rcgt.com

Comments by Independent Auditors
for U.S. Readers on Canada �
U.S. Reporting Difference

In the United States, reporting standards for auditors require the addition of an explanatory paragraph (following the
opinion paragraph) when there are changes in accounting principles that have a material effect on the comparability of
the Company�s consolidated financial statements, such as the changes described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements. Our report to the shareholders on the consolidated financial statements of the Company dated March 30,
2009 is expressed in accordance with Canadian reporting standards, which do not require a reference to such changes
in accounting principles in the independent auditors� report when the changes are  properly accounted for and
adequately disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

/S/ RAYMOND CHABOT GRANT THORNTON LLP

Montreal, March 30, 2009

____________________________

1 Chartered accountant auditor permit no. 20518

Chartered Accountants
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Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd
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Raymond Chabot Grant
Thornton LLP

www.rcgt.com

Independent Auditors� Report on
Internal Control over Financial
Reporting

To the Shareholders of
Intertape Polymer Group Inc.

We have audited Intertape Polymer Group Inc.�s (the �Company�) internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control � Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company�s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management�s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company�s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on assessed risk and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

Chartered Accountants

Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd
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A company�s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company�s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company�s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such
that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Company�s annual or interim financial
statements will no be prevented or detected on a timely basis. A material weakness related to the recording of freight
invoices and the related accrual and expense has been identified and included in management�s assessment. This
material weakness was considered in determining the nature, timing and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2008 and consequently, does not
affect our opinion of such consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, because of the effect of the aforementioned material weakness on the achievement of the objectives of
the control criteria, the Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control � Integrated Framework issued by COSO.
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We also have audited, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as at
December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income (loss), shareholders�
equity and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2008 and audited, in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, the consolidated statements of earnings,
comprehensive income (loss), shareholders� equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2006, and our
report dated March 30, 2009, expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements and
included a separate report entitled, �Comments by Independent Auditors for U.S. Readers on Canada � U.S. Reporting
Difference� referring to a change in accounting principle.

/S/ RAYMOND CHABOT GRANT THORNTON LLP

Montreal, March 30, 2009

____________________________

1 Chartered accountant auditor permit no. 20518
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Intertape Polymer Group Inc.

Consolidated Earnings

Years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
(in thousands of US dollars, except per share amounts)

2008 2007 2006
 $  $  $

Sales 737,155 767,272 812,285
Cost of sales 658,900 650,931 693,823
Gross profit 78,255 116,341 118,462

Selling, general and administrative expenses 68,189 71,169 84,903
Stock-based compensation expense (Note 15) 1,268 1,780 2,022
Research and development expenses 5,610 4,135 6,271
Financial expenses
Interest 18,365 27,425 26,656
Other 1,425 (206) (40)
Refinancing (Note 13) 6,031
Manufacturing facility closures, restructuring, strategic
alternatives, and other charges (Note 4) 8,114 76,057

100,888 112,417 195,869
Earnings (loss) before impairment of goodwill and income    

   taxes
(22,633)  3,924  (77,407)

Impairment of goodwill (Note 12) 66,726 120,000
Earnings (loss) before income taxes (89,359) 3,924 (197,407)
Income taxes (recovery) (Note 5) 3,440 12,317 (30,714)
Net loss (92,799) (8,393) (166,693)

Loss per share (Note 6)
Basic (1.57) (0.19) (4.07)
Diluted (1.57) (0.19) (4.07)
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements and Note 3 provides additional
information on consolidated earnings.
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Intertape Polymer Group Inc.

Consolidated Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
(in thousands of US dollars)

2008 2007 2006
 $  $  $

Net loss (92,799) (8,393) (166,693)
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Change in fair value of interest rate swap agreements,
designated as cash flow hedges (net of future income taxes
of $1,733, $964 in 2007) (2,950) (1,641)
Settlement of interest rate swap agreements, recorded in the
consolidated earnings (net of income taxes of $1,080) 1,840
Change in fair value of forward foreign exchange rate
contracts, designated as cash flow hedges (net of future
income taxes of $151) (257)
Reduction in net investment in a foreign subsidiary (Note 3) (899)
Changes in accumulated currency translation adjustments (32,644) 31,824 2,311
Other comprehensive income (loss) (34,910) 30,183 2,311
Comprehensive income (loss) for the year (127,709) 21,790 (164,382)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Edgar Filing: INTERTAPE POLYMER GROUP INC - Form 6-K

88



55

Intertape Polymer Group Inc.

Consolidated Shareholders� Equity

Years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
(in thousands of US dollars, except for number of common shares)

Common shares

Number Amount
Contributed

surplus

Retained
earnings
(deficit)

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income

Total
shareholders�

equity
$ $ $ $ $

Balance as at
December 31, 2005 40,957,574 287,187 6,237 107,161 33,830 434,415
Shares issued for cash
upon exercise of stock
options 29,366 136 136
Stock-based compensation
expense 2,022 2,022
Accelerated vesting of
stock options 1,527 1,527
Net loss (166,693) (166,693)
Changes in accumulated
currency translation
adjustments 2,311 2,311
Balance as at
December 31, 2006 40,986,940 287,323 9,786 (59,532) 36,141 273,718
Cumulative impact of
accounting changes
relating to financial
instruments and hedges 443 1,138 1,581
Balance as at December
31, 2006, as restated 40,986,940 287,323 9,786 (59,089) 37,279 275,299
Shares issued pursuant to
shareholders� rights
offering (Note 15) 17,969,408 60,851 60,851
Stock-based compensation
expense 1,780 1,780
Accelerated vesting of
stock options 290 290
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Net loss (8,393) (8,393)
Change in fair value of
interest rate swap
agreements, designated as
cash flows hedges  (net of
future income taxes of
$964) (1,641) (1,641)
Changes in accumulated
currency translation
adjustments 31,824 31,824
Balance as at
December 31, 2007 58,956,348 348,174 11,856 (67,482) 67,462 360,010
Cumulative impact of
accounting changes
relating to inventories
(Note 2) (252) (252)
Balance as at December
31, 2007, as restated 58,956,348 348,174 11,856 (67,734) 67,462 359,758
Stock-based compensation
expense 1,268 1,268
Net loss (92,799) (92,799)
Change in fair value of
interest rate swap
agreements, designated as
cash flow hedges (net of
future income taxes of
$1,733) (2,950) (2,950)
Settlement of interest rate
swap agreements, recorded
in the consolidated
earnings (net of income
taxes of $1,080) 1,840 1,840
Change in fair value of
forward foreign exchange
rate contracts, designated
as cash flow hedges (net of
future income taxes of
$151) (257) (257)
Reduction in net
investment in a foreign
subsidiary (899) (899)
Changes in accumulated
currency translation
adjustments (32,644) (32,644)
Balance as at
December 31, 2008 58,956,348 348,174 13,124 (160,533) 32,552 233,317
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Edgar Filing: INTERTAPE POLYMER GROUP INC - Form 6-K

91



56

Intertape Polymer Group Inc.

Consolidated Cash Flows

Years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
(in thousands of US dollars)

2008 2007 2006
 $  $  $

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss (92,799) (8,393) (166,693)
Non-cash items
Depreciation and amortization 36,538 38,902 36,622
Impairment of goodwill 66,726 120,000
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 532 460 925
Property, plant and equipment impairment and other charges in
connection with manufacturing facility closures, restructuring,
strategic alternatives and  other charges 1,373 49,382
Write-down of inventories 7,703
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 424
Write-off of debt issue expenses in connection with debt refinancing 3,111
Future income taxes 4,006 11,439 (32,262)
Stock-based compensation expense 1,268 1,780 2,022
Pension and post-retirement benefits funding in excess of amounts
expensed (1,479) (2,356) (195)
Foreign exchange gain resulting from the reduction in net investment
in a foreign subsidiary (899)
Other non-cash items (435)
Cash flows from operations before changes in non-cash working
capital items 25,131 43,205 9,366
Changes in non-cash working capital items
Trade receivables 12,310 9,545 27,725
Other receivables (1,491) (791) 7,667
Inventories (6,556) (18,736) 27,783
Parts and supplies (1,306) (817) (770)
Prepaid expenses 364 515 4,514
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (7,664) 4,835 (22,676)

(4,343) (5,449) 44,243
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Cash flows from operating activities 20,788 37,756 53,609

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Property, plant and equipment (21,048) (18,470) (27,090)
Proceeds on the disposal of property, plant and equipment 3,202 1,376 3,447
Business acquisition (167)
Other assets (795) (1,308) (5,448)
Intangible assets (3,207)
Goodwill (300) (298)
Cash flows from investing activities (21,848) (18,702) (29,556)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Change in bank indebtedness (15,000)
Long-term debt 160,119 73 792
Debt issue expenses (2,777) (2,269)
Repayment of long-term debt (154,952) (80,738) (2,920)
Issue of common shares 136
Proceeds from shareholders� rights offering 62,753
Shareholders� rights offering costs (1,902)
Cash flows from financing activities 2,390 (22,083) (16,992)
Net increase (decrease) in cash 1,330 (3,029) 7,061
Effect of foreign currency translation adjustments (1,469) 1,259 104
Cash, beginning of year 15,529 17,299 10,134
Cash, end of year 15,390 15,529 17,299

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOWS
INFORMATION
Interest paid 20,264 25,513 26,209
Income taxes paid 364 378 1,877

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Intertape Polymer Group Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2008 and 2007
(in thousands of US dollars)

2008 2007
 $  $

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash 15,390 15,529
Trade receivables 75,467 91,427
Other receivables (Note 7) 4,093 2,970
Inventories (Note 8) 90,846 99,482
Parts and supplies 14,119 13,356
Prepaid expenses 3,037 3,522
Future income taxes (Note 5) 9,064 11,231

212,016 237,517
Property, plant and equipment (Note 9) 289,763 317,866
Other assets (Note 10) 22,364 23,176
Intangible assets (Note 11) 3,956
Future income taxes (Note 5) 47,067 53,990
Goodwill (Note 12) 70,250

575,166 702,799

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 78,249 88,866
Installments on long-term debt 623 3,074

78,872 91,940
Long-term debt (Note 14) 250,802 240,285
Pension and post-retirement benefits (Note 17) 9,206 9,765
Derivative financial instruments (Note 21) 2,969 799

341,849 342,789
SHAREHOLDERS� EQUITY
Capital stock (Note 15) 348,174 348,174
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Contributed surplus 13,124 11,856

Deficit (160,533) (67,482)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (Note 16) 32,552 67,462

(127,981) (20)
233,317 360,010
575,166 702,799

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

/s/ George Bunze /s/ Allan Cohen
George Bunze, Director Allan Cohen, Director
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Intertape Polymer Group Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
(in US dollars, tabular amounts in thousands, except as otherwise noted)

1  �  

GOVERNING STATUTES AND NATURE OF ACTIVITIES

Intertape Polymer Group Inc. (the �Company�), incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act, is based in
Montreal, Canada and in Sarasota/Bradenton, Florida and develops, manufactures and sells a variety of specialized
polyolefin films, paper and film pressure sensitive tapes and complimentary packaging systems for use in industrial
and retail applications.

The common shares of the Company are listed on the New York Stock Exchange in the United States of America
(�United States� or �US�) and on the Toronto Stock Exchange (�TSX�) in Canada.

2  �  

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements are expressed in US dollars and are prepared in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles (�GAAP�), which, in certain respects, differ from the accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States (�US GAAP�), as presented in Note 22.

Accounting Changes

On January 1, 2008, in accordance with the applicable transitional provisions, the Company adopted the new
recommendations of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (�CICA�) Handbook Sections 3031 �Inventories�,
1535, �Capital Disclosures�, 3862, �Financial Instruments � Disclosures� and 3863, �Financial Instruments �
Presentation�.

Inventories

Section 3031, provides more extensive guidance on the determination of cost and its subsequent recognition as an
expense, including any write-down to net realizable value. It also provides guidance on the cost formulas that are used
to assign costs to inventories.  Certain costs, such as storage costs and general and administrative expenses that do not
contribute to bringing the inventories to their present location and condition, are excluded from the cost of inventories
and expensed during the period in which they are incurred. In addition, the new section requires inventories to be
measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value; disallows the use of a last-in first-out inventory costing
methodology and requires that, when circumstances which previously caused inventories to be written down below

Edgar Filing: INTERTAPE POLYMER GROUP INC - Form 6-K

96



cost no longer exist, the amount of the write-down is to be reversed. The new standard also requires various additional
disclosures, in particular, the amount of inventories recognized as an expense during the period and the amount of any
reversal of write-downs that is recognized as a reduction of expenses.

In accordance with the transitional provision of this section, the Company has chosen that any adjustment of the
previous carrying amount of inventories will be recognized as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings (deficit) at the beginning of the fiscal year of initial application. The consolidated financial statements of
prior fiscal years were not restated.

The adoption of this new standard resulted in the following changes as at January 1, 2008: a $0.3 million increase in
deficit, a $0.4 million decrease to inventories and a $0.1 million increase of future income tax assets. In addition, the
adoption of this new standard resulted in an increase in cost of sales of $0.4 million, an increase in net loss of $0.3
million and inconsequential impact on both basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31,
2008.

Edgar Filing: INTERTAPE POLYMER GROUP INC - Form 6-K

97



59

Intertape Polymer Group Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
(in US dollars, tabular amounts in thousands, except as otherwise noted)

2 � ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Capital Management and Financial Instruments Disclosures and Presentation

Section 1535, establishes standards for disclosing information about an entity�s capital and how it is managed. This
additional disclosure includes quantitative and qualitative information regarding objectives, policies and processes for
managing capital, as well as the entity�s compliance with externally imposed capital requirements.

Section 3862 describes the required disclosures related to the significance of financial instruments on the entity�s
financial position and performance and the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which the
entity is exposed to and how the entity manages those risks. Section 3863 establishes standards for presentation of
financial instruments and non-financial derivatives. These sections replaced Section 3861, �Financial Instruments �
Disclosure and Presentation�.

The results of the implementation of these new standards are included in Note 21 and had no impact on the Company�s
consolidated financial results and position.

Prompt Payment Discounts received from Vendors

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company applied the recommendations of the CICA Emerging Issues
Committee (�EIC�) No. 144 �Accounting by a customer (including reseller) for certain considerations received from a
vendor� with respect to prompt payment discounts received from its vendors. Historically, the Company did not apply
this EIC with respect to prompt payment discounts since the related amounts were determined to be insignificant to
the consolidated financial statements. However, in light of rapidly increasing raw material prices during 2008 and the
resulting increase in the value of prompt payment discounts offered by the Company�s vendors, such amounts have
become significant in the determination of the Company�s financial results for the year. This EIC requires that
consideration given to a customer by a vendor in the form of prompt payment discounts, be classified as a reduction of
cost of sales in the customer�s statement of earnings. Accordingly, the Company retroactively reclassified
approximately $1.9 million and $0.9 million of prompt payment discounts historically included in financial expenses
as a reduction of cost of sales for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. These reclassifications
do not change the Company�s reported net loss for these years. For the year ended December 31, 2008, included in the
Company�s consolidated earnings is $1.7 million of prompt payment discounts presented under the caption cost of
sales.

Accounting Estimates and Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the recorded amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
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and liabilities as at the consolidated balance sheet date and the recorded amounts of revenues and expenses during the
year then ended. On an ongoing basis, management reviews its estimates based on currently available information.
Actual results may differ from those estimates.
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Intertape Polymer Group Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
(in US dollars, tabular amounts in thousands, except as otherwise noted)

2 � ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Key areas of estimation, where management has made difficult, complex or subjective judgments, often as a result of
matters that are inherently uncertain, are the allowance for doubtful accounts, the ability to use income tax losses and
other future income tax assets, allowance for obsolete and slow moving inventories, net realizable value of
inventories, useful lives of depreciable assets, the assumptions underlying the Company�s pension and post-retirement
benefits and stock-based compensation fair value model, the estimated future cash flows and projections in connection
with the impairment tests of goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment.

Significant changes in the underlying assumptions could result in significant changes to these estimates.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, all of which are
wholly-owned. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. Foreign exchange gains and losses
in connection with intercompany transactions which are not designated as part of the Company�s net investment in its
self-sustaining foreign operations are included in the determination of net earnings for the year.

Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial instruments are measured at fair value on initial recognition. The measurement of financial instruments in
subsequent periods depends on their classification. The classification of the Company�s financial instruments in the
various classes is presented in the following table:

Class Financial instruments
Assets held for trading Cash
Loans and receivables Trade receivables

Other receivables (1)
Loans to officers and directors

Other financial liabilities Accounts payable
Long-term debt

(1)

Excluding income, sales and other taxes

Assets held for trading are recognized at fair value on the consolidated balance sheet.
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Loans and receivables are recorded at amortized cost. Subsequent measurement of trade receivables are recorded at
amortized cost, which usually corresponds to the amount initially recorded less any allowance for doubtful accounts.
Subsequent measurements of other receivables are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest method,
including any impairment.

Accounts payable are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method and the gains and losses resulting
from their subsequent measurement, at the end of each period, are recognized in net earnings.
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Intertape Polymer Group Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
(in US dollars, tabular amounts in thousands, except as otherwise noted)

2 � ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Long-term debt is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The amount recorded upon initial
recognition corresponds to the notional amount of the long-term debt, representing its fair value, less the related debt
issue expenses, with the exception of debt issue expenses incurred in connection with a line of credit or a revolving
long-term credit agreement, such as the Company�s ABL, which are capitalized and amortized, using the straight-line
method, over the term of the related long-term debt agreement.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to reduce or eliminate the risks inherent in certain transactions and
identifiable balances that arise in the normal course of business. Derivative financial instruments are primarily utilized
by the Company to reduce interest rate risk on its long-term debt and foreign exchange risk on certain of its inventory
purchases. The Company therefore uses derivative financial instruments to ensure unfavourable fluctuations in cash
flows are offset by changes in cash flows from derivative financial instruments. The Company does not enter into
derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

The Company�s policy is to formally designate each derivative financial instrument as a hedge of a specifically
identified debt instrument and inventory purchases, including the related settlement thereof. The Company believes
that the derivative financial instruments are effective as hedges, both at inception and over the term of the instrument,
since all critical terms in the derivative financial instruments match the terms of the debt instrument and inventory
purchases, including the related settlement thereof, being hedged. Cash flow hedge accounting is used. The Company
formally documents all relationships between the hedging items and the hedged items. The Company also assesses the
effectiveness of the hedging relationships each quarter.

Interest rate swap agreements are used as part of the Company�s program to manage the floating interest rate mix of the
Company�s total debt portfolio and related overall cost of borrowing. The interest rate swap agreements involve the
periodic exchange of payments without the exchange of the notional principal amount upon which the payments are
based, and are recorded as an adjustment of interest expense on the hedged debt instrument. The related amount
payable to or receivable from counterparties is included as an adjustment to accrued interest.

Forward foreign exchange rate contracts are used as part of the Company�s program to manage the exchange risk
associated with certain monthly inventory purchases of the Company�s U.S. self-sustaining foreign operations, which
are settled in Canadian dollars. Foreign exchange rate gains and losses resulting from the updating of the accounts
payable related to these purchases or the settlement thereof, will be excluded from the determination of net earnings
for the year and accordingly, will be recorded as an adjustment to other comprehensive income (loss). Upon the sale
of the inventories and the settlement of the contracts, any remaining amounts in other comprehensive income (loss)
relating to these purchases will be included in the determination of net earnings for the year as an increase or decrease
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to cost of sales.
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Intertape Polymer Group Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
(in US dollars, tabular amounts in thousands, except as otherwise noted)

2 � ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of a financial instrument designated as a hedge is recognized in other
comprehensive income (loss) and gains and losses related to the ineffective portion, if any, are immediately
recognized in net earnings with the related hedged item. Amounts previously included as part of other comprehensive
income (loss) are reclassified to net earnings with the hedged item in the period during which the changes in cash flow
of the hedge item impact net earnings. Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when a derivative instrument
ceases to satisfy the conditions for hedge accounting, is sold or liquidated or the Company terminates its designation
of the hedging relationship. If the hedged item ceases to exist, unrealized gains or losses recognized in other
comprehensive income (loss) are reclassified to net earnings.

Embedded Derivatives

An embedded derivative that is not closely related to the host contract should be separated and classified as a financial
instrument held for trading. It is recorded at fair value and subsequent changes in the fair value are recognized in net
earnings. The costs of transactions related to the embedded derivatives are recorded in net earnings. As at December
31, 2008 and 2007, the Company does not have any hybrid instruments that include an embedded derivative to be
separated from the host contract.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income is the change in equity or net assets of the Company during the period from transactions and
other instruments and circumstances from non-owner sources and comprises the Company�s net loss and other
comprehensive income. Other comprehensive income (loss) comprises items that are recognized in comprehensive
income, but excluded from the determination of net earnings, primarily including exchange gains and losses on net
investments in self-sustaining foreign operations and changes in the fair value of financial instruments designated as
cash flow hedges, net of future income taxes. The components of comprehensive income are presented in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss).

Foreign Currency Translation

Reporting Currency

The accounts of the Company�s operations having a functional currency other than the US dollar have been translated
into the reporting currency using the current rate method as follows: assets and liabilities have been translated at the
exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date and revenues and expenses have been translated at the average rate
during the year then ended. All translation gains or losses of the Company�s net equity investments in these operations
have been included in accumulated other comprehensive income in the consolidated balance sheet.
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Foreign Currency Translation

Transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency have been translated into the functional
currency as follows: monetary assets and liabilities have been translated at the exchange rate in effect at the end of
each year and revenues and expenses have been translated at the average exchange rates for each year, except for
depreciation and amortization which are translated at the historical rate; non-monetary assets and liabilities have been
translated at the rates prevailing at the transaction dates. Exchange gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities are
recognized in net earnings.
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Intertape Polymer Group Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
(in US dollars, tabular amounts in thousands, except as otherwise noted)

2 � ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from product sales is recognized when there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement (purchase order was
received from the customer), the amount is fixed or determinable (pre-established price list with customers), delivery
of the product to the customer has occurred (generally, FOB shipping point), there are no uncertainties surrounding
product acceptance and collection of the amount is considered probable (credit worthiness of customers regularly
evaluated). Title to the product passes upon shipment of the product. Sales returns and allowances are treated as
reductions to sales and are provided for based on historical experience and current estimates.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses are expensed as they are incurred, net of any related investment tax credits,
unless the criteria for capitalization of development expenses in accordance with GAAP are met.

Stock Option Plan

The Company has a stock-based compensation plan that grants stock options to employees and directors. Stock-based
compensation expense is recognized over the vesting period of the options granted. Any consideration paid by
employees and directors on exercise of stock options is credited to capital stock together with any related stock-based
compensation expense originally recorded in contributed surplus. Forfeitures are estimated at the time of the grant and
are subsequently adjusted to reflect actual events.

Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share are calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the
year. Diluted earnings per share are calculated using the treasury stock method giving effect to the exercise of options.
The treasury stock method assumes that any proceeds that could be obtained upon the exercise of options would be
used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the year.

Cash

Cash includes cash on account and demand deposits.

Accounts Receivable
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Credit is extended based on evaluation of a customer�s financial condition. For certain customers, the Company may
require a (i) cash on delivery arrangement or (ii) collateral. Accounts receivable are stated at amounts due from
customers based on agreed upon payment terms, net of an allowance for doubtful accounts.

Inventories and Parts and Supplies

Raw materials, work in process and finished goods are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is
determined by the first in, first out method. The cost of work in process and finished goods includes the cost of raw
materials, direct labour and manufacturing overhead.

Parts and supplies are valued at the lower of cost and replacement cost.
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Intertape Polymer Group Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
(in US dollars, tabular amounts in thousands, except as otherwise noted)

2 � ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less applicable investment tax credits earned and are depreciated over
their estimated useful lives or, if lower, over the terms of the related leases using the straight-line method over the
following years:

Years

Buildings and building under capital lease 15 to 40
Manufacturing equipment 5 to 20
Computer equipment and software 3 to 10
Furniture, office equipment and other 3 to 7

The Company follows the policy of capitalizing interest during the construction and preproduction periods as part of
the cost of significant property, plant and equipment. Normal repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.
Expenditures constituting a betterment to the assets by way of change in capacities or extension of useful lives are
capitalized. Depreciation is not charged on new property, plant and equipment until they become operative.

Deferred Charges

Debt issue expenses, incurred in connection with the Company�s Asset-Based Loan (�ABL�), are deferred and amortized
on a straight-line basis over the term of the ABL. Other deferred charges are amortized on a straight-line basis over
the period of future benefit not exceeding five years as at December 31, 2008.

Debt issue expenses relating to long-term debt, other than debt issue expenses incurred in connection with a line of
credit or a revolving debt, such as the Company�s ABL, are capitalized against long-term debt and are amortized using
the effective interest rate method.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of distribution rights and customer contracts. These intangible assets were acquired through
an asset acquisition described in Note 11. The Company amortizes these intangible assets over their estimated useful
lives, of six years, using the straight-line method.
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Impairment of Long-lived Assets

Long-lived assets, such as property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, subject to amortization, are tested for
recoverability when events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable.
The carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable when it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows
expected from its use and eventual disposal. In such a case, an impairment loss must be recognized and is equivalent
to the excess of the carrying amount of a long-lived asset over its fair value.
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2 � ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill is the excess of the cost of acquired businesses over the net of the amounts assigned to assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not amortized. It is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it is impaired. Goodwill is allocated to reporting units and any potential
goodwill impairment is identified by comparing the carrying amount of a reporting unit with its fair value. If any
potential impairment is identified, it is quantified by comparing the carrying amount of goodwill to its fair value.
When the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds the fair value of the goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an
amount equal to the excess. The fair value of reporting units, for purposes of goodwill impairment testing, is
calculated as described in Note 12.

Transaction Costs

Transaction costs with respect to financial instruments not classified as held-for-trading, with the exception of a line
of credit or a revolving credit agreement, are recorded as an adjustment to the cost of the underlying financial
instruments, when they are recognized, and are amortized using the effective interest rate method.

Transaction costs incurred in connection with the securing of a line of credit or a revolving credit agreement are
capitalized as part of other assets, on the consolidated balance sheet, and subsequently amortized using the
straight-line method over the term of the agreement.

Transaction costs with respect to equity instruments are recorded as a reduction of the proceeds received.

Environmental Costs

The Company expenses, as incurred, recurring costs associated with managing hazardous substances in ongoing
operations. The Company also accrues the fair value of a liability for costs associated with the remediation of
environmental pollution in the period in which it is incurred and when a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made.

Pension and Post-Retirement Benefit Plans

The Company has defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans and other post-retirement benefit plans for
its Canadian and American employees.

The following policies are used with respect to the accounting for the defined benefit and other post-retirement benefit
plans:
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The cost of pensions and other post-retirement benefits earned by employees is actuarially determined using the
projected benefit method prorated on service and is charged to earnings as services are provided by the employees.
The calculations take into account management�s best estimate of expected plan investment performance, salary
escalation, retirement ages of employees, participants� mortality rates and expected health care costs;
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2 � ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

�

For the purpose of calculating the expected return on plan assets, those assets are valued at the market-related value
for certain plans and for other plans, at fair value. Market-related value of assets as at December 31 is determined
based on the assets� market value adjusted by a certain percentage, ranging from 20% to 80%, of the assets gains
(losses) from the prior four years, resulting in values within 80% to 120% of the assets actual market value. Assets
gains (losses) represent the difference between the assets� market value and their expected value. The assets� expected
value is determined as a function of the assets� prior year�s market value adjusted for contributions, benefits paid and
interest rate at the valuation date;

�

Past service costs from plan amendments are amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service
period of employees who are active at the date of amendment;

�

Actuarial gains (losses) arise from the difference between actual long-term rate of return on plan assets for a period
and the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for that period and from changes in actuarial assumptions used
to determine the accrued benefit obligation. The excess of the net accumulated actuarial gains (losses) over 10% of the
greater of the benefit obligations and the market-related value or the fair value of plan assets is amortized over the
average remaining service period of active employees covered by the plans;

�

On January 1, 2000, the Company adopted the new accounting standard on employee future benefits using the
prospective application method. The Company is amortizing the transitional obligations on a straight-line basis over
the average remaining service periods of employees expected to receive benefits under the benefit plans as at January
1, 2000;

�

When the restructuring of a benefit plan gives rise to both a curtailment and a settlement of obligations, the
curtailment is accounted for prior to the settlement;

�
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Defined contribution plan accounting is applied to a multiemployer defined benefit plan for which the Company has
insufficient information to apply defined benefit plan accounting.

Income Taxes

The Company provides for income taxes using the liability method of tax allocation. Under this method, future
income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on deductible or taxable temporary differences between the
financial statement values and tax values of assets and liabilities, using substantially enacted income tax rates
expected to be in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is
recognized to the extent the recoverability of future income tax assets is not considered to be more likely than not.

New Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Implemented

As at March 30, 2009, certain new primary sources of GAAP (�standards�) have been published but are not yet in effect.
The Company has not early adopted any of these standards. The new standards which could potentially impact the
Company�s consolidated financial statements are detailed as follows:
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2 - ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

�

Goodwill and intangible assets

In February 2008, the CICA published new Section 3064, �Goodwill and Intangible Assets�. This section which replaces
�Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets�, Section 3062, and �Research and Development Costs�, Section 3450, establishes
standards for the recognition, measurement and disclosure of goodwill and intangible assets. In addition, Section
1000, �Financial Statement Concepts� was amended to clarify the criteria for recognition of an asset. Finally, once a
company adopts this new section it may no longer apply the guidance in EIC Abstract 27, �Revenues and Expenditures
during the Pre-Operating Period�.

This section applies to interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after October 1,
2008 and the Company will implement it as of January 1, 2009. The Company does not anticipate that the application
of this new standard will have a material impact on its consolidated financial results upon adoption.

�

International financial reporting standards (�IFRS�)

In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board (�AcSB�) announced that, as at January 1, 2011,
publicly-accountable enterprises are expected to adopt IFRS. Accordingly, the Company expects to adopt these new
standards during its fiscal year beginning on January 1, 2011. The AcSB also stated that, during the transition period,
enterprises will be required to provide comparative IFRS information for the previous fiscal year. The IFRS issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (�IASB�) require additional financial statement disclosures and, while the
conceptual framework is similar to GAAP, enterprises will have to take account of differences in accounting
principles. The Company is currently assessing the impact of these new standards on its consolidated financial
statements, however at this time, it is not possible to reasonably determine the impact of this anticipated accounting
change on the Company�s consolidated financial results and position.

�

Credit risk and the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

On January 20, 2009, the EIC of the CICA approved abstract No. 173 �Credit risk and the fair value of financial assets
and financial liabilities� (�EIC-173�), which clarifies that an entity�s own credit risk and the credit risk of its counterparty
should be taken into account in determining the fair value of financial assets and liabilities. EIC-173 is to be applied
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retrospectively without restatement of prior periods to all financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in
interim and annual financial statements for periods ending on or after the date of issuance of this abstract. The
Company will implement the provisions of EIC-173 in its fair value determination of financial assets and liabilities as
at March 31, 2009. The Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting this new standard on its consolidated
financial statements.
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3  �  

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING CONSOLIDATED EARNINGS

2008 2007 2006
 $  $  $

Financial expenses
Interest on long-term debt 18,079 24,856 25,476
Amortization of debt issue expenses on long-term debt 934 2,646 989
Interest on credit facilities 244 237 913
Amortization of debt issue expenses on credit facilities 141 698 371
Interest capitalized to property, plant and equipment (1,033) (1,012) (1,093)

18,365 27,425 26,656

Other
Foreign exchange gain resulting from the reduction in net
investment in a foreign subsidiary (1) (899)
Foreign exchange loss (gain) 1,689 (996) (553)
Interest income and other 635 790 513

1,425 (206) (40)

Refinancing
Write-off of debt issue expenses in connection with debt
refinancing 3,111
Settlement of interest rate swap agreements 2,920

6,031

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 35,174 35,313 34,934
Amortization of other deferred charges 117 245 328
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Amortization of intangible assets 172
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 424 32,168
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 532 460 925
Write-down of inventory (2) 7,703
Inventories recognized as an expense 433,945 438,099 460,249
Investment tax credits recorded as a reduction of research
and development expenses 170 355

(1)

During the second quarter of 2008, the Company reclassified from consolidated accumulated other comprehensive
income, a foreign exchange gain  amounting to $0.9 million as a result of a partial repayment of notes previously
advanced to one of the Company�s self-sustaining foreign operations (the �Subsidiary�). This repayment ultimately
reduced the Company�s net investment in this Subsidiary.

(2)

Includes a write-down of raw material inventories to be purchased pursuant to unfavourable (onerous) firm purchase
commitments entered into by the Company amounting to approximately $2.3 million. The Company�s management
determined that the cost of the related finished goods, in which such raw materials will be ultimately incorporated into
upon their consumption in the production process, exceed their net realizable value as at December 31, 2008 and
accordingly, warrant a write-down.
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4  �  

MANUFACTURING FACILITY CLOSURES, RESTRUCTURING, STRATEGIC ALTERNATIVES AND
OTHER CHARGES

Year ended December 31, 2008

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company did not incur any additional costs in connection with its
manufacturing facility closures, restructuring, strategic alternatives and other charges given that the Company had
substantially completed all announced activities as at December 31, 2007. During the year ended December 31, 2008,
the Company settled, in non-cash charges and cash payments, previously recorded obligations relating to such
activities amounting to approximately $0.5 million and $0.8 million, respectively. In addition, and based on newly
available information, the Company revised its estimation regarding the site restoration obligation recorded in
connection with the previously closed Brighton, Colorado manufacturing facility, described later in this Note. This
estimate revision resulted in a reduction of the related obligation in the amount of $0.7 million.

As at December 31, 2008, the Company�s outstanding obligation in connection with manufacturing facility closures,
restructuring, strategic alternatives and other charges, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities, on the
Company�s consolidated balance sheet, amounted to approximately $0.4 million ($0.3 million and $0.1 million relating
to site restoration and restructuring, respectively).

Year ended December 31, 2007

The following table describes the significant charges incurred by the Company in connection with its strategic
alternative and restructuring processes, included in the Company�s consolidated statement of earnings for the year
ended December 31, 2007 under the caption manufacturing facility closures, restructuring, strategic alternatives and
other charges.

Manufacturing facility
closures

Severance
and other

labor
related
costs

Site
restoration Restructuring

Other
charges Total

$ $ $ $ $
272 2,394 3,162 335 6,163
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Balance as at January 1, 2007
included in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Staffing reductions (a) 1,327 1,327
Strategic alternatives process (b) 6,787 6,787

1,327 6,787 8,114
Cash payments 272 1,140 3,308 6,832 11,552
Non-cash charges 290 290
Balance as at December 31,
2007 included in accounts
payable and accrued liabilities 1,254 1,181 2,435
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4 -

MANUFACTURING FACILITY CLOSURES, RESTRUCTURING, STRATEGIC ALTERNATIVES AND
OTHER COSTS (Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2007 (continued)

(a)

In connection with the cost reduction initiatives commenced in 2006, the Company recorded $1.3 million in severance
and other labour related costs with respect to the staffing reductions undertaken by the Company. With respect to the
staffing reductions, the Company had incurred a total of $7.3 million as at December 31, 2007.

(b)

At the annual and special meeting of shareholders held on June 28, 2007, shareholders rejected, by a vote of
approximately 70%, a special resolution providing for the sale of all the outstanding common shares of the Company,
thereby terminating the strategic alternative process, which commenced in the late part of 2006. In connection with the
strategic alternative process and the termination thereof, the Company recorded a charge of approximately $5.5
million, bringing the total related cost to approximately $6.1 million. The $5.5 million incurred in 2007 is comprised
of a $1.8 million termination fee paid to the rejected acquirer and $3.7 million paid in professional fees and other
charges associated with this process.

In addition, the Company�s Interim Chief Executive Officer retired in the second half of 2007. In connection with his
retirement, the Company recorded a charge of approximately $1.1 million including $0.1 million in stock-based
compensation expense and $1.0 representing the recognition of the balance of his pension obligation. In addition, the
Company�s Chief Financial Officer retired on June 30, 2007. In regards to his retirement, the Company recorded a
charge of approximately $0.2 million in stock-based compensation expense.

The Company has substantively completed all announced restructurings and plant closures, as well as strategic
alternative activities and it does not expect any additional costs in future periods with respect to such initiatives.
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4 -

MANUFACTURING FACILITY CLOSURES, RESTRUCTURING, STRATEGIC ALTERNATIVES AND
OTHER COSTS (Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2006

The following table describes the significant charges incurred by the Company in connection with its restructuring
efforts, included in the Company�s consolidated statement of earnings for the year ended December 31, 2006 under the
caption manufacturing facility closures, restructuring, strategic alternatives and other charges.

Manufacturing Facility Closures

Impairment
of

long-lived
assets

Severance
and other

labor
related
costs

Site
Restoration Inventory Other Restructuring

Other
Charges Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Piedras Negras,
Mexico facility
closure (a) 961 519 1,403 326 3,209
Brighton,
Colorado
facility closure (b) 22,131 1,292 2,583 3,524 649 30,179
Environmental
remediation (c) 1,480 1,480
Facilities sale (d) 925 14 939
Gretna,
Virginia facility
closure (e) 1,225 42 1,515 402 3,184
Retirement of
Chief Executive
Officer (f) 9,900 9,900
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Canadian income trust
project (g) 3,940 3,940
Staffing reductions and
Chief Executive Officer
succession planning (h) 6,005 1,289 7,294
Termination of corporate
aircraft lease (i) 2,515 2,515
Credit facilities
amendments (j) 1,908 1,908
Impairment of long-lived
assets (k) 7,851 176 8,027
Patent litigations (l) 2,873 2,873
Strategic alternatives
process (m) 609 609

24,317 1,853 2,583 6,442 3,782 16,371 20,709 76,057
Cash payments 1,581 189 2,857 5,358 9,487 19,472
Non-cash charges 24,317 6,442 925 7,851 10,887 50,422
Balance as at December
31, 2006 included in
accounts payable and
accrued liabilities 272 2,394 3,162 335 6,163
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4 -

MANUFACTURING FACILITY CLOSURES, RESTRUCTURING, STRATEGIC ALTERNATIVES AND
OTHER COSTS (Continued)

Manufacturing Facility Closures

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company underwent significant changes including making several
revisions to its business model, which included the following: (1) seeking ways to restructure its business and reduce
costs to levels more proportionate with near term anticipated sales volume and gross margins; (2) expanding the use of
imported products and (3) exiting of several unprofitable customer accounts and streamlining product offerings,
particularly with respect to products sold to its consumer accounts. Consequently, the Company undertook the
following facility closures activities during the year ended December 31, 2006:

(a)

In the first quarter of 2006, the Company closed its flexible intermediate bulk container (�FIBC�) manufacturing facility
in Piedras Negras, Mexico. The total charge for closing this facility was $3.2 million, of which $2.4 million was
non-cash charges resulting from the impairment charge recorded to reflect the fair value of the machinery and
equipment which were idled upon closure of the facility, and inventories located in Piedras Negras in the amount of
$1.0 million and $1.4 million respectively. In addition, the Company incurred $0.5 million in severance and other
labour related costs in connection with the facility�s employees and $0.3 million in other costs associated with the
facility closure.

 (b)

The Company closed its manufacturing facility in Brighton, Colorado in early November 2006. The total costs for
severance, equipment relocation and facility restoration were approximately $1.3 million, $0.6 million and $2.6
million, respectively. The Company also recorded $25.7 million in non-cash charges as an impairment to reflect the
estimated recoverable value of the machinery and equipment, which were idled upon the closure of the facility and
inventories located in Brighton, in the amount of $22.1 million and $3.5 million, respectively.

(c)

In the second quarter of 2006, the Company recorded $1.5 million in additional remediation expenses at its Montreal
manufacturing facility that was closed in December 2004. The Company had originally estimated the cost of the
environmental remediation to be approximately $0.5 million. When remediation activities commenced in April 2006,
the Company was notified that excavation had uncovered additional soil contamination requiring remediation in
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excess of the original estimate. The remediation was completed during the third quarter and in October 2006, the
Company sold the property to a third party and has no residual environmental liability related to this site.

(d)

In June and July 2006, the Company sold the properties of two previously closed manufacturing facilities in
Edmunston, New Brunswick and Green Bay, Wisconsin. The Company realized net cash proceeds of approximately
$2.5 million and recorded a loss on disposition of approximately $0.9 million.

(e)

In an effort to improve its customer service levels and reduce related service costs, during 2006, the Company
implemented changes in the manner in which it handles packaging, sales and delivery of products to retail customers
in its consumer business. These changes required the closing of the Company�s repackaging facility in Gretna,
Virginia. The cost to close the facility totalled $3.2 million including $2.7 million of non-cash charges related to
adjusting discontinued inventories by approximately $1.5 million to estimated net realizable value, retiring
information technology systems amounting to $1.2 million and an additional $0.5 million in other charges associated
with the facility closure.
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4 -

MANUFACTURING FACILITY CLOSURES, RESTRUCTURING, STRATEGIC ALTERNATIVES AND
OTHER COSTS (Continued)

Restructuring and Other Charges

(f)

The Company�s founder, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors retired at the Company�s
annual shareholders� meeting on June 14, 2006. In connection with his retirement, the Company recorded charges
totalling $9.9 million including $1.5 million in accelerated stock-based compensation expense and $2.4 million related
to the recognition of the balance of his pension obligation.

(g)

As originally announced in December 2005, the Company investigated the possibility of selling a portion of its
interest in the combined coated products operation and FIBC business through an initial public offering of the
combined businesses using a Canadian Income Trust. On May 24, 2006, the Company announced that it had
indefinitely deferred the decision to proceed with this offering. Accordingly, during the second and third quarters of
2006, the Company recorded a net charge of $3.9 million representing the write-off of the fees and expenses incurred
in connection with the decision.

(h)

The Company made significant reductions in its staffing levels beginning in the second quarter of 2006 and continuing
through the remainder of the year. These staffing adjustments, coupled with Chief Executive Officer succession
planning costs resulted in restructuring and other charges of approximately $7.3 million.

(i)

In June 2006, the Company decided to exit its corporate aircraft lease, resulting in a charge of $2.5 million. The
Company successfully exited the corporate aircraft lease in the fourth quarter of 2006.

(j)

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company amended its credit facilities twice in order to accommodate
the various charges discussed herein, to allow for the goodwill impairment charge and to provide for the relaxation of
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the credit facilities� covenants. As a result, the Company incurred approximately $1.9 million in amendment fees.

(k)

The Company recorded property, plant and equipment impairment charges totalling $8.0 million in 2006 related to
efforts to streamline manufacturing operations through the elimination of redundant capacity as well as ongoing
revisions to product marketing strategies.

(l)

During the second quarter of 2006, the Company reassessed the recoverability of certain legal costs incurred in
defence of lawsuits alleging trademark infringement and concluded that the costs were no longer recoverable.
Accordingly, in the second quarter of 2006, the Company wrote-off approximately $2.9 million in legal costs related
to these claims.

(m)

On October 2, 2006, the Company announced that its Board of Directors was initiating a process to explore and
evaluate various strategic and financial alternatives available to enhance shareholder value. During the fourth quarter
of 2006, the Company incurred costs of approximately $0.6 million in connection with this process.
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5  �  

INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes (recovery) consists of the following:

2008 2007 2006
$ $ $

Current (566) 878 1,548
Future 4,006 11,439 (32,262)

3,440 12,317 (30,714)

The reconciliation of the combined federal and provincial statutory income tax rate to the Company�s effective income
tax rate is detailed as follows:

2008 2007 2006
% % %

Combined federal and provincial income tax rate 34.0 33.9 36.2
Foreign losses recovered at lower rates 1.4 7.7 0.4
Change in income tax rate 121.1
Impairment of goodwill (19.0) (17.2)
Non-deductible expenses 41.5 (1.2)
Impact of other differences (0.9) 44.2 (2.6)
Change in valuation allowance (19.3) 65.6
Effective income tax rate (3.8) 314.0 15.6

The net future income tax assets are detailed as follows:

2008 2007
$ $

Future income tax assets
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Trade and other receivables 61 220
Inventories 1,251 2,502
Property, plant and equipment 8,549 8,355
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,358 2,595
Derivative financial instruments 1,099 296
Tax credits, losses carry-forward and other tax deductions 105,597 112,369
Pension and post-retirement benefits 275 804
Goodwill 12,339 4,337
Other 599 1,050
Valuation allowance (24,295) (14,286)

106,833 118,242
Future income tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment 50,448 52,467
Pension and post-retirement benefits 254 554

50,702 53,021
Total net future income tax assets 56,131 65,221

Net current future income tax assets 9,064 11,231
Net long-term future income tax assets 47,067 53,990
Total net future income tax assets 56,131 65,221
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5 - INCOME TAXES (Continued)

As at December 31, 2008, the Company has $39.6 million (CAD$48.3 million) of Canadian operating losses
carry-forward expiring in 2009 through 2028, of which $7.3 million (CAD$8.9 million) were not recognized as future
income tax assets, and $221.6 million of US federal and state operating losses expiring in 2010 through 2028, of
which $38.2 million were not recognized as future income tax assets.

Canada United States
Federal Provincial

$ $ $
2009 17.2 17.2
2010 6.7 6.7 0.2
2011 3.5
2012 8.8
2014 1.2 1.2
2015 2.0 2.0
2018 4.6
2019 15.0
2020 11.9
2021 50.9
2022 33.9
2023 34.8
2024 8.9
2026 6.0 6.0 27.2
2027 4.4 4.4
2028 2.1 2.1 21.9

39.6 39.6 221.6

In assessing the realizability of future income tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that
some portion or all of the future income tax assets will not be realized. Management considers the scheduled reversal
of future income tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment.
The Company expects the future income tax assets, net of the valuation allowance, as at December 31, 2008, to be
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realized as a result of the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, projection of taxable income and tax
planning strategies implementation.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company�s management revised its assessment of the recoverability of
the Company�s future income tax assets. Accordingly, the Company recorded a $10.0 million net increase to its future
income tax assets� valuation allowance consisting primarily of the following: i) a $16.5 million increase with respect to
the long-term uncertainties inherent in the recent worldwide credit crisis and economic slowdown, ii) a $5.5 million
decrease in connection with the improved financial performance of the Company�s Engineered Coated Products
Division and management�s ability to take advantage of certain income tax planning strategies, and iii) a $1.0 million
decrease regarding the foreign exchange impact due to the significant weakening of the Canadian dollar.
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5 - INCOME TAXES (Continued)

During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company recorded a $1.8 million increase to its income tax assets�
valuation allowance. The increase in the valuation allowance was based on the Company�s expectation that certain
Canadian net operating losses scheduled to expire in future years, will likely not be utilized, mitigated in part by the
expected utilization of certain net operating losses in the US that had previously been provided for.

6  �  

EARNINGS PER SHARE

2008 2007 2006
$ $ $

Net loss (92,799) (8,393) (166,693)

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 58,956,348  45,286,644  40,980,939

Basic loss per share (1.57) (0.19) (4.07)
Diluted loss per share (1.57) (0.19) (4.07)

The following number of options were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because to do so
would have been anti-dilutive for the periods presented:

2008 2007 2006

Options 3,511,462 3,976,337 3,154,028

7  �  

OTHER RECEIVABLES

2008 2007
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$ $
Income and other taxes 390 266
Supplier rebates receivable 1,438 402
Sales taxes 827 1,761
Other 1,438 541

4,093 2,970
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8  �  

INVENTORIES

2008 2007
$ $

Raw materials 23,645 32,244
Work in process 19,706 18,875
Finished goods 47,495 48,363

90,846 99,482

The carrying amount of inventories carried at net realizable value is as follows as at December 31, 2008:

$
Cost 40,877
Write-down to net realizable value (1) 5,379
Carrying amount 35,498

(1)

Excludes the write-down of inventories to be purchased pursuant to firm purchase commitments as described in
Note 20.

9  �  

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2008

Cost
Accumulated
depreciation Net

$ $ $
Land 3,708 3,708
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Buildings 76,498 35,897 40,601
Manufacturing equipment 489,713 273,620 216,093
Computer equipment and software 66,850 52,088 14,762
Furniture, office equipment and other 2,687 2,579 108
Construction in progress 14,491 14,491

653,947 364,184 289,763

2007

Cost
Accumulated
depreciation Net

$ $ $
Land 4,024 4,024
Buildings 79,286 36,952 42,334
Manufacturing equipment 505,805 265,358 240,447
Computer equipment and software 65,165 46,822 18,343
Furniture, office equipment and other 3,077 2,778 299
Construction in progress 12,419 12,419

669,776 351,910 317,866
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9 � PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Included in property, plant and equipment are assets under capital lease, primarily a building and computer hardware,
with cost and accumulated amortization of $11,782 and $5,269, respectively ($11,619 and $4,256, respectively in
2007).

10  �  

OTHER ASSETS

2008 2007
$ $

Debt issue expenses and other deferred charges, at amortized cost 3,115 1,086
Loans to officers and directors, without interest, various repayment terms 108 108
Accrued pension benefit asset 10,866 9,805
Employees relocation program 91 2,951
Investment tax credits recoverable 5,621 6,446
Funds held in guarantor trust to satisfy future pension obligation 1,748 1,844
Other 815 936

22,364 23,176

11  �  

 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the �Agreement�).
Under the Agreement the Company acquired a group of assets (the �Group�) for total consideration of CAD$5.5 million
(the �Purchase Price�). The Group comprised both tangible and intangible assets primarily consisting of machines,
distribution rights and customer contracts. Under the distribution rights, the Company committed to distribute and sell
manufacturing machines and technology and attain specific thresholds in this respect over a period of 61 months
terminating in September 2013 (the �Commitment�). The assets acquired complement the Company�s product offerings
and customer base as part of its Engineered Coated Products Division.
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The Purchase Price amounted to CAD$5.5 million, of which CAD$4.4 million was paid in cash, and the balance, of
approximately CAD$1.1 million, is included in the Company�s accounts payable and accrued liabilities on its
consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2008. The Purchase Price attributed to the machines acquired amounted
to CAD$0.8 million (USD$0.7 million), and is included under the caption property, plant and equipment on the
Company�s consolidated cash flows.

The Company determined the fair value of each of the assets acquired in the Group. The Purchase Price paid was then
allocated to each asset acquired, on the basis, of the assets relative fair value.

As at December 31, 2008, the intangible assets recognized including their costs and respective accumulated
amortization are as follows:  

Cost
Accumulated
amortization Net

$ $ $
Distribution rights 3,090 129 2,961
Customer contracts 1,038 43 995

4,128 172 3,956
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9 � INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The Agreement provides for additional consideration to be paid in connection with the Company�s Commitment.
However, within the first two years of the Agreement, the machines acquired must attain certain market acceptance
parameters or the Company has the right to renegotiate the Commitment with the vendor and if such renegotiation is
not concluded on terms satisfactory to the Company, and if the vendor remains unable to resolve the issues to the
satisfaction of the Company, then the Commitment will be relieved. Accordingly, as at December 31, 2008, the
Company i) was not in the position to determine, beyond a reasonable doubt, the outcome of its Commitment and ii)
concluded that the vendor retains future performance obligations under the provisions of the Agreement.
Consequently, the Company will account for these contingencies upon their resolution as part of the cost of the
machines acquired or as performance penalties to be charged to net earnings.

12  �  

GOODWILL

The Company performs an annual goodwill impairment test as at December 31. In the fourth quarter of 2007, the
Company realigned its organizational and related internal reporting structures as described in Note 18. Consequently,
the goodwill was reassigned to two new reporting units using a relative fair value allocation approach. As at
December 31, 2008, the carrying amount of goodwill assigned to the Tapes and Films Division and to the Engineered
Coated Products Division was nil ($58.1 million and $12.2 million, respectively in 2007). The Company calculates the
fair value of each reporting unit using the discounted cash flows method.

As at December 31, 2008, and in connection with the worldwide credit crisis and economic slowdown which unfolded
during the latter part of the year, management revised its estimates of growth and future business activities. This
revision included, among others, a detailed assessment of: i) its operating markets, ii) operating plans and budgets and
iii) other areas where the Company�s business might be adversely impacted by the changing operating environment. As
a result of these assessments, management concluded that the Company�s future business activities and underlying
markets have suffered adverse consequences in connection with the worldwide credit crisis and economic slowdown
and consequently, reduced its related future cash flows and revenue projections. Accordingly, the Company recorded a
goodwill impairment charge in its consolidated earnings amounting to $66.7 million (nil in 2007).

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows:

Edgar Filing: INTERTAPE POLYMER GROUP INC - Form 6-K

139



2008 2007
$ $

Balance, beginning of year 70,250 63,746
Contingent consideration 300
Impairment (66,726)
Foreign exchange impact (3,524) 6,204
Balance, end of year 70,250

During the three months ended September 30, 2006, the Company performed a comprehensive assessment of its
business and operating plans, in light of the significant changes to the underlying business. As a result of this
assessment, the Company conducted a goodwill impairment test as at September 30, 2006. This resulted in a charge to
the consolidated earnings of $120.0 million. No further impairment was required as at December 31, 2006.
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13  �  

BANK INDEBTEDNESS

Refinancing

On March 27, 2008, the Company successfully refinanced its entire senior secured credit facility (the �Facility�), which
included the Company�s revolving credit facility and term loan, with a five-year, $200.0 million ABL entered into with
a syndicate of financial institutions. The ABL is described in more detail in Note 14.

In connection with this refinancing, the Company has reported a refinancing charge amounting to $6.0 million,
comprised of $3.1 million representing the write-off of debt issue expenses incurred in connection with the issuance
and subsequent amendments of the Facility and $2.9 million representing the settlement of the interest rate swap
agreements, designated as cash flow hedges, on a portion of the term loan, as described in Note 21.

Finally, in securing the ABL the Company incurred debt issue expenses amounting to approximately $2.8 million,
primarily comprised of $1.4 million paid to the primary lender and $1.4 million representing professional and other
fees. These expenses were capitalized as part of other assets, on the Company�s consolidated balance sheet, and are
amortized over the term of the ABL of five years using the straight-line method.

Revolving Credit Facility

On August 8, 2007, the Company successfully amended its credit facilities to accommodate the costs of its strategic
alternatives process. The Company paid a fee to its lenders of approximately $0.6 million that was deferred and
amortized over the remaining term of the related revolving credit facility. The amendment resulted in an increase to
the loan premium under both the Company�s term loan, as described in Note 14, and its revolving credit facility.
Additionally, the amendment reduced the Company�s maximum revolving credit facility from $75.0 million to $60.0
million and as a result of this reduction, the Company recorded a charge of approximately $0.3 million in its
consolidated earnings representing the write-off of a portion of debt issue expenses related to the revolving credit
facility. This charge was included under the caption financial expenses - interest.

As at December 31, 2007, the Company had an available US$60.0 million revolving credit facility with a five-year
term expiring in July 2009 which comprised US$52.0 million available in US dollars and US$8.0 million available in
Canadian dollars. Any loans drawn under the facility bear interest at various interest rates including (i) US prime rate
plus a premium varying between 225 and 325 basis points (100 and 200 basis points prior to August 8, 2007) (300
basis points as at December 31, 2007); (ii) Canadian prime rate plus a premium varying between 225 and 325 basis
points (100 and 200 basis points prior to August 8, 2007) (300 basis points as at December 31, 2007); and (iii) LIBOR
plus a premium varying between 325 and 425 basis points (200 and 300 basis points prior to August 8, 2007) (400
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basis points as at December 31, 2007), depending on whether certain financial ratios had been achieved. As at
December 31, 2007, the revolving credit facility had not been drawn. The revolving credit facility available, as a result
of covenant restrictions, was $57.9 million, after considering outstanding letters of credit of $2.1 million.
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14  �  

LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt consists of the following:

2008 2007
$ $

Senior subordinated notes (a)(1) 121,184 120,697
Asset-based loan (b) 114,000
Term loan (c) (1) 114,482
Obligations under capital leases (d) 6,789 7,532
Term debt (e) 7,693
Mortgage loan (f) 1,759
Other debt (g) 648

251,425 243,359
Less: Installments on long-term debt 623 3,074

250,802 240,285

(1)

The senior subordinated notes and the term loan are presented net of related debt issue expenses and are amortized
using the effective interest rate method, as described in Note 2, amounting to $3.8 million and nil, respectively in 2008
($4.3 million and $2.5 million, respectively in 2007).

(a)

Senior Subordinated Notes

Senior subordinated notes bearing interest at 8.5%, payable semi-annually on February 1 and August 1. The principal
is due on August 1, 2014. The effective interest rate of the senior subordinated notes is 9.21%.

The Company and all of its subsidiaries, which are all wholly-owned directly or indirectly by the Company, other than
the subsidiary issuer, have guaranteed the senior subordinated notes. The senior subordinated notes were issued and
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the guarantees executed pursuant to an indenture dated July 28, 2004. All of the guarantees are full, unconditional,
joint and several. There are no significant restrictions on the ability of the Company or any guarantor to obtain funds
from its subsidiaries by dividend or loan. The Company, on a non-consolidated basis, has no independent assets or
operations. The subsidiary issuer is an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and has nominal assets and
no operations.

(b)

Asset-Based Loan

Five-year, $200.0 million ABL bearing interest at LIBOR plus a premium varying between 150 and 225 basis points
depending on the loan�s remaining availability (200 basis points as at December 31, 2008). The loan premium
remained unchanged and fixed at 175 basis points up to and including September 2008 and subsequently increased to
200 basis points. As at December 31, 2008, the effective interest rate on the ABL was 4.13%, taking into account the
effect of the interest rate swap agreements described in Note 21.
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14 - LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued)

The amount of the borrowing available to the Company under the ABL is determined by its applicable borrowing base
from time to time. The borrowing base is calculated as a function of a percentage of eligible trade receivables,
inventories and property, plant and equipment as defined in the ABL agreement.

Under the ABL agreement, the Company�s remaining unencumbered real estate is subject to a negative pledge in
favour of the ABL lenders. However, the Company retains the ability to secure financing, on all or a portion of, its
owned real estate thereby subordinating the negative pledge to the ABL lenders up to an amount of $35.0 million of
the real estate financing secured. During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company obtained a $1.8 million
mortgage financing on its owned real estate located in Bradenton, Florida.

As at December 31, 2008, the ABL�s borrowing base amounted to $153.7 million of which $118.3 million was drawn,
including $4.3 million in letters of credit. Accordingly, the Company�s unused availability amounted to $35.4 million.

The ABL is secured by a first priority lien on the Company�s, and substantially all of its subsidiaries�, trade receivables,
inventories and property, plant and equipment with a carrying amount of $75.5 million, $90.8 million and
$289.8 million, respectively as at December 31, 2008.

The ABL contains one financial covenant, described in Note 21, which becomes enforceable only when unused
availability is under $25.0 million. As at December 31, 2008, the Company�s availability on its ABL exceeded
$25.0 million and accordingly, the related financial covenant was not applicable.

In line with the Company�s interest rate risk policy to mitigate the risk associated with its variable interest rate debt
instruments, including a portion of its ABL, the Company entered into two interest rate swap agreements designated
as cash flow hedges. These interest rate swap agreements as well as the Company�s interest rate risk policy are
described in Note 21.

(c)

Term Loan

Term loan, which was refinanced, bore interest at LIBOR plus a premium varying between 325 and 425 basis points
depending on whether a certain financial ratio had been achieved (400 basis points as at December 31, 2007), payable
in quarterly instalments of $0.5 million until June 30, 2010, followed by two quarterly instalments of $47.1 million
and a final payment of $17.8 million in March 2011. In addition to the quarterly instalments of $0.5 million through
June 30, 2010, the term loan required annual mandatory principal prepayments 90 days after year-end based on a
percentage of �Excess Cash Flow� as defined in the Senior Secured Credit Facility. On March 30, 2007, the Company
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repaid $15.6 million of the term loan pursuant to the �Excess Cash Flow� calculation.

On August 8, 2007, the Company successfully amended the terms of its term loan to accommodate the costs of its
strategic alternatives process. The Company paid a fee to its lenders of approximately $1.7 million that was
capitalized against the term loan and was amortized using the effective interest method.
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14 - LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued)

In addition, pursuant to the rights offering described in Note 15, the Company used the proceeds from the rights
offering to repay $60.9 million of the term loan. As a result, the Company recorded a charge of approximately $1.2
million in its consolidated earnings reflecting the write-off of a portion of the deferred debt issue expenses relating to
the portion of the term loan repaid. This charge is included under the caption financial expenses - interest.

(d)

Obligations under Capital Leases

The Company has obligations under capital leases for the rental of a building and computer hardware, bearing interest
at rates varying between 5.1% to 8.6% (0.6% to 5.1% as at December 31, 2007), payable in monthly instalments
ranging from $867 to $47,817 ($359 to $47,817 in 2007), including interest and maturing on various dates until 2024.

(e)

Term debt

In the second quarter of 2008, the Company�s wholly-owned subsidiary entered into a long-term loan agreement,
containing two debt instruments, totalling approximately $7.7 million, with each instrument bearing interest at a rate
of Euribor (2.97% as at December 31, 2008) plus a premium (125 basis points as at December 31, 2008) increasing
semi-annually by 75 basis points. Under the terms of the agreement, only monthly interest payments are required for
the first two years followed by eight equal semi-annually principal payments amounting to $0.3 million and
$0.6 million for each of the instruments commencing on January 2010 and November 2010, respectively. The term
debt is secured by a comfort letter issued to the lender by the Company in favour of its wholly-owned subsidiary.

(f)

Mortgage loan

On September 29, 2008, the Company obtained a $1.8 million mortgage loan on its owned real estate located in
Bradenton, Florida having a net book value of $0.8 million as at December 31, 2008. The mortgage is for a period of
20 years, bearing interest at 7.96%, and thereafter, the applicable interest rate will adjust every three years to a 355
basis points spread over the 10-year Interest Rate Swap published in the daily release of the Federal Reserve. The
mortgage requires monthly payments of principal and interest amounting to $14,723.

(g)
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Other Debt

In 2007, the Company had other debt consisting primarily of a bond bearing a fixed interest rate of 8.03%. These debt
instruments were fully repaid in 2008.
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14 - LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued)

Long-term debt repayments are due as follows:

Obligations
under capital

leases

Other
long-term

loans
$ $

2009 955 41
2010 721 1,201
2011 637 2,012
2012 574 2,016
2013 574 116,020
Thereafter 6,121 127,162
Total payments 9,582 248,452
Interest expense included in minimum lease payments 2,793
Total 6,789 248,452

15  �  

CAPITAL STOCK

Authorized

Unlimited number of shares without par value

Common shares, voting and participating

Class �A� preferred shares, issuable in series, ranking in priority to the common shares with respect to dividends and
return of capital on dissolution. The Board of Directors is authorized to fix, before issuance, the designation, rights,
privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to the shares of each series.

Share Repurchase
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The Company announced a normal course issuer bid effective August 28, 2008. In connection with this normal course
issuer bid, the Company is entitled to repurchase for cancellation up to 2,947,817 of its 58,956,348 common shares
issued and outstanding, representing 5% of the Company�s common shares issued and outstanding as at that date.

In accordance with the TSX policies, a maximum daily repurchase of 25% of the daily volume trading averages for
the six months preceding August 13, 2008 may be made. In addition, the Company may make, once per calendar
week, a block purchase, as defined by the TSX Manual, of its common shares. The normal course issuer bid will result
in a reduction of the common shares in circulation and the proportionate interest of all remaining shareholders will be
increased on a pro rata basis.

The normal course issuer bid will end no later than August 27, 2009. All shares purchased under the normal course
issuer bid were cancelled.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company�s common shares repurchased for cancellation under the
normal course issuer bid were insignificant.
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15 � CAPITAL STOCK (Continued)

Rights Offering

On September 13, 2007, the Company completed a shareholder�s rights offering. The rights offering granted the
shareholders the right to subscribe to one common share of the Company for each 1.6 rights held. The offering raised
$60.9 million net of related expenses of $1.9 million. The proceeds were received from several major shareholders,
directors and senior officers, including one former senior officer. In connection with the rights offering, the Company
issued 17,969,408 common shares during the fourth quarter of 2007. Directors and senior officers of the Company
subscribed to 1,508,304 common shares amounting to gross proceeds of $5.2 million. The proceeds from the rights
offering were used to repay a portion, amounting to $60.9 million, of the Company�s term loan.

Shareholder�s Protection Rights Plan

On June 14, 2006, the shareholders voted to adopt amendments to extend the Shareholder�s Protection Rights Plan
through the date immediately following the date of the Company's 2009 annual shareholders' meeting. The effect of
the Shareholder�s Protection Rights Plan is to require anyone who seeks to acquire 20% or more of the Company�s
voting shares to make a bid complying with specific provisions of the plan.

Stock Options

On September 5, 2007, the Company amended its executive stock option plan. Under the amended plan, options may
be granted to the Company's executives, directors and employees for the purchase of up to a total of 10% of the
Company�s issued and outstanding common shares. Options expire no later than 10 years after the date of the grant.
The plan provides that such options granted to employees and executives will vest and may be exercisable 25% per
year over four years. The options granted to directors, who are not officers of the Company, will vest and may be
exercisable 25% on the grant date, and a further 25% will vest and may be exercisable per year over three years.

All options are granted at a price determined and approved by the Board of Directors, which cannot be less than the
average of the closing price of the common shares on the TSX and New York Stock Exchange for the day
immediately preceding the grant date.
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15 - CAPITAL STOCK (Continued)

The changes in number of options outstanding were as follows:

2008 2007 2006
Weighted
average
exercise

price
Number of

options

Weighted
average
exercise

price
Number of

options

Weighted
average
exercise

price

Number of
options

$ $ $
Balance, beginning of year 6.44 3,976,337 8.74 3,154,028 9.18 3,919,251
Granted 3.44 200,000 3.45 1,651,184 8.15 549,000
Exercised 4.54 (29,366)
Forfeited 3.99 (163,250) 8.88 (485,125)
Expired 10.08 (501,625) 9.85 (343,750) 10.57 (1,284,857)
Balance, end of year 5.91 3,511,462 6.44 3,976,337 8.74 3,154,028

Options exercisable at the end of
the year 1,997,680

1,909,364 1,811,132

The following table summarizes information about options outstanding and exercisable as at December 31, 2008:

Options outstanding Options exercisable

Number

Weighted
average

contractual
life (years)

Weighted
average
exercise

price Number

Weighted
average
exercise

price
Range of exercise prices $ $
$3.44 to $4.41 1,902,684 3.5 3.54 606,796 3.67
$6.60 to $9.10 1,206,778 2.2 7.91 990,634 7.90
$10.87 to $12.32 390,000 1.5 10.92 388,250 10.91
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$17.65 12,000 1.1 17.65 12,000 17.65
3,511,462 2.4 5.91 1,997,680 7.26
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15 - CAPITAL STOCK (Continued)

The Company uses the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based compensation expense and other
stock-based payments. Accordingly, the Company recorded a pre-tax stock-based compensation expense of
approximately $1.3 million in 2008, $1.8 million in 2007 and $2.0 million in 2006.

For stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company is required to make pro forma
disclosures of net earnings and basic and diluted earnings per share as if the fair value based method of accounting had
been applied. The stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2002, were fully vested as at
December 31, 2006. Consequently, there is no further pro forma impact on net loss for years ended subsequent to
December 31, 2006.

Accordingly, the Company�s net loss and basic and diluted loss per share, for the year ended December 31, 2006,
would have been increased to the pro forma amounts indicated in the following table:

$

Net loss - as reported (166,693)
Add: Stock-based compensation expense included in reported net loss 2,022
Deduct: Total stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value
based method (2,163)
Pro forma net loss (166,834)

Loss per share:
Basic - as reported (4.07)
Basic - pro forma (4.07)
Diluted - as reported (4.07)
Diluted - pro forma (4.07)

The fair value of options granted was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into account the
following weighted average assumptions:

2008 2007 2006
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Expected life 5.5 years 5.2 years 5.5 years
Expected volatility 50% 52% 55%
Risk-free interest rate 3.13% 3.27% 4.80%
Expected dividends $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

The weighted average fair value per option granted is:

2008 2007 2006
$ $ $

1.14 3.27 4.49

In the course of 2008, 200,000 stock options were granted at exercise prices exceeding the market price of the
Company's common shares at the date of the grant. The exercise price and fair value of these options were $3.44 and
$1.14, respectively.
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16  �  

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The components of other accumulated comprehensive income as at December 31 are as follows:

2008 2007
$

Accumulated currency translation adjustments 34,422 67,965

Fair value of interest rate swap agreements, designated as cash flow hedges
resulting from the initial application of accounting for hedges 1,138
Cumulative changes in fair value of interest rate swap agreements (net of future
income taxes of $948, $964 in 2007) (1,613) (1,641)

(1,613) (503)
Cumulative changes in fair value of forward foreign exchange rate contracts
(net of future income taxes of $151) (257)

32,552 67,462

17  �  

PENSION AND POST-RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Company has several defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans for substantially all its employees in
both Canada and the United States. These plans are generally contributory in Canada and non-contributory in the
United States.

Total Cash Payments

Total cash payments for employee future benefits for 2008, consisting of cash contributed by the Company to its
funded pension plans, cash payments directly to beneficiaries for its unfunded other benefit plans, cash contributed to
its defined contribution plans and cash contributed to its multi-employer defined benefit plans, were $5.8 million
($7.1 million in 2007 and $8.7 million in 2006).
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Defined Contribution Plans

In the United States, the Company maintains a savings retirement plan (401(k) Plan) for the benefit of certain
employees who have been employed for at least 90 days. Contribution to this plan is at the discretion of the Company.
The Company also maintains 401(k) plans according to the terms of certain collective bargaining agreements.

The Company contributes as well to its multi-employer plans for employees covered by certain collective bargaining
agreements.

In Canada, the Company maintains defined contribution pension plans for its salaried employees and contributes
amounts equal to 4% of each participant's eligible salary.

The Company has expensed $2.8 million for these plans for the year ended December 31, 2008 ($2.7 million and
$2.3 million in 2007 and 2006, respectively).
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17 � PENSION AND POST-RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

Defined Benefit Plans

The Company has, in the United States, three defined benefit plans (hourly and salaried). Benefits for employees are
based on compensation and years of service for salaried employees and fixed benefits per month for each year of
service for hourly employees.

In Canada, certain non-union hourly employees of the Company are covered by a plan which provides a fixed benefit
of CAD$20.00 in 2008, 2007 and 2006 (USD$18.79 in 2008, USD$20.44 in 2007 and USD$17.15 in 2006) per month
for each year of service. In addition, the Company maintains a defined benefit plan, which provides for a fixed benefit
at a rate ranging from 40% to 62.5% (40% to 50.0% and 50% to 62.5% in 2007 and 2006, respectively) of the
employee contributions, depending on the participation start date.

In the United States, the Company provides group health care and life insurance benefits to certain retirees.

In Canada, the Company provides group health care, dental and life insurance benefits for eligible retired employees.

Supplementary Executive Retirement Plans

The Company has Supplementary Executive Retirement Plans (�SERPs�) to provide supplemental pension benefits to
certain key executives. The SERPs are not funded and provide for an annual pension benefit, from retirement or
termination date, in the amounts ranging from $0.2 million to $0.3 million, annually. The SERPs had accrued benefit
obligations as at December 31, 2008 of $4.4 million ($4.6 million in 2007).

In 2007, the Company recorded a charge of approximately $1.0 million representing the recognition of the balance of
past service costs relating to a member of senior management�s pension obligation.

The Company�s founder, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors retired in 2006. In
connection with his retirement, the Company recorded a charge of approximately $2.4 million representing the
recognition of the balance of his pension obligation.

Acquisition and Plan Termination

One of the pension plans acquired with the Flexia acquisition, in 2005, was terminated in 2006 with the termination of
employees due to the closure of one of the facilities purchased. This termination was taken into account at the time of
the acquisition in the valuation of the accrued benefit obligations. The termination resulted in a curtailment gain of
$0.2 million and a settlement loss of $0.5 million.
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17 � PENSION AND POST-RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

Investment Policy

The Company's Investment Committee comprised of the Company�s Chief Financial Officer and Vice President,
Human Resources, established a target mix of equities and bonds of 70% equities and 30% bonds over time. In
January 2003, the Committee determined, with assistance from the investment manager and trustee, to temporarily
increase the allocation for the US plans to 80% equity and 20% bonds due to the performance, current and expected,
in the bond market and the expected appreciation in the small and midcap equity markets. The increased investment in
those markets was 7.5% target in small cap and 2.5% in midcap. That direction was reviewed with the same advisors,
and the Committee determined to continue this approach at its meeting in 2005. In February 2006, the Committee
revised the target mix back to 70% equity and 30% bonds. The relatively heavy emphasis on equities is due to the
better performance over time in equities versus bonds and the fact that the Company's pension funds do not have a
large number of current recipients. In Canada, the funds of the non-union plans are split evenly between two balanced
mutual funds, thus, over time, achieving the target mix of 70% equities and 30% bonds. The funds of the union plans
have a target equity weighing ranging from 45% to 65%.

The rate of return decision is a function of advice from the Company's actuaries and their review of current holdings,
general market trends and common levels used by other employers.

Measurement Date and Date of Actuarial Valuations

The Company measures its plan assets and accrued benefit obligations for accounting purposes as at December 31 of
each year.

The most recent actuarial valuations for funding purposes were October 1, 2007 and January 1, 2008 for the US plans
and October 2, 2005, December 31, 2005 and September 30, 2006 for the Canadian plans.

The next valuation dates for actuarial valuations to be used for funding purposes are October 1, 2008 and January 1,
2009 for the US plans and December 31, 2008 and September 30, 2009 for the Canadian plans.
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17 - PENSION AND POST-RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

Information relating to the various plans is as follows:

Pension Plans Other plans
2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Accrued benefit obligations
Balance, beginning of year 53,540 52,948 3,432 3,266
Current service cost 1,057 1,393 75 82
Plan participants� contributions 100 135
Plan amendments 649 33
Interest cost 3,163 2,961 189 178
Benefits paid (1,857) (1,859) (73) (68)
Actuarial gains (711) (4,301) (654) (425)
Foreign exchange rate adjustment (3,050) 2,263 (397) 399
Balance, end of year 52,891 53,540 2,605 3,432

Plans assets
Balance, beginning of year 46,576 39,977
Actual return on plans assets (10,266) 1,691
Employer contributions 3,104 4,170
Plan participants' contributions 100 135
Benefits paid (1,857) (1,859)
Foreign exchange rate adjustment (3,077) 2,462
Balance, end of year 34,580 46,576

Funded status � deficit 18,311 6,964 2,605 3,432
Unamortized past service costs (2,730) (2,500) (39) (6)
Unamortized net actuarial gains (losses) (20,726) (8,444) 852 424
Unamortized transition assets (obligation) 82 109 (15) (19)
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Accrued benefit liability (accrued pension
benefit asset) (5,063) (3,871) 3,403 3,831

Included in the above accrued benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets as at December 31, are the following
amounts in respect of plans that are not fully funded:

Pension plans
2008 2007
$ $

Accrued benefit obligation 42,978 44,546
Fair value of plan assets 22,538 36,051
Funded status � plan deficit 20,440 8,495

Weighted average plan assets allocations as at December 31:

 Pension Plans
2008 2007

Asset category % %
Equity securities 55 69
Debt securities 35 30
Other 10 1
Total 100 100
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17 - PENSION AND POST-RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

The accrued benefit liability (accrued pension benefit asset) is included in the Company�s consolidated balance sheets
as follows:

 Pension plans
Other
plans

Total
plans

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $ $ $

Other assets (Note 10) (10,866) (9,805) (10,866) (9,805)
Pension and post-retirement benefits 5,803 5,934 3,403 3,831 9,206 9,765

(5,063) (3,871) 3,403 3,831 (1,660) (40)
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17 - PENSION AND POST-RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

Net Benefit Cost

 Pension plans
Other
plans

2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
$ $ $ $ $ $

Current service cost 1,057 1,393 1,289 75 82 75
Interest cost 3,163 2,961 2,887 189 178 171
Actual return on plans assets 10,266 (1,691) (4,109)
Plan amendments 649 33
Actuarial (gains) losses (711) (4,301) 1,823 (654) (425) (42)
Curtailment (gain) loss 1,083 (150)
Settlement loss 529
Elements of employee future
benefit costs before adjustments to
recognize the long-term nature of
employee future benefit costs 14,424 (555) 2,269 (357) (165) 204
Adjustments to recognize the
long-term nature of employee future
benefit costs:
Difference between expected return
and actual return on plan assets for
the year (13,929) (1,694) 1,148
Difference between actuarial loss
recognized for the year and actual
actuarial loss (gain) on accrued
benefit obligations for the year 1,029 4,959 1,532 626 411 43
Difference between amortization of
past service costs for the year and
actual plan amendments for the year (350) 383 464 (33) 1
Amortization of transition
obligations (assets) (6) (6) (5) 4 4 4
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(13,256) 3,642 3,139 597 416 47
Net benefit cost for the year 1,168 3,087 5,408 240 251 251
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17 - PENSION AND POST-RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

The average remaining service period of the active employees covered by the pension plans ranges from 9.7 to 24.7
years for 2008 and from 10.60 to 24.50 years for 2007.

The significant assumptions, which management considers the most likely, and which were used to measure its
accrued benefit obligations and net periodic benefit costs are as follows:

Weighted-average assumption used to determine benefit obligations as at December 31:

Pension plans Other plans
2008 2007 2008 2007

Discount rate
US plans 6.20% 6.40% 6.33% 5.75%
Canadian plans 7.50% 5.90% 7.50% 5.90%
Compensation increase 3.25% 3.25%
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17 - PENSION AND POST-RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

Weighted-average assumption used to determine net benefit cost for the years ended December 31:

 Pension plans
Other
plans

2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
Discount rate
US plans 6.40% 5.80% 5.75% 5.75% 5.65% 5.75%
Canadian plans 5.90% 5.30% 5.25% 5.90% 5.25% 5.25%
Compensation increase 3.25% 3.25% 3.25%
Expected long term return on plan
assets
US plans 8.50% 8.50% 8.50%
Canadian plans 7.00% 7.00% 7.00%
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17 - PENSION AND POST-RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

For measurement purposes, a 9% annual rate increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits for the US
plans was assumed for 2008 (9% in 2007 and 10% in 2006). The assumed rate is expected to decrease to 5% by 2015.
For the Canadian plans, the annual trend rate is 8% for the next 9 years and 5% thereafter. An increase or decrease of
1% of these rates would have the following impacts:

Increase of
1%

Decrease of
1%

$ $
Impact on net periodic cost 44 (34)
Impact on accrued benefit liability 405 (316)

The Company expects to contribute $2.5 million to its defined benefit pension plans and $0.1 million to its health and
welfare plans in 2009.

18  �  

SEGMENT DISCLOSURES

The Company�s organizational and related internal reporting structures, subsequent to the 2007 realignment, consist of
three reportable segments including two operating segments and a corporate segment. The comparative financial
information, for 2006, on segments has been restated to reflect the change in the composition of the Company�s
reportable segments. The two operating segments are the Tapes and Films Division (�T&F�) and the Engineered Coated
Products Division (�ECP�), each with a President that is responsible for the performance of the respective division.
Management has chosen to operate and evaluate the two divisions independently in order to provide increased focus
on the business challenges and opportunities unique to each division.

T&F manufactures a variety of specialized polyolefin plastic and paper based products as well as complementary
packaging systems for use in industrial and retail applications. Products include carton sealing tapes, industrial and
performance speciality tapes, stretch film and shrink wrap. The products are manufactured and sold to industrial
distributors and retailers, primarily under the Company�s brand names. T&F operates nine manufacturing facilities in
North America and one in Portugal.

ECP is a leader in the development and manufacturing of innovative industrial, consumer packaging and productive
covering products utilizing engineered coated polyolefin, paper and laminate materials. Products include lumber wrap,
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metal wrap, polyethylene membrane fabrics, cotton bags and roof underlayment. Products are manufactured in four
manufacturing facilities and sold to both end-users and distributors in a wide variety of industries including
construction and agriculture.

The Company evaluates the performance of these segments and makes decisions regarding the allocation of resources
to the segments based on earnings before financial expenses, income taxes, depreciation and amortization (�EBITDA�).
Allocations of general and administrative expenses to the reportable segments are based on an analysis of services
provided to each segment. Certain corporate expenses, stock-based compensation expense, financial expenses and
manufacturing facility closures, restructuring, strategic alternatives and other charges, are not allocated to a reportable
segment and accordingly, are included under the caption corporate. The accounting policies of the reportable segments
are the same as those applied to the consolidated financial statements described in Note 2.
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18 - SEGMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued)

All inter-segment transactions are recorded at the exchange amount and are eliminated upon consolidation.

Segment Information

The following tables set forth information by segment as at and for the years ended December 31:

2008
T&F ECP Total

$ $ $
Sales from external customers 592,210 144,945 737,155
Costs of sales 524,820 134,080 658,900
Gross profit 67,390 10,865 78,255

EBITDA before unallocated expenses 38,085 3,607 41,692

Depreciation and amortization 29,485 5,978 35,463

Impairment of goodwill 56,559 10,167 66,726

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 424 424

Unallocated corporate expenses 1,349
Stock-based compensation expense 1,268
Financial expenses (1) 25,821
Loss before income taxes (89,359)

Total assets 461,123 114,043 575,166

Additions to property, plant and equipment 18,961 2,087 21,048
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(1)

Financial expenses for the year ended December 31, 2008, include a refinancing expense amounting to approximately
$6.0 million, primarily consisting of the write-off of debt issue expenses and the settlement of the interest rate swap
agreements as described under the caption refinancing in Note 13.
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18 - SEGMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued)

2007
T&F ECP Total

$ $ $
Sales from external customers 605,729 161,543 767,272
Costs of sales 506,635 144,296 650,931
Gross profit 99,094 17,247 116,341

EBITDA before unallocated expenses 69,294 9,672 78,966

Depreciation and amortization 30,079 5,479 35,558

Unallocated corporate expenses 2,372
Stock-based compensation expense 1,780
Financial expenses 27,218
Manufacturing facility closures, restructuring, strategic
alternatives and other charges 8,114
Earnings before income taxes 3,924

Total assets 590,618 112,181 702,799

Additions to property, plant and equipment 14,621 3,849 18,470

2006
T&F ECP Total

$ $ $
Sales from external customers 626,448 185,837 812,285
Costs of sales 534,280 159,543 693,823
Gross profit 92,168 26,294 118,462
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EBITDA before unallocated expenses 50,511 17,127 67,638

Depreciation and amortization 30,438 4,824 35,262

Unallocated corporate expenses 5,089
Stock-based compensation expense 2,022
Financial expenses 26,615
Manufacturing facility closures, restructuring, strategic
alternatives and other charges 76,057
Impairment of goodwill 120,000
Loss before income taxes (197,407)

Total assets 598,456 93,930 692,386

Additions to property, plant and equipment 24,674 2,416 27,090

Edgar Filing: INTERTAPE POLYMER GROUP INC - Form 6-K

174



100

Intertape Polymer Group Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
(in US dollars, tabular amounts in thousands, except as otherwise noted)

18 - SEGMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Geographic Information

The following tables present geographic information about sales attributed to countries based on the location of
external customers and about property, plant and equipment and goodwill by country based on the location of the
assets:

2008 2007 2006
$ $ $

Sales
Canada 98,447 104,417 114,715
United States 581,277 612,080 651,289
Other 57,431 50,775 46,281
Total sales 737,155 767,272 812,285

Property, plant and equipment, net
Canada 48,600 63,955 56,308
United States 224,406 234,883 248,280
Other 16,757 19,028 18,279
Total property, plant and equipment, net 289,763 317,866 322,867

Goodwill, net
Canada 33,391 27,187
United States 33,492 33,192
Other 3,367 3,367
Total goodwill 70,250 63,746

19  �  

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
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During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company entered into three advisory services agreements, two with
companies controlled by two current members of the Board of Directors and one with a company controlled by a
former senior officer of the Company. The advisory services include business planning and corporate finance
activities, and qualify as related party transactions in the normal course of operations, which are measured at the
exchange amount.

The agreements are effective through December 31, 2009, but each can be unilaterally terminated by the companies
controlled by the Board members and the former senior officer, respectively, with a 30-day written notice. The
agreements provided for monthly compensation beginning January 2008 in the amounts of $75,000 and
CAD$100,000 per month for a minimum of at least three months. Beginning April 1, 2008, the Company�s financial
commitment relating to the services of two of the three companies is $50,000 and CAD$100,000 per month and will
remain in effect through December 31, 2009. Effective November 2008, the two companies controlled by the two
current members of the Board of Directors each agreed to a 10% reduction in their monthly compensation.

In connection with these agreements, the Company recorded a charge amounting to approximately $2.1 million (nil in
2007) in its consolidated earnings for the year ended December 31, 2008 included under the caption selling, general
and administrative expenses.
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19 � RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

In addition to the monthly advisory services described above, the agreements provided for a fee to be paid to each of
the companies in connection with the Company�s concluded 2007 shareholder rights offering, as described in Note 15.
The aggregate fee paid to the companies in connection with the rights offering was $1,050,000 during the year ended
December 31, 2007.

Finally, the advisory services agreements provide for an aggregate performance fee payable on July 1, 2010 based on
the difference between the average price of the Company�s common shares for the ten trading days prior to July 1,
2010 on the TSX (the �Average Price�) and the Canadian offering price included in the Company�s 2007 rights offering
of CAD$3.61, as described in Note 15, multiplied by an aggregate of 2.2 million, provided that the Average Price
exceeds CAD$4.76. The advisory services agreements provide for a reduction in the performance fees in the event of
an early termination of the agreements. As at December 31, 2008, the Company�s common share price on the TSX was
CAD$1.09.

Effective December 31, 2008, the Company terminated the advisory service agreement with the company controlled
by its former senior officer.

20  �  

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments and Purchase Commitments

As at December 31, 2008, the Company had commitments aggregating to approximately $9.2 million through the year
2015 for the rental of offices, warehouse space, manufacturing equipment, automobiles, computer hardware and other
assets.

Minimum lease payments for the next five years are $2.3 million in 2009, $1.8 million in 2010, $1.4 million in 2011,
$1.4 million in 2012, $ 1.3 million in 2013 and $1.0 million thereafter.

Furthermore, in the course of the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company entered into several firm purchase
commitments (the �Commitments�) for the purchase of raw material to be used and consumed in its various production
processes. As at December 31, 2008, payments required with respect to these Commitments amounted to
approximately $13.0 million, which are payable in 2009.

In accordance with GAAP, and since the Company did not enter into these Commitments for speculative purposes,
these Commitments do not qualify as derivative financial instruments. As at December 31, 2008, the Company�s
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management examined the raw materials to be purchased under these Commitments and the related finished goods for
a possible write-down to their net realizable value. Consequently, the Company recorded a non-cash charge,
representing the write-down to net realizable value of these raw materials, in the amount of $2.3 million as described
in Note 3.

Contingencies

The Company is party to claims and lawsuits which are being contested. In the opinion of management, the outcome
of such claims and lawsuits will not have a material effect on the Company�s financial results and position.
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21  �  

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Company is exposed to various financial risks including: foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk,
liquidity risk and price risk resulting from its operations and business activities. The Company�s management is
responsible for setting acceptable levels of risks and reviewing management activities as necessary.

The Company does not enter into financial instrument agreements, including derivative financial instruments, for
speculative purposes.

Fair Value and Classification of Financial Instruments

As at December 31, 2008 and 2007, the classification of financial instruments, excluding derivative financial
instruments designated as part of an effective hedging relationship, as well as their carrying amounts and respective
fair values are as follows:

2008
Carrying amount Fair value

Held for
trading

Loans and
receivables

Other
liabilities

 $  $  $  $
Financial assets
Cash 15,390 15,390
Trade receivables 75,467 75,467
Other receivables (1) 2,876 2,876
Loans to officers and directors 108 108

Total 15,390 78,451 93,841

Financial liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities

78,249 78,249
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Senior subordinated notes 121,184 79,376
Other long-term debt 130,241 128,657

Total 329,674 286,282
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21 � FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

2007
Carrying amount Fair value

Held for
trading

Loans and
receivables

Other
liabilities

 $  $  $  $
Financial assets
Cash 15,529 15,529
Trade receivables 91,427 91,427
Other receivables (1) 943 943
Loans to officers and directors 108 108

Total 15,529 92,478 108,007

Financial liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities

88,866 88,866

Senior subordinated notes 120,697 113,750
Other long-term debt 122,662 122,662

Total 332,225 325,278

(1)

Consists primarily of supplier rebates receivable.

The Company�s interest rate swap agreements and forward foreign exchange rate contracts carrying amounts and fair
values were liabilities amounting to $2.6 million and $0.4 million as at December 31, 2008, respectively (a liability of
$0.8 million as at December 31, 2007 representing the fair value of the interest rate swap agreements).

The following methods and assumptions were used to determine the estimated fair value of each class of financial
instruments:

�
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The fair value of trade receivables, other receivables, excluding income, sales and other taxes, and accounts payable
and accrued liabilities is comparable to their carrying amount, given their short maturity periods;

�

The fair value of the loans to officers and directors could not be determined since the Company could not locate a
financial instrument on the market having substantially the same economic characteristics;

�

The fair value of the senior subordinated notes has been determined based on available quoted market prices;
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21 � FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

�

Generally, in prior years there was no significant difference between the fair value and the carrying amount of other
long-term debt given that the related loans bear interest at variable rates. However, in connection with the financial
crisis, tightened liquidity and economic downturn, which unfolded in the latter part of 2008, similar debt instruments
were issued to active market participants bearing significantly higher debt premiums. The Company was not able to
identify similar debt instruments on the open market, including recently concluded transactions, having substantially
the same terms and conditions, in order to adequately approximate the fair value of other long-term debt bearing
interest at  variable rates. Accordingly, and in light of recent market conditions, the determination of the fair value of
other long-term debt bearing interest at variable rates, namely the Company�s ABL, would have been a costly process,
and thus, would likely exceed its related benefit. The terms and conditions of other long-term debt, including the
Company�s ABL, are described in Note 14.

�

The fair values of the interest rate swap agreements and the forward foreign exchange rate contracts are estimated by
obtaining quotes (marked to market) from the Company�s primary lender. The quoted prices generally reflect the
estimated amount that the Company would receive (favourable) or pay (unfavourable) to settle these agreements and
contracts at the balance sheet date.

The Company ensures, to the extent possible, that its valuation techniques and assumptions incorporate all factors that
market participants would consider in setting a price and that it is consistent with accepted economic method for
pricing financial instruments.

Income and expenses relating to financial assets and liabilities are as follows:

Interest income
2008 2007 2006

 $  $  $
Cash 209 604 276

Bad debt expense (recovery)
2008 2007 2006
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 $  $  $
Trade receivables (118) (6) 384

Interest expense calculated using the effective interest
rate method

2008 2007 2006
 $  $  $

Long-term debt 19,013 27,502 26,465
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21 � FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Other interest expense
2008 2007 2006

 $  $  $
Long-term debt 385 935 1,284

Exchange Risk

The Company is exposed to exchange risk due to cash, trade receivables, other receivables, accounts payable and
accrued liabilities, and long-term debt dominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the operating unit
incurring the cost or earning the revenues, primarily the Canadian dollar and the Euro. As at December 31, 2008,
financial assets and liabilities in foreign currency represent cash and trade receivables totalling CAD $22.3 million
and Euro 7.0  million (CAD$22.7 million and Euro 4.2 million as at December 31, 2007); accounts payable and
accrued liabilities totalling CAD$17.4 million and Euro 0.7 million (CAD$20.1 million and Euro 1.0 million as at
December 31, 2007) and long-term debt totalling CAD$0.8 million and Euro 5.4 million (CAD$0.6 million and nil
Euro as at December 31, 2007).

The following table details the Company�s sensitivity to a 10% strengthening of the Canadian dollar and the Euro,
against the US dollar, and the related impact on other comprehensive income (loss). For a 10% weakening of the
Canadian dollar and the Euro against the US dollar, there would be an equal and opposite impact on other
comprehensive income (loss). As at December 31, 2008, everything else being equal, a 10% strengthening of the
Canadian dollar and Euro, against the US dollar, would result as follows:

December 31, 2008
Canadian

dollar Euro
USD$ USD$

Increase (decrease) in other comprehensive income (loss) 13,107 1,862

Similar fluctuations in the Canadian dollar and the Euro would not materially impact the Company�s net loss for the
year. Accordingly, a sensitivity analysis has not been provided.
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In November 2008, and in accordance with the Company�s foreign exchange rate risk policy, the Company executed a
series of 36 monthly forward foreign exchange rate contracts to purchase an aggregate CAD$40.0 million beginning
in February 2009, at fixed exchange rates ranging from CAD$1.1826 to CAD$1.2808 to the US dollar. The forward
foreign exchange rate contracts will mitigate foreign exchange rate risk associated with a portion of anticipated
monthly inventory purchases of the Company�s US self-sustaining foreign operations that are to be settled in Canadian
dollars. The Company designated these forward foreign exchange rate contracts as cash flow hedges, effectively
mitigating the cash flow risk associated with the settlement of the inventory purchases.
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21 � FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The details and conditions of these contracts and related anticipated purchases are as follows as at December 31, 2008:

Contract Series
 Notional
amount

 Purchases�
amount  Settlement

 Purchases�
period
(month,
2009)

 Foreign
exchange

rate (CAD$
to USD$)

CAD$ CAD$ USD$ $
1 1,000,000

500,000
500,000

999,900
499,950
499,950

843,157
390,342
403,772  January

1.1859
1.2808
1.2382

2 1,444,500
722,250
722,250

1,444,300
722,150
722,150

1,218,305
563,915
583,650  February

1.1855
1.2806
1.2373

3 2,555,500
1,277,750
1,277,750

2,555,300
1,277,650
1,277,650

2,156,371
997,930
1,033,446  March

1.1850
1.2803
1.2363

4 1,000,000
500,000
500,000

999,900
499,950
499,950

844,154
390,586
404,818  April

1.1845
1.2800
1.2350

5 1,444,500
722,250
722,250

1,444,300
722,150
722,150

1,219,642
564,356
585,306  May

1.1842
1.2796
1.2338

6 2,555,500
1,277,750
1,277,750

2,555,300
1,277,650
1,277,650

2,158,193
998,710
1,036,633  June

1.1840
1.2793
1.2325

7 1,000,000
500,000
500,000

999,900
499,950
499,950

844,724
390,922
406,067  July

1.1837
1.2789
1.2312

8 1,444,500
722,250
722,250

1,444,300
722,150
722,150

1,220,363
564,797
587,066  August

1.1835
1.2786
1.2301

9 2,555,500
1,277,750

2,555,300
1,277,650

2,159,469
999,492

 September 1.1833
1.2783
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1,277,750 1,277,650 1,039,416 1.2292
10 1,000,000

500,000
500,000

999,900
499,950
499,950

845,153
391,197
406,993  October

1.1831
1.2780
1.2284

11 1,444,500
722,250
722,250

1,444,300
722,150
722,150

1,220,982
565,151
588,262  November

1.1829
1.2778
1.2276

12 2,555,500
1,277,750
1,277,750

2,555,300
1,277,650
1,277,650

2,160,748
1,000,039
1,041,280  December

1.1826
1.2776
1.2270
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21 � FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Interest Rate Risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk through its long-term debt. The Company�s policy, to the extent possible,
is to maintain most of its borrowings at fixed interest rates using interest rate swap agreements, when necessary.

The Company�s fixed rate senior subordinated notes are exposed to a risk of change in fair value due to changes in the
underlying interest rates. The Company does not currently hold any derivative financial instruments to mitigate this
risk.

The Company is exposed to a risk of change in cash flows due to the fluctuations in interest rates applicable on its
variable rate ABL, described in Note 14. To mitigate this risk, during the year ended December 31, 2008, the
Company entered into two interest rate swap agreements (the �Agreements�), designated as cash flow hedges. As at
December 31, 2008, the terms of these Agreements are as follows:

2008

Notional
amount Settlement

Fixed
interest rate

paid (1)

 $  %
Agreement maturing in September 2011 40,000,000 Monthly 3.35
Agreement maturing in October 2009 30,000,000 Monthly 2.89

In 2007, and in connection with the Company term loan, described in Note 14, the Company entered into two interest
rate swap agreements (the �Agreements�), designated as cash flow hedges. As at December 31, 2007, the terms of these
Agreements were as follows:

2007

Notional
amount Settlement

Fixed
interest rate

paid (1)

 $  %
Agreement maturing in July 2010 (2) 50,000,000 Quarterly 4.27
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Agreement maturing in July 2010 (2) 25,000,000 Quarterly 4.29

(1)

As at December 31, 2008, the effective interest rate on the $70.0 million ($75.0 million in 2007) hedged portion was
5.15% (8.28% in 2007) and the effective interest rate on the excess was 5.5% (9.16% in 2007)

(2)

In connection with the Company�s refinancing, described in Note 14, the Company settled its outstanding interest swap
agreements. Accordingly, the Company recorded a charge of approximately $2.9 million in its consolidated earnings
for the year ended December 31, 2008, included under the caption refinancing. This charge represents the cumulative
change in fair value of these Agreements, previously recorded in the consolidated other comprehensive income (loss)
for the year.
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21 � FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Company analyzes its interest rate exposure on an on-going basis. Various scenarios are simulated taking into
consideration refinancing, renewal of existing positions, alternative financing and hedging. Based on these scenarios,
the Company calculates the impact on net loss of a defined interest rate shift.

As at December 31, 2008, the impact on the Company�s net loss of a 1.0% shift in interest rates, assuming all other
variables remained the same, would be in an increase amounting to approximately $0.2 million. The Company�s
interest rate swap agreements related to the ABL have been included in this calculation. Other comprehensive income
(loss) would not materially change as a result of a similar shift in interest rates and consequently, no sensitivity
analysis is provided.

Credit Risk

Credit risk results from the possibility that a loss may occur from the failure of another party to perform according to
the terms of the contract. Generally, the carrying amount reported on the Company�s consolidated balance sheet for its
financial assets exposed to credit risk, net of any applicable provisions for losses, represents the maximum amount
exposed to credit risk.

Financial assets that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist primarily of the following: cash, trade
receivables, other receivables, principally supplier rebates receivable, and derivative financial instruments.

Cash

Credit risk associated with cash is substantiality mitigated by ensuring that these financial assets are placed with major
financial institutions that have been accorded investment grade ratings by a primary rating agency and qualify as
credit worthy counterparties. Furthermore, for cash account balances in excess of $250,000, the Company only
deposits such funds with American financial institutions that participate in the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(�FDIC�) under the program entitled the �Transaction Account Guarantee Program�. This program is scheduled to end on
December 31, 2009. The Company performs an ongoing review and evaluation of the possible changes in the status
and credit worthiness of its counterparties.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Credit risk related to derivative financial instruments is adequately controlled, as the Company enters into such
agreements solely with large American financial institutions having suitable credit ratings and who have demonstrated
sufficient liquidity at the peak of the credit crisis, which occurred in late 2008. The risk which the Company is
exposed to in respect of derivative financial instruments is limited to the replacement costs of contracts at market
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prices and when these agreements result in a receivable from the financial institution in the event of a counterparty
default.
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21 � FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Trade Receivables

Credit risk with respect to trade receivables is limited due to the Company�s credit evaluation process, reasonably short
collection terms and the credit worthiness of its customers. The Company regularly monitors the credit risk exposures
and takes steps to mitigate the likelihood of these exposures from resulting in actual losses. Allowance for doubtful
accounts is maintained, consistent with the credit risk, historical trends, general economic conditions and other
information and is taken into account in the consolidated financial statements.

The following table presents an analysis of the age of trade receivables and related balance as at December 31:

2008 2007
 $  $

Current 74,749 90,130
30 � 60 days past due 683 770
61 � 90 days past due 306 843
Over 91 days past due 164 833

75,902 92,576
Allowance for doubtful accounts (435) (1,149)
Balance 75,467 91,427

The Company makes estimates and assumptions in the process of determining the adequate allowance for doubtful
accounts. Trade receivables outstanding longer than the agreed upon payment terms are considered past due. The
Company determines its allowance by considering a number of factors, including the length of time trade receivables
are past due, the customer�s current ability to pay its obligation to the Company, historical results and the condition of
the general economy and the industry as a whole. The Company writes-off trade receivables when they are determined
to be uncollectible and any payments subsequently received on such trade receivables are credited to the allowance for
doubtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts is primarily calculated on a specific-identification of trade
receivable accounts.

The following table presents a continuity summary of the Company�s allowance for doubtful accounts as at and for the
year ended December 31:
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2008 2007
 $  $

Balance, beginning of year 1,149 6,457
Additions (reversals) (131) 329
Write-offs (583) (5,637)
Balance, end of year 435 1,149
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21 � FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Other Receivables

Credit risk associated with other receivables primarily relates to supplier rebates receivable. This risk is limited
considering the Company�s diversified counterparties and geography. As at December 31, 2008, no single vendor
accounted for over 5% of the total current assets.

The Company does not believe it is subject to any significant concentration of credit risk.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial liabilities and obligations as they
become due. The Company is exposed to this risk mainly through its long-term debt, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities and contractual commitments. The Company finances its operations through a combination of cash flows
from operations and borrowings under its ABL.

Liquidity risk management serves to maintain a sufficient amount of cash and to ensure that the Company has
financing sources for a sufficient authorized amount. The Company establishes budgets, cash estimates and cash
management policies to ensure it has the necessary funds to fulfil its obligations for the foreseeable future.

The following table sets out the Company�s financial liabilities and capital lease obligations for the next five years and
thereafter:

Other
long-term

loans

Obligations
under

capital leases

Accounts
payable and

accrued
liabilities Total

 $  $  $  $
Current maturity 41 955 78,249 79,245
2010 1,201 721 1,922
2011 2,012 637 2,649
2012 2,016 574 2,590
2013 116,020 574 116,594
Thereafter 127,162 6,121 133,283
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248,452 9,582 78,249 336,283

Note 20 provides for additional information on the Company�s contractual commitments.

As at December 31, 2008, the Company�s unused availability under the ABL and available cash on hand amounted to
$50.7 million.
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21 � FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Price Risk

The Company�s price risk arises from changes in its oil-derived raw material prices, which are significantly influenced
by the fluctuating underlying crude oil markets. The Company�s objectives in managing its price risk are threefold: i)
to protect its financial result for the period from significant fluctuations in raw material costs, ii) to anticipate, to the
extent possible, and plan for significant changes in the raw material markets and iii) to ensure sufficient availability of
raw material required to meet the Company�s manufacturing requirements. To manage its exposure to price risks, the
Company closely monitors current and anticipated changes in market prices and develops pre-buying strategies and
patterns, and seeks to adjust its selling prices when market conditions permit. Historical results indicate management�s
ability to rapidly identify fluctuations in raw material prices and, to the extent possible, incorporate such fluctuations
in the Company�s selling prices.

As at December 31, 2008, all other parameters being equal, a hypothetical increase of 10% in the cost of raw
materials, with no corresponding sales price adjustments, would result in an increase of $26.0 million in the
Company�s net loss for the year. A similar decrease of 10% will have the opposite impact. No material impact is
expected on other comprehensive income.

Capital Management

The Company�s primary objectives when managing capital are i) to provide adequate return to its shareholders, ii)
minimize, to the extent possible, the risks associated with its shareholders� investment in the Company, iii) safeguard
the Company�s ability to continue as a going concern and iv) provide financial capacity and flexibility to meet strategic
objectives and growth.

The capital structure of the Company consists of cash, debt and shareholders� equity. A summary of the Company�s
capital structure is as follows as at December 31:

2008 2007
 $ $

Cash 15,390 15,529
Debt 251,425 243,359
Shareholders� equity 248,341 360,010
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The Company manages its capital structure in accordance with its expected business growth, operational objectives
and underlying industry, market and economic conditions. Consequently, the Company will determine, from time to
time, its capital requirements and will develop accordingly a plan to be presented and approved by its Board of
Directors. The plan may include the repurchase of shares, the issuance of shares, the payment of dividends and the
issuance of new debt or the refinancing of existing debt agreements.

In meeting its principal objective to provide adequate return to its shareholders, the Company undertakes measures to
maintain and grow its adjusted EBITDA over the years. Such measures include the introduction of new products and
penetration to new markets and market niches.
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21 � FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Company monitors its capital by reviewing its credit ratings as determined by independent agencies and
evaluating various financial metrics. These metrics, which are provided to and used by the Company�s key
management personnel in their decision making process, consisting of the following for the trailing twelve months
ended December 31:

2008 2007
 $  $

Adjusted EBITDA 39,081 74,815
Interest expense 18,114 24,489
Debt 251,425 243,359
Internal financial ratios
Debt to adjusted EBITDA 6.43 3.25
Adjusted EBITDA to interest expense 2.16 3.06

Debt represents the Company�s long-term and related current portion borrowings. The Company defines adjusted
EBITDA as net loss before: i) income taxes (recovery); ii) financial expenses, net of amortization; iii) refinancing
expense, net of amortization; iv) amortization of other intangibles and capitalized software costs; v) depreciation; vi)
manufacturing facility closures, restructuring, strategic alternatives and other charges; and vii) impairment of
goodwill. Interest expense is defined as the total interest expenses incurred net of any interest income earned during
the year.

During 2008, the Company's strategy, which was unchanged from 2007, primarily consisted of maintaining a debt to
adjusted EBITDA ratio not exceeding 4.0 to 1.0. The Company was in compliance with this internal target and metric
prior to the financial crisis and economic downturn which occurred in the latter part of 2008. The Company believes
that the monitoring and evaluation of these internal metrics and ratios are consistent with its capital management
objectives.

The Company is subject to an external covenant in connection with its ABL. Subject to the unused availability under
the ABL declining below $25.0 million, the Company must remain in compliance with a fixed charge coverage ratio
of at least 1.0 to 1.0 (the �Ratio�). The Ratio is computed as a function of Adjusted EBITDA to Fixed charges as defined
in the Company�s credit agreement as follows:

�
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Adjusted EBITDA is defined as EBITDA adjusted for cash and non-cash payments and expenses, regardless to their
inclusion or omission from the determination of net earnings for the year in connection with pension and
post-retirement benefits, environmental matters, capital expenditures, distributions, advisory services, taxes and
intercompany investments and loans;

�

Fixed charges are defined as the aggregate of interest expense, principal repayments and amortization of the value
assigned to machinery and equipment in the borrowing base of the ABL.

As at December 31, 2008, the Company was not required to comply with this Ratio given that the remaining
availability on its ABL exceeded $25.0 million, as described in Note 14.
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21 � FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Company monitors its compliance with external covenants on an ongoing basis, which are reviewed quarterly
with its Board of Directors.

The Company is not subject to any other externally imposed capital requirements.

22  �  

DIFFERENCES IN ACCOUNTING BETWEEN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA AND CANADA

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles (�Canadian GAAP�), which differ in certain material respects from those principles that
the Company would have followed had its consolidated financial statements been prepared in accordance with US
GAAP. The differences relating to measurement and recognition are explained below, along with their effect on the
Company�s consolidated statements of earnings and consolidated balance sheets. Certain additional disclosures
required under US GAAP have not been provided, as permitted by the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission.

(a)

Net loss and loss per share

The adjustments necessary to comply with US GAAP would be as follows:

2008 2007 2006
$ $ $

Net loss in accordance with Canadian GAAP (92,799) (8,393) (166,693)
Foreign exchange gain resulting from the reduction in net
investment in a foreign subsidiary (Note 22(k)) (899)
Net loss in accordance with US GAAP (93,698) (8,393) (166,693)

Loss per share in accordance with US GAAP
Basic (1.59) (0.19) (4.07)
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Diluted (1.59) (0.19) (4.07)
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22 - DIFFERENCES IN ACCOUNTING BETWEEN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA AND CANADA
(Continued)

(b)

Consolidated balance sheets

The adjustments to comply with US GAAP would be as follows:

2008 2007
As per

Canadian
GAAP Adjustments

As per
US GAAP

As per
Canadian
GAAP Adjustments

As per
US

GAAP
$ $ $ $ $ $

Assets
Other assets 22,364 (8,737) (d) 17,443 23,176 (8,274) (d) 21,020

3,816 (f) 6,118 (f)
Future income tax assets 47,067 8,353 (d) 55,420 53,990 3,861 (d) 58,111

260 (f)

Liabilities
Pension and
post-retirement benefits 9,206 13,839 (d) 23,045

9,765 2,162 (d) 11,927

Long-term debt1 251,425 3,816 (f) 255,241 243,359 6,821 (f) 250,180
Shareholders� equity
Deficit (160,533) (899) (k) (161,432) (67,482) (443) (f) (67,925)
Accumulated other
comprehensive income 32,552 (14,223) (d) 18,329

67,462 (6,575) (d) 60,887

The other differences in presentation that would be required under US GAAP to the consolidated balance sheets, other
than as disclosed below, are not viewed as significant enough to require further disclosure.
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22 - DIFFERENCES IN ACCOUNTING BETWEEN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA AND CANADA
(Continued)

(c)

Consolidated cash flows

Canadian GAAP permits the disclosure of a subtotal of the amount of funds provided by operations before changes in
non-cash working capital items to be included in the consolidated statements of cash flows. US GAAP does not permit
this subtotal to be presented.

(d)

Employee future benefits

Effective December 31, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS 158, �Accounting for defined benefit plans and other
post-retirement benefits � an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132 (R)�. This standard requires an
employer to recognize the over-funded or under-funded status of defined benefit post-retirement plans as an asset or
liability in its balance sheet and to recognize changes in that status in the year in which the change occurs through
other comprehensive income (loss). The standard does not change the accounting for the Company�s defined
contribution plans.

The following table presents the effect of applying this statement on individual line items in the consolidated balance
sheet as at December 31:

2008 2007
 $  $

Other assets (8,737) (8,274)
Future income tax assets 8,353 3,861
Total assets (384) (4,413)

Pension and post-retirement benefits 13,839 2,162
Accumulated other comprehensive income (14,223) (6,575)
Total liabilities and shareholders� equity (384) (4,413)

(e)

Employee future benefits � minimum liability

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 158 at December 31, 2007, the provisions of SFAS 87, �Employers� Accounting for
Pensions�, required the Company to record an additional minimum pension liability for plans where the accumulated
benefit obligation exceeded plan assets� fair value. With regards to these plans, an intangible asset was recorded up to
the extent of unrecognized past service costs. The balance was recorded net of income tax in consolidated other
comprehensive income (loss). There were no such requirements under Canadian GAAP.
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22 - DIFFERENCES IN ACCOUNTING BETWEEN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA AND CANADA
(Continued)

(f)

Deferred debt issue expenses

In accordance with Canadian GAAP, described in Note 2, the debt issue expenses are classified against the related
long-term debt, with the exception of debt issue expenses incurred in connection with a line of credit or a revolving
debt, such as the Company�s ABL, and are subsequently amortized using the effective interest method. Prior to January
1, 2007, the long-term debt was measured at cost and the related debt issue expenses were included in the Company�s
consolidated balance sheets under the caption other assets and were amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of
the related long-term debt. There was no significant difference in the amortization expense resulting from the
application of the straight-line and effective interest methods prior to the application of the new standards on January
1, 2007 or subsequent thereto. In addition, as a result of the application of the new accounting policies, the Company
recorded a decrease to the opening deficit as at January 1, 2007 in the amount of $0.4 million representing the
cumulative difference between the two amortization methods.

Under U.S. GAAP, such costs are recorded separately within other assets on the Company�s consolidated balance
sheets. Consequently, the debt issue expenses, incurred in connection with the Company�s senior subordinates notes,
have been reclassified to other assets for US GAAP purposes.

(g)

Interest rate swap agreements

Prior to January 1, 2007, under Canadian GAAP, the Company did not record the fair value of the interest rate swap
agreements nor the changes in fair value thereof on the consolidated balance sheet and other comprehensive income
(loss), respectively. However, such adjustments were required under US GAAP.

(h)

Consolidated comprehensive income (loss)

The following table presents consolidated comprehensive income (loss) per US GAAP:

2008 2007 2006
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$ $ $
Net loss in accordance with US GAAP (93,698) (8,393) (166,693)
Accumulated currency translation adjustments (1) (32,644) 31,824 2,311
Reduction in a net investment in a foreign subsidiary (Note 22
(k)) 899
Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of tax (Note 22 (e)) 2,002
Pension and post-retirement benefits (Note 22 (d)) (7,648) 2,723
Adjustments for fair value of interest rate swap agreements,
net of tax (Note 22(g)) (1)

(1,641) 206

Consolidated comprehensive income (loss) (133,091) 24,513 (162,174)

(1)

The accounting for accumulated currency translation adjustments and the fair value of interest rate swap agreements
are not a difference between Canadian GAAP and US GAAP. In connection with the latter, no difference exists since
January 1, 2007.
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22 - DIFFERENCES IN ACCOUNTING BETWEEN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA AND CANADA
(Continued)

(i)

 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Tax Positions

In July 2006, FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48 �Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Tax Positions� (�FIN 48�)
introducing recognition and measurement criteria for income tax positions. An income tax position is a position taken
in a filed tax return or a position that will be taken in a future tax return which has been reflected in the recognition
and measurement of income or deferred tax assets or liabilities. Under the provisions of FIN 48, a tax position must be
evaluated using a more likely than not recognition threshold based on the technical merits of the position and can only
be recognized if it is more likely than not that this position will be sustainable on an audit by the taxation authorities.
If the position does not meet this threshold, no amount may be accrued. Additionally, the recognized tax position will
be measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50 % likely to be realized on settlement. The adoption of FIN 48
had no impact on the Company�s consolidated financial statements.

(j)

Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Liabilities

During the year ended December 31, 2008, FASB Statement No. 159 �The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Liabilities� (�FAS 159�) became effective for the Company. FAS 159 provides an entity the option to report selected
financial assets and liabilities at fair value and establishes new disclosure requirements for assets and liabilities to
which the fair value option is applied. The Company elected not to adopt FAS 159 and thus, there is no impact on the
Company�s consolidated financial statements.

(k)

Reduction in Net Investment of Foreign Subsidiary

In the course of the year ended December 31, 2008, and in accordance with Canadian GAAP, the Company
reclassified, from consolidated accumulated other comprehensive income to its consolidated earnings, a foreign
exchange gain amounting to $0.9 million as a result of the partial repayment of notes (the �Notes�) previously advanced
to one of the Company�s foreign self-sustaining operations (the �Subsidiary�). This repayment ultimately reduced the
Company�s net investment in this Subsidiary. Initially, these Notes were designated as part of the Company�s net
investment in this Subsidiary. Accordingly, related foreign exchange gains and losses were included as a separate
component of consolidated accumulated other comprehensive income. In accordance with Canadian GAAP, and as a
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result of the partial repayment, a proportionate amount of the foreign exchange gains and losses accumulated in the
separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income were recognized in net loss for the year.

Under U.S. GAAP, similar recognition in consolidated earnings is only permitted upon the sale or complete or
substantial liquidation of a company�s investment in the Subsidiary. Accordingly, under U.S. GAAP the
reclassification from consolidated accumulated other comprehensive income to consolidated earnings is reversed.
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23  �  

SIGNIFICANT NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS UNDER US GAAP

Business Combinations

In December 2007, FASB issued Financial Accounting Standard No. 141(R), "Business Combinations"
("SFAS 141(R)�). The standard establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in
its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree, how goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase option is recognized and measured in a business
combination, and outlines disclosure requirements to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature
and financial effects of a business combination. SFAS 141(R) outlines that the acquisition date fair value is the
measurement objective for all assets acquired and liabilities assumed. SFAS 141(R) requires that all acquisition
related and restructuring costs be charged to earnings and requires contingent consideration to be recognized at its fair
value on the date of acquisition. Certain contingent consideration arrangements will result in fair value changes being
recognized in earnings until settled. This statement eliminates adjustments to goodwill for changes in deferred tax
assets and uncertain tax positions after the acquisition accounting measurement period (limited to one year from the
date of acquisition). Finally, business combinations related costs will be charged to earnings as incurred. SFAS 141(R)
is effective prospectively for acquisitions that occur on or after January 1, 2009. The Company expects the adoption of
SFAS 141(R) to affect its consolidated financial statements and any underlying business combinations subsequent to
January 1, 2009.

Useful Life of Intangible Assets

In April 2008, FASB issued FSP No. 142-3, �Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets�, which amends the
factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of
a recognized intangible asset under FASB Statement No. 142. The purpose of this guidance is to improve the
consistency between the useful life of a recognized intangible asset and the period of expected cash flows used to
measure the fair value of the asset. Accordingly, entities are required to disclose information for a recognized
intangible asset that enables users of the financial statements to assess the extent to which the expected future cash
flows associated with the asset are affected by the entities intent and/or ability to renew or extend the arrangement.
For the Company, FSP No. 142-3 is effective January 1, 2009. The Company does not expect the adoption of FSP No.
142-3 to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

In May 2008, Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 162, "The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles" ("SFAS 162") was issued, which identifies the sources of accounting principles and the
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framework for selecting the principles to be used in the preparation of financial statements of nongovernmental
entities that are presented in conformity with U.S. GAAP. FASB does not expect this standard to change current
practice. SFAS 162 will become effective 60 days following the Security and Exchange Commission�s approval of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board amendments to AU Section 411, "The Meaning of Present Fairly in
Conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles". The Company does not expect the adoption of
SFAS 162 to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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23 � SIGNIFICANT NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS UNDER US GAAP (Continued)

Fair Value Measurement

In September 2006, in an effort to increase consistency and comparability in fair value measurements, the FASB
issued Statement No.157, "Fair Value Measurement", which defines fair value, establishes guidelines for measuring
fair value and expands disclosures regarding fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 does not require any new
instruments to be recognized at fair value. SFAS No. 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years
beginning after November 15, 2007.

In February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position FAS 157-2 �Effective date of FASB statement No. 157�, to
provide a one-year deferral of the effective date of SFAS 157 for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities,
except those that are recognized or disclosed in financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis. For
non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities subject to the deferral, the effective date of SFAS 157 is postponed to
fiscal year beginning after November 15, 2008 and to interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company does not
expect that the adoption of SFAS No. 157 will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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INTERTAPE POLYMER GROUP LOCATIONS

Corporate Offices

Montreal, Quebec, Canada

Sarasota/Bradenton, Florida, USA

Menasha, Wisconsin, USA

3

4

Truro, Nova Scotia, Canada

2

3

4

Carbondale, Illinois, USA

3

4

Marysville, Michigan, USA

2

3

4

Columbia, South Carolina, USA
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3

4

Hawkesbury, Ontario, Canada

2

3

4

Porto, Portugal

3

4

Brantford, Ontario, Canada

2

3

4

Danville, Virginia, USA    1

2

3

4

Brandon, Florida, USA

3

4

Richmond, Kentucky, USA

3

4
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Brighton, Colorado, USA

4

Tremonton, Utah, USA

3

4

Langley, British Columbia, Canada 2

3

4

Los Angeles, California, USA    1

1

=

Regional Distribution Center

2

=

ISO Certified

3

=

Distribution
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4

=

Manufacturing Location
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OTHER INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Eric E. Baker

President of Altacap Investors, Inc.

Melbourne F. Yull

Executive Director

George J. Bunze

Vice-Chairman of Kruger, Inc.

Allan Cohen

Managing Director of First Analysis Corp.

Toresten A. Schemer

President, MESC Corporation

Robert Beil

Retired

AUDITORS

Raymond Chabot Grant Thornton LLP

600 de la Gauchetiere Street West, Suite 2000

Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3B 4L8

USA: Grant Thornton International

130 East Randolph Street

Chicago, Illinois, USA 60601-6203

INVESTOR INFORMATION

Stock and Share Listing

Common shares are listed on the New York Stock
Exchange and the Toronto Stock Exchange, trading under
the symbol ITP.

Shareholder and Investor Relations

Shareholders and investors having inquiries or wishing to
obtain copies of the Company�s Annual Report or other
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Melbourne F. Yull

Executive Director

Victor DiTommaso

Chief Financial Officer

Jim Bob Carpenter

President, ECP Division

Executive Vice President, Global Sourcing

Gregory A. Yull

President, Tapes & Films Division

Burgess H. Hildreth

Vice President, Human Resources

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

Canada: CIBC Mellon Trust Company

2001 University Street, 16th Floor

Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3A 4L8

USA: Mellon Investors Services L.L.C.

US Securities Exchange Commission or Canadian
Securities Commissions filings should contact:

Mr. Victor DiTommaso

Chief Financial Officer

Intertape Polymer Group Inc.

3647 Cortez Road West

Bradenton, Florida 34210

(866) 202-4713

E-mail: itp$info@itape.com

ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held
Monday, June 29, 2009 at 4:00 PM at the Hotel Omni
Mont-Royal in the Automne Room, 1050 Rue
Sherbrooke, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3A 2R6.
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85 Challenger Road, 2nd Floor

Ridgefield Park, New Jersey, USA 07660
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Footnotes
1 Includes amount presented under the caption installments on long-term debt on the Company�s consolidated balance
sheet as at December 31, 2008 and 2007.
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